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B2B Direct sales business with leading hotels in designated territories 
CAPM Capital Asset Pricing Model 
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D&D Brands, Inc Dean & Deluca Brands, Inc. 
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EBIT Earnings before Interest and Tax 
EBITDA Earnings before Interest, Tax, Depreciation and Amortization 
FPH Fourteen Points Holdings 
GP Basis Rental expenses are charged as a certain percentage of sales 
IBC IBC Thailand Ltd. 
IDJ IDJ Holding Co., Ltd. 
MB., m million baht 
MVIC  Market Value of Invested Capital 
N/A Not available or Not applicable 
NCA National Coffee Association 
NTA Net Tangible Assets 
PACE, the Company Pace Development Corporation Public Co., Ltd. 
PACE-1 Pace Project One Co., Ltd. 
PACE-2 Pace Project Two Co., Ltd. 
PACE-3 Pace Project Three Co., Ltd. 
PCC Pace Country Club Co., Ltd. 
PFR Pace Food Retail Co., Ltd. 
PRE Pace Real Estate Co., Ltd. 
SEC The Securities and Exchange Commission 
SET The Stock Exchange of Thailand 
Sq. Square 
Sq.m. Square meters 
SSSG Same-Store Sales Growth 
TBMA Thai Bond Market Association 
THB Thai baht 
USD United states dollar 
USA United states 
WACC Weighted Average Cost of Capital  
YLP YLP Co., Ltd. 
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Ref:  FAS 016/2015 
 
31 March 2015 
 
Subject:  Independent Financial Advisor Opinion on the Connected Transactions of Pace Development 

Corporation Public Company Limited 
 
To:            The Board of Directors and the Shareholders of Pace Development Corporation Public Company 

Limited 
 
On 13 March 2015, the Board of Directors (“BOD”) of Pace Development Corporation Public Company Limited 
(“the Company” or “PACE”) passed a resolution to propose to the shareholders’ the approval of the acquisition of 
ordinary shares and assignment of the rights to receive a repayment of the outstanding shareholder loan of 
Dean and Deluca (Thailand) Company Limited (“D&D Thailand”) from Mr. Sorapoj Techakraisri with total 
consideration of THB 240 million (collectively referred to as the “transaction”).  
 
The transaction is deemed as an acquisition of the entire business of another private company subject to Section 
107(2) of the Public Limited Companies Act B.E. 2535 (1992) (including any amendments thereto) and a 
connected transaction by the definition of the Notification the Capital Market Supervisory Board No. Tor Chor. 
21/2551 Re: Rules on Connected Transactions dated 31 August 2008, and the Notification of the Board of 
Governors of the Stock Exchange of Thailand Re: Disclosure of Information and Other Acts of Listed Companies 
Concerning the Connected Transactions dated 19 November 2003 and amendments (collectively called 
“Notification of the SET Concerning the Connected Transactions”). The transaction is deemed as a connected 
transaction since Mr. Sorapoj Techakraisri is a director and the major shareholder of PACE and is considered a 
connected person of the Company. The total size of the transaction is greater than THB 20 million (With 
reference to PACE’s consolidated financial statements as of 31 December 2014, the Company has negative Net 
Tangible Assets (“NTA”). Therefore, it is unable to calculate the transaction size based on the NTA method). 
Under the Notification of the SET Concerning the Connected Transactions, PACE shall propose to the 
shareholders meeting to consider the approval of the transaction, which requires approval of not less than three-
fourths of the total number of votes of the shareholders who attend the meeting and are eligible to vote, 
excluding the votes of connected shareholders.  In addition, PACE must appoint an independent financial advisor 
to provide an opinion on the reasonableness and the fairness of the transaction price and terms of the 
transaction to the shareholders.  As such, PACE has appointed Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Jaiyos Advisory Co., 
Ltd. to be the independent financial advisor (“Financial Advisor” or “IFA”) to provide an opinion on the transaction 
to the shareholders.  
 
This report is prepared solely for the purpose of providing opinions on the said connected transaction only and is 
based on the assumption that information, assumptions and documents that IFA received from PACE, D&D 
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Thailand and the subsidiaries of PACE (as listed in Appendix 1) as well as information received from their 
Management are reliable, accurate and complete, and has not changed significantly after the IFA received such 
information. Therefore, the IFA cannot warrantee the accuracy or completeness of the information that was 
provided by PACE, D&D Thailand and the subsidiaries of PACE as well as information received from their 
Management and/or other sources.  
 
In preparing this report, the IFA has analyzed the information obtained from PACE, D&D Thailand and the 
subsidiaries of PACE (as listed in Appendix 1) as well as current economic condition and future economic trend 
from the reliable sources during our report preparation period only. Therefore, if such factors and assumptions 
change materially, they may affect the share prices or the assets price calculation and our opinions on the 
transaction in this report.   
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Executive Summary   

Opinion of the Independent Financial Advisor on the Connected Transaction 
 
On 13 March 2015, the Board of Directors of Pace resolved to propose to the shareholders’ the approval of the 
acquisition of ordinary shares and the assignment of the rights to receive a repayment of the outstanding 
shareholder loan of D&D Thailand from Mr. Sorapoj Techakraisri for the total consideration of THB 240 million as 
follows:   
-   Purchase 999,998 ordinary shares of D&D Thailand with the par value of THB 100 per share (or 99.9998% of 

total shares) at THB 79 per share or THB 79 million in total;  
-   Accept the assignment of the right to receive a repayment of the shareholder loan of THB 161 million (refer to 

management's financial statements of D&D Thailand as at 31 December 2014, D&D Thailand had an 
outstanding loan from Mr. Sorapoj Techakraisri totaling of THB 161 million with no interest charged). 

 
With reference to the source of funds for this transaction, PACE will issue 64,690,027 new ordinary shares at an 
offer price of THB 3.71 per share (average closing price of the Company shares during the past 7 consecutive 
business days before the BOD resolved to propose the resolution to the shareholders)     
 
The transaction is deemed as an acquisition of an entire business of another private company subject to Section 
107(2) of the Public Limited Companies Act B.E. 2535 (1992) (including any amendments thereto) and a 
connected transaction by the definition of the Notification of the SET Concerning the Connected Transactions. 
The transaction is deemed as a connected transaction since Mr. Sorapoj Techakraisri is a director and the major 
shareholder of PACE and is considered as connected person of the Company. The total size of the transaction 
is greater than THB 20 million (With reference to PACE’s consolidated financial statements as of 31 December 
2014, the Company has negative Net Tangible Assets (“NTA”). Therefore, it is unable to calculate the transaction 
size based on the NTA method). Under the Notification of the SET Concerning the Connected Transactions, 
PACE shall propose to the shareholders meeting to consider for approval the transaction, which requires an 
approval of not less than three-fourths of the total number of votes of the shareholders who attend the meeting 
and are eligible to vote, excluding the votes of the connected shareholders.   
 
As such, PACE has appointed Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Jaiyos Advisory Co., Ltd. to be the independent 
financial advisor to provide opinions on this transaction to the shareholders.  
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Opinion of the Independent Financial Advisor 
IFA opinions on this connected transaction have been summarized below for the shareholders’ consideration:  
 
1) Rational and reasonableness of the transaction  

 

• As PACE foresees an opportunity in investing in the food and beverages business in Thailand as well as 
having an intention to acquire 99.9998% of total shares in D&D Thailand in order to gain absolute control 
and directly manage the business in Thailand, it is necessary for PACE to enter into a transaction with a 
connected person, Mr. Sorapoj Techakraisri; the major shareholder of D&D Thailand in order to gain the 
control over D&D Thailand. 

• Due to the acquisition of D&D Inc by PACE on 4 December 2014, D&D Inc, D&D Thailand, and the 
Company have become related parties and are subject to the related regulation on connected transactions.  
By entering into this transaction, PACE will have an absolute control in Thailand’s operation which will 
enhance operational flexibility and efficiency. 

• The current shareholding structure is complex; however, after the acquisition, PACE will hold shares in D&D 
Thailand through shareholdings in Pace Food Retail Co., Ltd. (“PFR”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of PACE 
and also the investment vehicle for the food and beverage business. This will benefit the Company by 
having a clear group shareholding structure and mitigate conflict of interest that might incur in the future. 

• Based on the current shareholding structure, both D&D Inc (a subsidiary of PACE) and D&D Thailand have 
common shareholders and directors. By having PACE as a major shareholder of both D&D Inc and D&D 
Thailand the connected business transactions will reduce as well as mitigate potential conflict of interest that 
may arise in the future. In addition, the Company may receive some economies of scale through the 
sourcing of raw material and products in bulk which will lead to a decrease in unit cost of both D&D Inc and 
D&D Thailand.    

• PACE will have an opportunity to capture full revenue growth potential as the operator of Thailand’s Dean &  
Deluca and hospitality sales businesses in Thailand, Australia, China, Malaysia, Vietnam and Macau which 
will provide more benefit to the Company than receiving only royalty fees as franchisor to D&D Thailand. 

• By entering into this transaction, PACE expects to create a value added and a better return to the 
shareholders in the long run due to business synergy, economies of scale, opportunity to expand the 
customer base, and product variety. 

• The issuance of an additional 64,690,027 ordinary shares by PACE as consideration for the transaction will 
increase PACE’s registered and paid-up capital from 2,596,988,170 shares (including 542,722,500 ordinary 
shares issued to IBC and IDJ as consideration for assets acquisition according to the resolutions of the 
shareholders’ meeting dated 8 January 2015) to 2,661,678,197 shares, resulting in the control dilution of 
existing shareholders to 2.43% 

• The share capital increase will initially reduce PACE’s earning per share due to the increase in the number 
of issued and paid-up shares. However, the Company expects that, with future business expansion and 
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direct control in D&D Thailand, PACE will be able to create higher operating revenues and returns to the 
shareholders in the long run.   

• Investment in D&D Thailand is considered as a long-term investment from which PACE may not recognize 
the return immediately. In addition, there is a risk that D&D Thailand’s performance may not meet with 
business plan which could negatively affect PACE’s consolidated financial statements. 

• However, based on the above considerations, the IFA is of an opinion that the transaction is reasonable and 
is expected to provide benefits to the shareholders of PACE which outweigh any disadvantages.   
 

2) Reasonableness of the price and conditions of the transaction  
 
The IFA performed a valuation of D&D Thailand’s shareholder equity by using serval valuation techniques which 
include Book Value Approach, Market Comparable Approach by using Price-to-Book Value Approach (P/BV 
Approach) and Price-to-Earnings Approach (P/E Approach), and Discounted Cash Flow Approach (DCF 
Approach). 
 
As a result of continuous investing in stores expansion and penetrating market in Thailand, D&D has operated at 
a loss and had a negative equity value as of 31 December 2014. Therefore, share price of D&D Thailand cannot 
be calculated using P/BV Approach and P/E Approach. 
 
In valuing D&D Thailand’s shareholder equity, the IFA is of the opinion that the valuation by using the DCF 
Approach is the most appropriate approach. The fair value derived by using the DCF Approach is in range of 
THB 68 – 89 million. Additionally, PACE will be assigned the rights to receive a repayment of outstanding loan of 
THB 161 million from Mr. Sorapoj Techakraisri (refer to management's financial statements of D&D Thailand as 
at 31 December 2014, D&D Thailand had outstanding loan from Mr. Sorapoj Techakraisri totaling of THB 161 
million with no interest charged). In total, the fair value of acquired assets is in range of THB 229 – 250 million.     
 
Therefore, the IFA is of the opinion that the purchase price of THB 240 million, which is in the rage of the fair 
value stated above, is reasonable.  
 
To enter into the transaction, PACE must obtain the shareholder’s approval of not less than three-fourths of the 
total number of votes of the shareholders who attend the meeting and are eligible to vote (excluding the votes of 
the connected shareholders). In addition, PACE must obtain the consent from D&D Inc as a licensor granting the 
rights to D&D Thailand to operate café, beverage, and premium retailer under “Dean & Deluca” brand exclusively 
in Thailand.  
 
3) Reasonableness of the price of shares to be issued as compensation 

The IFA performed a valuation of PACE’s share by using serval valuation techniques which included (1) Book 
Value Approach, (2) Weighted Average Trading Price Approach, (3) Market Comparable Approach by using 
Price-to-Book Value Approach (P/BV Approach) and Price-to-Earnings Approach (P/E Approach), and (4) 



[ Translation ] 

Page 8 
 

Discounted Cash Flow Approach (DCF Approach). The valuation results of PACE’s ordinary share as at 31 
December 2014 derived from different valuation approaches can be summarized in the following table.  

 
 
In valuing PACE’s share which will be the compensation paid in this transaction, the IFA is of an opinion that the 
valuation by using the Sum-of-the-Parts Approach is the most appropriate approach. The fair value derived by 
using the Sum-of-the-Parts Approach is THB 3.42 per share. Therefore, the selling price at THB 3.71 per share 
(average closing price 7 consecutive business days prior to the date that PACE’s BOD resolved to propose the 
resolution to the meeting of shareholders) is appropriate because it is higher than PACE’s fair value. 
 
4) Summary of IFA opinion on the transaction 
 
From the above considerations, the IFA is of an opinion that the connected transaction concerning the 
acquisition of ordinary shares and the assignment of the rights to receive a repayment of the outstanding 
shareholder loan of D&D Thailand from Mr. Sorapoj Techakraisri is reasonable and the offer price is appropriate.  
The transaction is expected to provide benefits to the shareholders of PACE and outweigh any disadvantages.  
Therefore, the shareholders should approve this connected transaction.   
 

However, in considering the approval or disapproval of the transaction, the shareholders should also study the 
information and opinions as provided in this report together with other information and documents attached to the 
invitation letter for the shareholders meeting before making a decision.  The decision to approve or disapprove 
the transactions is at the discretion of the shareholders. 

  

Selling Price(*) Higher/Lower

(THB million) (THB per share) (THB per share) Selling Price

1. Book Value Approach 2,380.91 1.16 3.71 Lower by 69%

2. Weighted Average Trading Price Approach 6,922.88 - 7,847.29 3.37 - 3.82 3.71 In the valuation range

3. Market Comparable Approach

3.1 Price to Book Value Approach (P/BV) 3,894.35 - 3,987.41 1.90 - 1.94 3.71 Lower by 48% - 49%

3.2 Price to Earnings Approach (P/E) n/a n/a 3.71 n/a

4. Sum-of-the-Parts Approach 8,892.80 3.42 3.71 Lower by 8%

No. of shares used in determining price per share
Approach 1 - 3: 2,054.27 million shares (No. of shares as at 31 December 2014)
Approach 4: 2,596.99 million shares (No. of shares after completion of purchase of shares and transfer of loan and accrued interest from IBC and purchase of shares 

from IDJ which was approved by the shareholder meeting at 8 January 2015)

Valuation Approach
PACE's Valuation by IFA

Remark: (*) Average closing price 7 business days prior to 13 March 2015
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Section 1 General Information of Pace Development Corporation Plc. and its subsidiaries 

1.1 Pace Development Corporation Plc. 
1.1.1 Background and Significant Changes and Development 

Pace Development Corporation Public Company Limited (“PACE” or “the Company”) has its main business in 
real estate development for sales, lease, and other real estate services. As of December 31, 2014, the 
Company’s registered share capital was THB 2,054 million which was fully paid up. The Company has its head 
office situated at 87/2 CRC Tower, All Seasons Place, 45th Floor, Wireless Road, Lumpini, Pathumwan, 
Bangkok. 
 
PACE is positioned as a leader in the high-end sector of Thailand’s real estate development business and has 
seen significant changes and development as summarized below. 

Year Significant changes and development 
2003 -  1 September 2003, PACE was founded under the name of “Cinkara Company Limited” with fully paid-up 

registered capital of THB 2 million. 
  -  6 November 2003, Mr. Sorapoj Techakraisri purchased the shares in the Company and increased the 

Company’s fully paid-up registered capital to THB 10 million. 
2004 PACE commenced development of “Ficus Lane” which was the Company’s first project. 
2007 -  YLP Co., Ltd. ("YLP") was founded with fully paid-up registered capital of THB 50 million to develop a 

condominium project under the name “Saladaeng Residences”.  
  -  PACE Project One Co., Ltd. ("PACE-1") was founded with fully paid-up registered capital of THB 10 

million to develop the MahaNakhon Project, which was a mixed-use building.  
2008 IBC Thailand Ltd. (“IBC”) and IDJ Holding Company Limited (“IDJ”) became partners of the MahaNakhon 

Project through acquiring a part of Mr. Sorapoj’s stake in the Project. The Company restructured the 
MahaNakhon Project by establishing the group of companies with a goal to manage the different business 
components of the MahaNakhon Project as follows; 

  •  Increased the registered and fully paid-up capital of PACE-1 to be THB 200 million to operate 
Bangkok Edition Hotel; 

  •  Founded Pace Project Two Company Limited (“PACE-2”) with fully paid-up registered capital of THB 
200 million to develop long-term leased residential real estate under the name The Ritz-Carlton 
Residences, Bangkok; 

  •  Founded Pace Project Three Company Limited (“PACE-3”) with fully paid-up registered capital of THB 
100 million to operate the shopping center with 3 components: Retail Cube, Retail Hill and Sky 
Observation Deck; and 

  •  Founded Pace Real Estate Company Limited (“PRE”) with fully paid-up registered capital of THB 10 
million as a holding company to hold shares in PACE-1, PACE-2 and PACE-3 in the proportion of 
50% each respectively. 

2009 Saladaeng Residences Project was officially launched.  
2010 PACE opened the sales gallery and display units of The Ritz-Carlton Residences, Bangkok at MahaNakhon 

Project. 
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Year Significant changes and development 
2011 -  13 September 2011, PACE restructured ownership portions within the group to prepare for listing in the 

Stock Exchange of Thailand (“SET”). The Company increased fully paid-up registered capital to THB 
1,454.3 million to acquire shares 99.99% in YLP, 25% each in PACE-1, PACE-2 and PACE-3 respectively 
and 50% in PRE. 

  -  20 September 2011, PACE completed the process of converting to a public company by issuing a capital 
increase of THB 600 million for public offering. After the capital increase, the Company’s registered 
capital became THB 2,054.3 million and the Company was renamed from Cinkara Company Limited to 
PACE Development Corporation Public Company Limited (PACE). 

2012 Construction of the MahaNakhon Project progressed significantly following completion of piling and 
commencement of construction of main structure. 

2013 -  PACE launched MahaSamutr, a Luxury Villa and Country Club Project in Hua Hin. 
  -  PACE was listed in SET with a fully paid-up registered capital of THB 2,054.27 million.  PACE bought 

shares and shareholder loans of the jointly controlled entities from IBC and IDJ, resulting in PRE, PACE-
1, PACE-2 and PACE-3 becoming subsidiaries of PACE. 

  -  The Construction of the MahaSamutr Project, Hua Hin was commenced. 
 19 September  PACE (as “the buyer”) entered into an Option Agreement with IBC and IDJ (collectively called “the seller”):  
 2014 -  To purchase shares in PACE-1, PACE-2 and PACE-3 at 1.17% from IBC and PRE at 2.35% from IBC 

and IDJ and transfer of financial obligations (loan and accrued interest) at 7.245% of IBC’s entire loan 
and accrued interest, the total value of which was USD 5 million.  

  -  To restrain the seller from selling shares or transfer of loans and accrued interests to other parties or 
committing any obligations until 31 March 2015 and to remain the purchase price, the buyer agreed to 
pay USD 5 million for the seller’s commitment to sell shares of PACE-1, PACE-2 and PACE-3 for 14.83% 
of total shares from IBC and shares of PRE for 29.9829% of total shares from IBC and IDJ, as well as 
the transfer of loans and accrued interests of 92.755% of total loans and accrued interests from IBC.  

  On 7 October 2014, PACE made payment for the sale and purchase transaction and the exercise price in 
total amount of USD 10 million.  

24 September 
2014 

The Board of Directors approved execution of the agreement to acquire Dean & DeLuca, Inc. ("D&D Inc"), a 
food and beverage business, and approved incorporation of PACE Food Retail Co., Ltd. ("PFR") to operate 
the acquired business. However, due to the condition for approval from the United States government 
authority and the pending preparation of the capital for such acquisition, PACE was still exposed to closing 
risk.  Therefore, PACE did not make a disclosure of such transaction. 

 14 November The Board of Directors’ Meeting No. 8/2014 passed a resolution to approve as follows: 
 2014 -  Disclosure in relation to execution of the acquisition agreement for purchase of D&D Inc and incorporation 

of PFR to enter into such transaction. 
  -  Approval for proposal to the shareholders’ meeting for the Company to enter into a share purchase 

agreement and transfer of financial obligations (loan and accrued interest) in four subsidiaries of the 
Company from IBC and IDJ. 

  -  Approval for proposal to the shareholders’ meeting to consider and approve increase in the registered 
capital of PACE by THB 1,142.72 million from the existing registered capital of THB 2,054.27 million 
which increased the registered capital to THB 3,196.99 million, by issuance of 1,142.72 million ordinary 
shares at the par value of THB 1 per share. 
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Year Significant changes and development 
  -  Approval for proposal to the shareholders’ meeting to consider and approve allocation of additional 

ordinary shares for private placement to IBC and IDJ for the Company’s acquisition of ordinary shares in 
PRE, PACE-1, PACE-2 and PACE-3. 

  -  Approval for proposal to the shareholders’ meeting to consider and approve allocation of ordinary shares 
with general mandate to the existing shareholders (Right Offering) in the amount not exceeding 600 
million shares at the par value of THB 1.  

8 January 
2015 

The Extraordinary General Meeting of Shareholders No. 1/2015 passed a resolution to approve as follows: 
-  Approval for the entry of the share purchase agreement to purchase the shares of PACE-1, PACE-2 and 

PACE-3 for 14.83% of total shares from IBC and shares of PRE for 29.9829% of total shares from IBC 
and IDJ, as well as the transfer of loans and accrued interests of 92.755% of total loans and accrued 
interest from IBC, the total value of which is USD 59 million or THB 1,944.05 million. 

-  Approval for the increase in the registered capital of PACE, the allocation of additional ordinary shares for 
private placement to IBC and IDJ and the allocation of ordinary shares with general mandate to the    
existing shareholders as proposed in the Board of Directors’ Meeting No. 8/2014 dated 14 November 2014. 

Source: PACE company information form 56-1 as of 31 December 2013 and PACE management information  

 
1.1.2 Overview of Business and Subsidiaries 

As of 31 December 31st, 2014, PACE has 8 subsidiaries which are:  

 Pace Food Retail Co., Ltd. ("PFR") 
 Dean & DeLuca, Inc. ("D&D Inc") 
 Pace Country Club Co., Ltd. ("PCC") 
 YLP Co., Ltd. ("YLP") 
 Pace Real Estate Co., Ltd. ("PRE") 
 Pace Project One Co., Ltd. ("PACE-1") 
 Pace Project Two Co., Ltd. ("PACE-2") 
 Pace Project Three Co., Ltd. ("PACE-3") 
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The shareholding structure of PACE and subsidiaries as of 4 December 2014 (the book closing date) is shown 
below: 

 
Source: PACE management information  

 
As of 31 December 2014, PACE and its subsidiaries have a total of 5 projects consisting of 1) Ficus Lane, 2) 
Saladaeng Residences, 3) Nimit Langsuan 4) MahaSamutr Hua Hin and 5) MahaNakhon. Details of the projects 
are described below 

. 

Project 
Owner 

Project Name 
Project 

Characteristic 
Project Location 

Total 
Area 

Construction 
Period 

Project Status 

PACE 1. Ficus Lane Two 7-storey 
residential 
buildings, with 70 
units in total 

Soi Sukhumvit 
44/1, Sukhumvit 
Rd., adjacent to 
Prakanong BTS 
station 

2-3-57 
Rai 
(1,157 
sq.wah) 

2004 – 2006 2 remaining units 
where income was not 
recognized as of 31 
December 2014. 
During the 1st quarter 
of 2015, 1 unit was 
sold and 1 unit 
remains unsold.  

   
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

  

PACE

PFR PCC YLP PRE

D&D Inc PACE-1

PACE-2

PACE-3

100%

100% 99.97% 99.99%

67.68%

50%

50%

50%

34%

34%

34%

D&D Thailand

99.99% 53.81%

Mr. Sorapoj  
Techakraisri

Other shareholders in 
Techakraisri's family

Other shareholders

6.62% 39.57%

IDJ0.90%

IBC

31.42%

16%

16%

16%
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Project 
Owner 

Project Name 
Project 

Characteristic 
Project Location 

Total 
Area 

Construction 
Period 

Project Status 

YLP 2. Saladaeng 
Residences 

132 units, super-
luxury residential 
building with 25 
floors above 
ground and 5 
underground 
floors 

Soi Saladaeng 1, 
Silom Rd. 

548 
sq.wah 

2008 – 2011 Last 5 units were sold, 
with deposits made 
and contracts signed. 
However the income 
was not recognized as 
of 29 December 2014. 
YLP will recognize the 
income of the 2 units 
in the 1st quarter of 
2015 and will transfer 
ownership and 
recognize the income 
of the 3 units in April 
2015. 

PACE  3. Nimit 
Langsuan 

187 units, high 
rise freehold 
condominiums 
with 53 floors  

Soi Langsuan 1,131 
sq.wah 

2015 – 2018 Completed the 
acquisition of land and 
expected to open for 
sale in the 1st quarter 
of 2015  

PACE & 
PCC 

4. Mahasamutr 81 Luxury Villas 
and Country 
Club and 800-
meter long 
Lagoon 

Soi 112, Hua Hin, 
Prachuabkhirikhan 

128 Rai 
2 Ngan 
84.9 
sq.wah 

2013 – 2015 Under construction 
and expected to open 
the Country Club for 
sale by the 2nd quarter 
of 2015 and to open 
Villas in the 3rd quarter 
of 2015  

PRE 5. MahaNakhon Mixed-use 
building 314 
meter tall which 
consist of main 
tower with 77 
floors and cube 
tower with 7 floors 

Narathiwas 
Rajanagarindra 
Road, adjacent to 
Chongnonsri BTS 
station 

9 Rai 1 
Ngan 
51.1 
sq.wah 

2011 – 2015   

PACE-1 5.1 Bangkok 
Edition Hotel 

159 rooms, 5-star 
luxury boutigue 
hotel 

 39,682 
sq.m. 

2011 – 2015 Under construction, 
approximately 28% 
was completed as of 
31 December 2014.  
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Project 
Owner 

Project Name 
Project 

Characteristic 
Project Location 

Total 
Area 

Construction 
Period 

Project Status 

PACE-2 5.2 The Ritz-
Carlton 
Residences, 
Bangkok 

207 units, super-
luxury residences 

 

93,612 
sq.m. 

2011 – 2015 As of 31 December 
2014, the Company 
had sales and 
purchase contracts for 
129 units (62% of 207 
total units) or 
26,187.86 sq.m. (54% 
of 48,225 sq.m. total 
lettable area). The 
construction is 
approximately 41% 
completed. 

PACE-3 5.3 Retail 
Center 

Luxury lifestyle 
retail center with 
famous 
restaurants and 
drinks with total 
leasable area 
approximately  
5,253 sq.m. 
(Retail Cube), 
2,434 sq.m. 
(Retail Hill) and  
2,139 sq.m. (Sky 
Observation 
Deck) 

    

 5.3.1 Cube 
Building (Retail 
Cube) 

9,852 
sq.m.  

2011 – 2014 The construction of 
Cube tower is 
approximately 97% 
completed. The lease 
contracts have been 
made approximately 
65% of the leasable 
area.  

 5.3.2 Main 
Building (Retail 
Hill and Sky 
Observation 
Deck) 

10,624 
sq.m. 

2011 – 2015 The construction of the 
main building is 
approximately 47% 
completed.  

Source: PACE company information form 56-1 as of 31 December 2013 and PACE management information 
 
The main business of PACE and subsidiaries is real estate development for sales, lease and service purposes. 
The Company differentiates its projects from others available in the market using a unique and high-quality 
design to satisfy target customers who have specific needs and life-styles and prefer the premium quality 
products. Details of the Company’s projects are described below: 
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Past projects 

1. Ficus Lane 

Ficus Lane is the Company’s first residential condominium project. Its construction started in 2004 and 
completed in 2006. Sale area is approximately 12,109.8 sq.m. and total project value is THB 910.0 
million. 
 

The project’s features are the prime location in Soi Sukhumvit 44/1, adjacent to Phrakhanong BTS 
station and high level of privacy and security.  
 

As at 31 December 2014, the project had 1 unit with total area of 366.60 sq.m that income has not 
been recognized but a sales and purchase agreement was made.  In addition, the project also had 
another unit with total area of 113.36 sq.m. which remained unsold. 
 

2. Saladaeng Residences 

The construction of Saladaeng Residences started in 2008 and completed in 2011. Sale area is 
approximately 13,087.9 sq.m. and total project value is THB 2,338 million. 
 

The project’s features are prime location in Soi Saladaeng 1 - accessible by 3 main roads and the 
location that is close to Saladaeng BTS station and Lumpini MRT station as well as close to Lumpini 
Park - a sizable public recreational park in Bangkok.  In addition, the project is fully equipped with 
amenities and has high level of privacy and security. 
 

Saladaeng Residences received the deposit for the five residential remaining units of which the 
agreements were signed on 29 December 2014 but the income has not been recognized.  YLP will 
recognize the income of the 2 units in the 1st quarter of 2015 and will transfer ownership and recognize 
the income of the 3 units in April 2015.  

 

On-going projects 

3. Nimit Langsuan 

The construction of Nimit Langsuan is planned to start in the third quarter of 2015 and is expected to be 
completed in the second quarter of 2018. Area for sale is approximately 24,000 sq.m. and total project 
value is approximately THB 7,200 million. 
 

The project’s features are the prime location with 2 roads accessibility and the view of Lumpini Park 
which is a sizable public recreational park in Bangkok.   
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As of 31 December 2014, PACE completed the acquisition of all the land for the project and the sales 
was opened in the first quarter of 2015. 
 

4. Mahasamutr 

MahaSamutr is a cluster of luxury resort-style Villas and a luxurious Country Club in Hua Hin. The 
construction started in the third quarter of 2013 and is expected to be completed in 2015.  Total project 
value is approximately THB 3,820 million. 
 

MahaSamutr features an artificial lagoon and a man-made sand beach. The 800-meter-long lagoon, 
situated on the 72,000-sq.m. lot, is visible and accessible from all villas. 

MahaSamutr is currently under the construction. Country Club is expected to be opened for sale in the 
second quarter of 2015 whilst Villas are expected to be opened for sale in the third quarter of 2015.   
 

5. MahaNakhon 

MahaNakhon is a mixed-use project consisting of 1) a super-luxury residential condominium under the 
name “the Ritz-Carlton”, 2) a 5 star luxury boutique hotel under the name “Bangkok Edition”, managed 
by the Ritz-Carlton Hotel Company, and 3) three lifestyle centers, including Retail Cube, Retail Hill and 
Sky Observation Deck. The construction started in 2011 and is expected to be completed in 2015. 
 

The project’s feature is the building is designed to be a landmark architectural icon and when 
completed, MahaNakhon will be 314 meters in height. 
 

At completion, apart from parking building, the project consists of two buildings as follows: 

Building Height Area Utilization Construction period 

1. Main Tower 77 
floors* 

• Retail Hill(1st – 5th Floor) 
• Hotel (1st – 20th Floor)* 
• Residential (23rd – 73rd Floor) 
• Sky Observation Deck (74th - 77th Floor) 

2011 - 2015 

2. Cube Tower 7 floors • Retail Cube 2011 - 2014 

* The floor numbers were assigned by the project’s sales department, and omitted the 21st and 22nd Floors as they are middle layers 
between hotel and residential zones. Six transfer floors were also counted as three, resulting in MahaNakhon having 72 floors, which is 
consistent with the number of floors defined in the application for construction permit given to Bangkok Metropolitan Administration. 
 

 

  



[ Translation ] 

Page 17 
 

The two buildings have details of the each function which are shown below:  

 Hotel :  Bangkok Edition is a super-luxury boutique hotel under a new brand from the 
Marriott International Group and is managed by Ritz-Carlton Hotel Company.  
The progress on construction as of 31 December 2014 was at approximately 
28% completion.  

 Residences :  The Ritz-Carlton Residences, Bangkok is a super-luxury residential development 
under an internationally recognizable brand.  As of 31 December 2014, PACE 
made sale and purchase agreements for 129 units (62% of total 207 units) or 
26,187.86 sq.m. (54% of total 48,225 sq.m. lettable area). The progress on 
construction as of 31 December 2014 was at approximately 41% completion.   

 Retail Center :  A retail center that hosts world-famous gourmet shops and retailers that offers 
complete products and services needed in daily life. The retail center consists of 
two zones; Retail Cube, which is connected to Chongnonsri BTS station by a 
skywalk, and Main Tower, in which the Retail Hill and Sky Observation Deck are 
situated. The construction of the Cube tower is approximately 97% completed 
and the lease contracts have been made approximately 65% of the total lettable 
area. The construction of the Main Tower is approximately 47% completed.   
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1.1.3 Industry Overview (Real Estate Development Industry and Gourmet Food and Beverage Industry)   

Real estate trends in 2015 reviewed by various real estate organizations such as Real Estate Information 
Center, the Government Housing Bank, Thai Real Estate Association and real estate businesses agreed that in 
2015, Thai real estate market is expected to grow continuously with average growth rate at 5% and will reach 
the highest growth at 10% under the condition of non-political issue and global economic crises that will affect 
the economy in Thailand. 

 

As a result of expansion of sky train infrastructure into outer Bangkok and AEC to be opening in 2015, demand 
in Thai real estate market will be increased especially in the condominium market which expected to reach 50% 
of the total real estate supply. Around 70,000 – 80,000 new units will be opened in 2015, higher than 2014 at 
65,000 – 68,000 units. The sales in 2015 are expected to be similar to 2014 sales.  

 

Residential business 

Currently, price competition of downtown residential project is obvious which has caused the average selling 
prices per square meter to be higher. According to the Research Centre from CB Richard Ellis (Thailand) Co., 
Ltd. (“CBRE”), the report in the Bangkok property market shows that average selling prices of over 4 downtown 
projects are higher than THB 300,000/sq.m. and their selling prices will continue to rise steadily. This was due to 
higher land prices and increasing construction costs. 

 

Moreover, the report of Colliers International Thailand Research in the third quarter of 2014 stated that the 
average selling price of the new condominium units launched in the second quarter and the third quarter in 2014 
increased accordingly. The average selling price of completed condominium units will increase around 3% - 5% 
which reflects the increasing demand for housing and buyers are likely to find shelter at a larger size or 
condominium units with 2-3 bedrooms due to the large number of foreigners living in Bangkok increasing. 

 

Considering the price and quality of other downtown projects, The Ritz-Carlton Residences, Bangkok can 
compete on price with other competitors in the same class. This is because MahaNakhon Project already 
changed the ownership structure from leasehold to freehold since the beginning of 2014; which resulted in sales 
of residential unit increasing. In addition, the highlights of MahaNakhon project consists of a mixed-use 
development with unique architectural design, prime location property that is easy to access to sky train 
transportation - Chongnonsri BTS station, World class 5-star brand hotel, and quality of the project that is widely 
recognized internationally.  
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Hotel business 

According to a research from Kasikorn Research Center, despite the sputtering economies in many countries 
especially in Russia and Europe; both major inbound tourism markets in Thailand, there are many factors that 
support a hotel business in 2015 such as the AEC commencing in 2015 and government tax initiative that 
include tax deduction on travel and seminar activities for individuals and juristic persons. It is forecasted that if 
there is no domestic political unrest as well as no major global impact that would affect tourism market 
sentiment, there will be an expansion of total investment in the hotel business at around 7.1% - 10.0% 
comparing to 2014. The majority of the increase will come from foreigners, growing 4.9% - 7.6% comparing to 
2014.  

 

For Bangkok, most of the hotels are using international brands and the owner of the brands will be responsible 
for business management since reputation and services of international brands are recognized worldwide. 
Moreover, international brands also have a broad customer database, so they have a good understanding about 
customers’ needs. As a result, the hotel is highly recognized and accepted by customers. For the international 
companies that operate hotel businesses in Thailand are, for instance, International Hotels Group (IHG), 
Meridian, and Accor, located in central business district, they are 5-star international hotel chains which are 
considered to be main competitors with Bangkok Edition Hotel under the MahaNakhorn Project.  

 

Using international brands and allowing the brand owners to be responsible for business management, 
international chain hotels have some advantages: an effective room reserve system controlled by global network 
system and customers’ trustworthy towards international hotels’ standard. These advantages could compensate 
the decrease in number of tourists from some countries especially from Russia and Europe where their 
economies are in recession. 

 

Retail business 

The retail sector in Bangkok is currently on an upward trend, although Thailand has been in political crisis since 
2013 and has been revived and stimulated in 2014. A report from Collier International Thailand Research in the 
third quarter of 2014 indicated that there has been an increase in rental rate for retail center business, and it 
tends to accrete continuously. Currently, there are more than 1.5 million square meters of retail center business 
in Bangkok being developed which is due to be completed around the last quarter of 2014 up to 2015. There are 
more upcoming projects expected to be launched in the market for retail center or department stores that will be 
located in the central business district and along the Skytrain lines which would have the highest rental rates – 
some areas might have rental rates up to THB 3,000 per sq.m.   
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Considering PACE’s lifestyle retail centers such as MahaNakhon Cube which was opened at the beginning of 
2014, the rental rate is as high as that of competitors: THB 2,500 per sq.m. This is because MahaNakhon Cube 
is situated in a business center area of the Silom-Sathorn district.  

 

Gourmet food & beverages business  

While overall food retail is growing at roughly 1.3% over the next five years (IBIS research), the natural and 
organic segment of the food retail industry is where consumers are moving towards for two reasons: (1) growth 
in disposable income in the higher end segment of the market and stabilization of the economy, and (2) health 
and food sourcing concerns driving people to the products that, while more expensive, are more highly valued by 
consumers focused on health and healthy products.  U.S. organic food product sales increased 12.0% in 2013 
alone, according to the International Republican Institute (IRI). 

 

The food retail market is becoming significantly more competitive at the mass market end of the spectrum with 
notable retailers such as Target, Costco, Sam’s Club, and Wal-Mart making substantial inroads over a relatively 
short entry period and taking significant market share on the back of their pre-existing retail footprint and brand 
awareness.  This competition has put pressure on profit and would narrow the operating margins. 

 

Urban populations in the U.S. market are expected to increase more than any other geographic segment of 
developed world economies.  As people urbanize, they tend to shop at food retailers. Additionally, urbanization 
tends to raise awareness of more sophisticated food trends and healthier lifestyles. 

 

Due to the unique nature of Dean & DeLuca’s business, heritage, brand recognition, and multiple formats, as 
well as peculiarity of products and brand positioning, Dean & DeLuca has only a few true direct competitors. 
Moreover, as Dean & DeLuca is an urban brand concept, and provides products – especially organic products – 
that are minimally processed and authentically prepared, this combination of circumstances should provide a 
favorable global environment for the brand's expansion through the world’s urban markets. 

 

Although Dean & DeLuca only has a few direct competitors, there are competitors within overlapping segments 
of the Dean & DeLuca business, in segments including: 

 High end grocery and gourmet shops – Although none of grocery and shops emulates Dean & DeLuca’s 
focus on gourmet, there are brands that emphasize higher end mass market and products. When 
considering the gourmet brands in the market such as EATALY (from Italy), Jones the Grocer (from 
Australia), and Carluccio’s (from the U.K.) which offer a combination of dine-in food and high end food 
products, none can be compared with Dean & DeLuca, a global footprint brand. The comparison between 
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those brands and Dean & DeLuca is limited as both EATALY and Carluccio sell almost exclusively Italian 
food products.   

 Coffee Bar – According to the most recent consumer annual report by the National Coffee Association 
(“NCA”), U.S. consumers are gradually in favor of more specialty coffee and espresso-based drinks. For 
2014, the NCA found that daily consumption of gourmet coffee among adults is up to 34%, a 3% rise over 
last year, while daily consumption of “non-gourmet” is down. Coffee continued to increase its dominance 
over soft drinks, with 61% of adults drinking coffee daily, compared to 41% of adults drinking soft drinks. 
Daily gourmet coffee consumption was found to be highest among those between the ages of 25-29, 
accounting for 42%, second highest among the 18-24 and 40-59 demographics (about one third) and lowest 
among 60-plus-year-olds. 

(Source: PACE management information, IRI (International Republican Institute), KResearch from Kasikorn 
Research Center, CBRE Research Centre, Information from the National Coffee Association, IBIS Research, and 
the report of Colliers International Thailand Research) 
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1.1.4 Corporate Information, Capital Structure and Shareholders 

Company Name Pace Development Corporation Public Company Limited 
Symbol for Trading PACE 
Establishment Date 1 September 2003 (under the name "Cinkara Compnay Limited") 
Type of Business A full range of luxury and lifestyle property, services and retail 
Company Registration 0107554000232 

Registered Capital THB 2,054,265,670.00 as at 31 December 2014   

Paid-up Capital THB 2,054,265,670.00 as at 31 December 2014   
Registered Shares (Ordinary Share) 2,054,265,670 shares as at 31 December 2014   
Issued Shares (Ordinary Share) 2,054,265,670 shares as at 31 December 2014   
Par Value THB 1   

Head Office 
87/2 CRC Tower, All Seasons Place, 45th Floor, Wireless Road   
Lumpini, Pathumwan, Bangkok 

Tel. 0-2654-3344 
Fax 0-2654-3323 
Website www.pacedev.com  

Source: The Stock Exchange of Thailand and audited financial statements as of 31 December 2014 
 
List of shareholders as at the closing date of the share register book on 4 December 2014 were as follows: 

No. Name Number of 
Shares 

% Total Shares 

 
1. Mr. Sorapoj Techakraisri 1,105,312,550 53.81% 
2. Mr. Sumet Techakraisri 102,000,000 4.97% 
3. Mr. Seksan Setthasakol 59,300,000 2.89% 

4. 
THE HONGKONG AND SHANGHAI BANKING CORPORATION 
LIMITED, FUND SERVICES DEPARTMENT 

53,485,000 2.60% 

5. Mr. Narit Chia-Apar 39,685,600 1.93% 
6. ROSALIND DEVELOPMENT LTD. 38,000,000 1.85% 
7. THAI NVDR CO.,LTD. 37,836,600 1.84% 
8. Mr. Pathomphob Chuenphanitchakij 26,500,000 1.29% 
9. Mr. Wuthisak Limphanich 25,671,800 1.25% 
10. Mr. Chotiphol Techakraisri 24,000,100 1.17% 
11. Mr. Thanawat Kraiphisitkun 19,318,000 0.94% 
12. HSBC BANK PLC-CLIENTS GENERAL A/C 16,250,000 0.79% 
13. Mr. Suriya Thephakham 15,500,000 0.75% 

  

http://www.goldenlandplc.co.th/
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No. Name Number of 
Shares 

% Total Shares 

14. Ms. Thanyapat Kasemthitiphan 12,010,500 0.58% 
15. Others 479,395,520 23.34% 

 
Total 2,054,265,670 100.00% 

Source: The Stock Exchange of Thailand     

1.1.5 Registered Shares and Paid-Up Capital 

The ordinary shares of PACE have been listed and traded in Stock Exchange of Thailand since 7 August 2013. 
 
As at 31 December 2014, PACE had the registered capital and the issued and paid-up as follows:  
 Registered capital of THB 2,054,265,670 comprises 2,054,265,670 ordinary shares at a par value of THB 1 

per share. 
 Issued and paid-up capital of THB 2,054,265,670 comprises 2,054,265,670 ordinary shares at a par value of 

THB 1 per share.  
 
1.1.6 Board of Directors 

As of 31 December 2014, PACE’s board of directors consisted of 9 members as follows: 

No. Director Name Position 
1. Mr. Kraithip Krairiksh Chairman of the Board 
2. Mr. Chotipol Techakraisri  Vice Chairman of the Board 
3. Mr. Sorapoj Techakraisri Director 
4. Mr. Chumpol Techakraisri Director 
5. Mr. Theera Vayakornvichitre Director 
6. Mr. Pornson Patanasin Director 
7. Ms. Ladda Siriwattanakosol Director/Chairman of Audit Committee/Independent Director 
8. Mr. Prasert Patradhilok Director/Audit Committee/Independent Director 
9. Ms. Benjaporn Prisuwanna Director/Audit Committee/Independent Director 

Source: Information from Department of Business Development and PACE management information 
Note: According to PACE management information, PACE’s current board of directors also consists of the 9 members as shown in the 
table above; whilst Mr. Kraithip Krairiksh holds a position of Chairman of the Board/Audit Committee.  
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1.1.7 Financial Highlights 

Summary of 3-Year Financial Position and Operating Results    
Statement of financial position (Consolidated)   (THB million) 
Assets 31 Dec 2012 31 Dec 2013 31 Dec 2014 
  (Restated)     
Current assets       
Cash and cash equivalents 134.65  1,039.28  519.03  
Short-term investments -  -  518.90  

Restricted savings deposit - - 67.11  

Trade account receivables – net  0.33  13.35  23.98  
Inventories 307.23  144.32  297.11  
Real estate projects for sales under development -  278.48  5,565.47  
Advance payments for construction -  -  386.45  
Other receivables from subsidiaries and related company 1.48  3.32  52.26  
Refundable value added tax 8.28  38.73  87.29  
Other current assets 13.83  19.79  65.59  
Total current assets 465.80  1,537.27  7,583.19  
Non-current assets       
Restricted bank - current account - - 7.56  
Restricted savings deposit 61.10  -  -  
Interest receivable from subsidiaries  138.57  -  -  
Deposit of acquisition of assets -  -  318.91   
Long-term loan to subsidiaries 832.13  -  -  
Advances payment for land 52.14  -  -  
Real estate projects for sales under development 6.26  -  -  
Deferred loan arrangement fee 19.15  -  -  
Leasehold rights on land - net 1,052.62  2,083.80  -  
Land -  579.56  1,493.17  
Advance payments for land 51.37  -  211.00  
Advance payments for construction 128.25  231.93  123.84  
Construction in progress 928.59  3,093.36  1,959.77  
Residential condominium unit and equipment for rent - net 26.18  -  -  
Leasehold improvements, sales gallery and equipment - net 101.65  144.03  343.53  
Property for lease - net -  141.82  1,016.92  
Intangible assets - net - - 2,425.67  
Goodwill - net -  501.82  3,397.88  
Deferred income tax assets – net 106.62  259.63  345.08  
Other non-current assets – net 1.32  3.33  10.16  
Total non-current assets 3,505.97  7,039.29  11,653.51  
Total assets  3,971.76  8,576.57  19,236.70  
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Statement of financial position (Consolidated)   (THB million) 
Liabilities 31 Dec 2012 31 Dec 2013 31 Dec 2014 
  (Restated)     
Current liabilities       
Bank overdraft and short-term loans from financial institutions 14.92  244.86  1,362.93  
Short-term loans -  323.50  1,165.30  
Trade account payables 89.71  201.71  714.22  
Payable for purchase of land -  -  110.41  
Other payables to related companies 0.44  0.59  1.54  
Other account payables 4.70  2.64  3.51  
Current portion of long-term loans from financial institutions 34.38  -  1,845.52  
Current portion of liabilities under finance lease contracts 1.12  1.84  3.57  
Advances and deposits received from customers 67.91  58.80  2,055.07  
Short-term loans and accrued interest from shareholder 532.18  -  -  
Short-term loans from subsidiary -  -  -  
Income tax payable 39.90  3.33  0.23  
Retention payables to contractors 7.04  20.71  21.90  
Current portion of deferred revenue - - 74.06  
Accrued expenses 19.20  11.98  172.69  
Accrued construction costs 47.08  29.40  20.13  
Other current liabilities 3.91  12.77  116.04  
Total current liabilities 862.47  912.12  7,667.13  
Non-current liabilities       
Deposits received from customers 368.29  1,471.33  8.13  
Retention payables to contractors 1.68  19.22  39.18  
Provision for loss on litigation case 9.53  9.65  -  
Long-term loans from shareholders and accrued interest 1,488.65  2,320.84  2,413.00  
Long-term loans from financial institutions - net 340.94  1,685.52  3,686.03  
Liabilities under finance lease contracts - net 5.10  7.58  8.73  
Debenture - net -  -  2,971.84  
Deferred revenue - net - - 114.61  
Deferred income tax liability - net - - 665.88  
Provision for employee retirement benefit 1.90  2.58  5.49  
Other non-current liabilities -  -  0.81  
Total non-current liabilities 2,216.07  5,516.71  9,913.70  
Total liabilities 3,078.54  6,428.83  17,580.84  
Source: Audited financial statements as at 31 December 2012, 2013 and 2014  
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Statement of financial position (Consolidated)   (THB million) 
Equity 31 Dec 2012 31 Dec 2013 31 Dec 2014 
  (Restated)     
Equity       
Authorized share capital 2,054.27  2,054.27  2,054.27  

Issued and paid-up share capital  1,454.27  2,054.27  2,054.27  
Premium on common shares -  1,431.06  1,431.06  
Discount on business combination under common control (753.78) (61.37) (61.37) 
Currency translation differences -  -  9.63  
Retained earnings (Deficit) - appropriated for legal reserve 6.96  15.64  15.64  
Retained earnings (Deficit) - unappropriated 185.78  (689.54) (1,068.32) 
Equity attributable to owners of the parent 893.22  2,750.05  2,380.91  
Non-controlling interests -  (602.31) (725.04) 
Total equity 893.22  2,147.74  1,655.87  
Total liabilities and equity 3,971.76  8,576.57  19,236.70  

Source: Audited financial statements as at 31 December 2012, 2013 and 2014 
 
Financial position analysis 

As the Company acquired shares and shareholder’s loan of subsidiaries, the Company’s total assets, liabilities 
and shareholders’ equity increased significantly. From the statement of financial position as at 31 December 
2014, PACE’s total assets increased by THB 10,660 million or 124% from 2013. Total liabilities increased by 
THB 11,152 million or 174% comparing to the end of 2013. Total equity attributable to owners of the parent were 
at THB 2,381 million, a decrease of THB 369 million or 13% comparing to the end of 2013. 
 

Financial position of PACE and its subsidiaries is summarized below. 
 

Total assets 

As at 31 December 2013, PACE reported total assets of THB 8,577 million, which increased from 2012 by THB 
4,605 million or 116%.  The increase mainly resulted from an increase in work in progress of the MahaNakhon 
project of THB 2,165 million or 233% from 2012, an increase in leasehold right of the MahaNakhon project of 
THB 1,031 million or 98% from 2012, and an increase of cash and cash equivalents of THB 905 million or 672% 
due to the share capital increase and long-term loans from financial institutions.  In addition, PACE acquired 
additional land with the total cost of THB 580 million to develop MahaNakhon and MahaSamutr Hua Hin 
projects. 
 

As at 31 December 2014, PACE reported total assets of THB 19,237 million, which increased by THB 11,152 
million from last year.  This mainly resulted from higher real estate projects for sales under development; 
comprising MahaNakhon project, luxury villa of MahaSamutr project, and Nimit Langsuan project, by THB 5,287 
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million or 1,898% from the prior year. Besides, there was an increase in goodwill from the acquisition of D&D Inc 
of THB 2,896 million or 577% furthermore in 2014, PACE recorded intangible assets for the Dean & DeLuca 
gourmet food & beverages business of THB 2,426 million.  
 

Total liabilities 

As at 31 December 2013, PACE reported total liabilities of THB 6,429 million, which increased from 2012 by 
THB 3,350 million or 109%.  The increase mainly resulted from 1) an increase in long-term loans from financial 
institutions of THB 1,310 million or 384%. The main reason is that PACE is in the process of developing the 
MahaNakhon project as well as the land acquisition for the MahaSamutr Hua Hin project. As a result of project 
developments and accounting consolidation after acquiring shares and shareholder’s loans of the subsidiaries, 
the loans from financial institutions increased. 2) an increase in deposits received mainly from customers for 
presale units from The Ritz-Carlton Residences Bangkok of THB 1,103 million or 300% and 3) an increase in 
loans from shareholders and accrued interest of THB 300 million or 20% from 2012 primarily due to accounting 
consolidation after the acquiring shares and shareholder’s loans of the subsidiaries. 
 

As at 31 December 2014, PACE reported total liabilities of THB 17,581 million, which increased from last year by 
THB 11,152 million. The increase was mainly because PACE issued debentures as well as taking on more loans 
from shareholders, other parties and financial institutions. Most of the proceeds were used for the Dean & 
DeLuca acquisition (a consideration of USD 140 million or THB 4.5 billion) and for entering into an option 
agreement to purchase the ordinary shares and the transfer of financial obligations (loan and accrued interest) in 
four subsidiaries of the Company from IBC and IDJ with the total of THB 319 million and for investing in real 
estate projects for sales under development. In addition, increasing advances and deposits received from 
customers of THB 533 million due to the increased numbers of contracts signed and increased numbers of 
customers due to the changed ownership structure in the MahaNakhon project from leasehold to freehold.       
 

Equity 

As of the end of 2013, the equity attributable to owners of the parent was at THB 2,750 million, which increased 
by THB 1,857 million or 208% from the end of 2012. This was mainly due to the initial public offering (“IPO”) of 
the Company’s 600 million shares with par of THB 1 each, causing paid-up capital to increase by THB 600 
million and share premium to increase by THB 1,431 million. PACE had an increasing unappropriated deficit of 
THB 875 million from the loss on derecognition of discount on business combinations under common control of 
THB 584 million. 
 

As of the end of 2014, the equity attributable to owners of the parent was at THB 2,381 million, which decreased 
by THB 369 million or 13% from the year 2013 mainly due to a higher unappropriated deficit of THB 379 million 
or 55%.  
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Income statement (Consolidated)                                                                                                       (THB million)   
(Income statement 2012 2013 2014 

 
  (Restated)     

 
Revenues       

 
Revenue from sales of residential condominium units and furniture 938.95  287.42  34.00  

 
Revenue from sales of foods and beverages - - 468.58   
Rental and service income 1.90  3.87  39.29  

 
Interest income 104.36  32.25  3.76  

 
Gain on sale of land held for sale - - 30.59   
Gain on foreign exchange  0.47  - 4.40  

 
Management fee income 30.00  15.00  -  

 
Other income 13.23  6.55  27.01  

 
Total revenues 1,088.90  345.09  607.63  

 
Expenses       

 
Cost of sales of residential condominium units and furniture (656.06) (188.12) (23.60) 

 
Cost of food and beverage - - (243.69)  
Cost of rental and service - - (64.77)  
Selling expenses (65.73) (186.61) (304.63) 

 
Administrative expenses (121.94) (118.95) (305.19) 

 
Management benefit expenses (25.57) (28.17) (44.26) 

 
Loss of foreign exchange - (0.93) -  

 
Total expenses (869.29) (522.79) (986.16) 

 
Profit (Loss) before finance costs and income tax 219.61 (177.70) (378.53)  
Finance costs (119.19) (97.56) (207.83)  
Profit (Loss) from operation 100.42  (275.27) (586.36) 

 
Loss on derecognition of discount on business combinations under 
common control - net -  (584.05) -   
Profit (Loss) before income tax 100.42  (859.32) (586.36) 

 
Income tax income (expense) (58.86) 18.27  84.85  

 
Profit (Loss) for the year 41.56  (841.04) (501.50) 

 
Source: Audited financial statements as at 31 December 2012, 2013 and 2014 

  
Financial performance analysis 

Financial performance of PACE and its subsidiaries is summarized below. 

Revenues 

Core revenue 

Since PACE acquired all shares of D&D Inc, the world’s famous gourmet food and beverages brand, and all 
chains operated under Dean and DeLuca brand in December 2014, this caused PACE to be able to generate 
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revenue from two cores businesses: real estate development and gourmet food and beverages under Dean and 
DeLuca brand. 

 

For the real estate development business, core revenue is from sales of residential condominium units and 
furniture of which PACE will be able to recognize revenue only when the construction is completed and the 
ownership of such condominium projects has been transferred to the clients.  

 

In 2013, PACE recorded revenue from sales of residential condominium units and furniture of THB 287 million, 
down THB 652 million or 69% from 2012. The decline was mainly due to the Company transferring a lot of units 
of the Saladaeng Residences project during 2012, but had limited number of units left to be transferred during 
2013 as most of the clients had already taken possession of the units. Also, PACE has been developing two 
new projects, MahaNakhon and MahaSamutr Hua Hin projects. 

 

As of 31 December 2014, there were 129 units of the Ritz-Carlton Residences, Bangkok, a part of MahaNakhon 
project, under sales contracts with the total area of 26,187.86 sq.m., or 54.36% of the total area available for 
sale. It is expected to start ownership transfer and recognize revenue in the last quarter of 2015 onwards. In 
addition, PACE sold one unit of Ficus Lane with the total area of 471.73 sq.m. 

 

In 2014, PACE recorded revenue from sales of residential condominium units and furniture of THB 34 million, 
which decreased 88% as compared with 2013. The decline was mainly because PACE is presently developing 
two new projects: MahaNakhon project and MahaSamutr project. The sales backlog of MahaNakhon project is 
THB 7,126.74 million; however the Company cannot recognize the revenue until the transfer of the ownership of 
the residential units to clients. The Company plans to sell luxury villa and membership of MahaSamutr Country 
Club in the first half of the year 2015. PACE expects to recognize revenue from sales of residential condominium 
units and furniture from the Ritz-Carlton Residences Bangkok and from the villas under MahaSamutr project in 
the last quarter of 2015 and in 2016. 

 

In 2014, PACE recorded the revenue from gourmet food and beverages under brand Dean & DeLuca of THB 
469 million (revenue recognition starting from 4 December 2014 when PACE acquired Dean & DeLuca 
business). In 2015 onwards, the Company believes that Dean & DeLuca business will contribute to the recurring 
cash flow in addition to the current project-based cash flow of the real estate business and improve the liquidity 
of the Company in the long-term. 
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Other income 

Other income is from rental and service, interest, management fees, foreign exchange gains, etc. 

 

In 2013, PACE received equipment and furniture rental income of THB 4 million from a subsidiary, up 104% from 
2012 as the subsidiary had transferred some areas to the tenants in the Retail Cube building, which was part of 
MahaNakhon project, and the tenants started to decorate their stores to open in 2014. 

 

In 2014, PACE had rental and service income of THB 39 million, which increased by THB 35 million from 2013 
mainly from rental income from the Retail Cube under the MahaNakhon project which started to open at the end 
of 2013.  As at the end of 2014, lease contracts had been entered for approximately 65% of the leasable area. 

 

In addition, PACE also had all other income totaling THB 66 million or an increase of 22.3% as compared with 
other income in 2013 of THB 54 million. This was mainly because PACE received THB 31 million revenue from 
selling land. 

 

Expenses 

Cost of sales 

In 2013, PACE’s cost of sales of residential condominium units and furniture declined by THB 468 million or 71% 
from 2012. The decrease in cost of sales was mainly because the number of condominium units and furniture of 
Ficus Lane and Saladang Residence projects decreased proportionately to the number of customers who have 
entered into contracts. 

 

In 2014, PACE recorded costs of sales of residential condominium units and furniture for the Ficus Lane project 
of THB 24 million or 4% of the total revenue which decreased by THB 165 million from the previous year. The 
decrease in cost of sales was in line with the decrease in revenue from sales of residential condominium units. 
In 2013, the cost of sales of residential condominium units and furniture of Saladaeng Residences project was 
THB 188 million. For gourmet food and beverages business under Dean & DeLuca brand, the Company 
recorded the costs of sales of THB 244 million or 40% of the total revenue. 

 

Selling and administrative expenses 

Selling and administrative expenses (“SG&A expenses”) mainly comprised marketing and selling expenses, 
management remuneration, special business tax for transferring units and other management fees. 
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PACE recorded SG&A expenses of THB 334 million in 2013, which increased by THB 121 million or 57% from 
2012 due to an increase in marketing expenses to support presales activities of the MahaNakhon project, which 
is the super-luxurious The Ritz-Carlton Residences, Bangkok. The Company also launched MahaSamutr Hua 
Hin project during mid-2013. 

 

In 2014, PACE recorded SG&A expenses of THB 719 million or an increase of 115% as compared with 2013. 
This was because of the increasing of SG&A expenses from gourmet food and beverages of Dean & DeLuca 
which was THB 156 million and from the real estate development business of THB 563 million. These expenses 
consisted of selling expenses of THB 305 million, administrative expenses of THB 305 million, management 
benefit expenses of THB 44 million and cost of MahaNakhon Cube’s rental and service of THB 65 million. 

 

Finance costs 

The 2013 finance costs decreased by 18% from 2012 due to the debt repayment for Saladaeng Residences. 
The Company used the proceeds from the Company share IPO to enter into the investments, which comprised 
of shares and shareholder’s loan of MahaNakhon project from IBC and IDJ 

 

In 2014, PACE recorded finance costs of THB 208 million, which increased by 113% as compared with 2013, 
this was due to the increase in loans from financial institutions of which was used for the acquisition of Dean & 
DeLuca with total value of THB 3.7 billion.  The sources of funds were from a corporate bond issuance during 
year 2014 amounting to THB 3 billion and bank overdrafts and short-term loans at the end of the year 2014 
amounting to THB 1.2 billion. 

 

Gross profit and net profit (loss) 

In 2013, PACE reported gross profits of THB 99 million, representing a gross profit margin of 35% from revenue 
recognition of Saladaeng Residences and Ficus Lane sales. The Company’s total net loss was THB 841 million, 
representing net loss margin of 244%.  

 

In 2014, PACE reported gross profits of THB 248 million or a gross profit margin of 48% from revenue 
recognition of Ficus Lane project sales of THB 10 million and gross profits of THB 225 million from gourmet food 
and beverages of Dean & DeLuca. The Company recorded a loss before finance costs and income tax for the 
year 2014 of THB 379 million and net loss for the year of THB 502 million, which decreased by THB 340 million 
or 40% as compared with the previous year. The net loss for 2014 attributable to the owners of the parent 
company was THB 379 million or net loss margin of 62%. 
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Statement of cash flows (THB million) 

Statement of cash flows 2012 2013 2014 
  (Restated)     
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 477.25 (369.08) (808.50) 
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities (472.79) (719.53) (8,138.46) 
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities (148.42) 1,993.24 8,429.43 
Currency translation differences - - (2.72) 
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (143.96) 904.64 (520.25) 
Source: Audited financial statements as at 31 December 2012, 2013 and 2014 

 

As at the end of 2013, PACE reported a cash outflow from operation activities of THB 369 million, mainly from 
an increase in unearned revenue and customer deposits of THB 417 million, an increase in construction in 
progress and real estate projects for sales under development of THB 662 million and tax payment of THB 53 
million. PACE reported cash outflow from investment activities of THB 720 million, mainly from an increase in 
investment in subsidiary of THB 248 million, paying for land and construction of THB 984 million and the 
restricted cash deposit increased by THB 79 million.  PACE had cash inflow from financing activities of THB 
1,993 million, mainly resulted from the proceeds from an increase in share capital of THB 2,100 million and from 
the long-term loans from financial institutions of THB 1,228 million. 

 

As at the end of 2014, PACE had a cash outflow from operations of THB 809 million; mainly from an increase in 
construction in progress and real estate projects for sales under development of THB 905 million and the 
increasing value of THB 210 million from advance payments for construction. Meanwhile, the advance and 
deposits received from customers increased by THB 533 million due to sales of residential units of MahaNakhon 
project. PACE also paid tax income of THB 85 million in 2014. PACE had a cash outflow from investment 
activities of THB 8,138 million because PACE was still under the process of developing two new projects: 
MahaNakhon project and MahaSamutr project. PACE had cash inflow from financing activities of THB 8,429 
million mainly from the corporate bond issuance, long-term loans from financial institutions and short-term loans. 
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Key financial ratios       
PACE’s key financial ratios 31 Dec 2012 31 Dec 2013 31 Dec 2014 
  (Restated)     
Liquidity ratio       
Current ratio (times)             0.54               1.69                 0.99  
Cash ratio (times)             0.16              1.14                 0.07  
Profitability ratio       
Gross profit margin – Real estate business  30.27%   35.42%   30.58%  
Gross profit margin – Retail business  -     -     47.99%  
Operating profit margin  23.39%   (61.83)%  (75.32)% 
Net profit margin  3.82%   (74.47)%  (82.53)% 
Return on average equity  4.76%   (16.90)%           (26.37)% 
Efficiency ratio       
Return on assets  1.07%   (4.10)%  (2.61)% 
Return on fixed assets  3.10%   (5.13)% (8.39)% 
Total asset turnover (times)             0.28               0.06                 0.03  
Financial policy ratio       
Debt to equity ratio (times)             3.45              2.99                10.62  
Source: Audited financial statements as at 31 December 2012, 2013 and 2014 

Notes 
(1) The calculation is based on the restated figures presented as comparison with the figures in financial statements for the year ended 31 

December 2013. 
 
The liquidity ratio for the year 2013 and 2014 was 1.7 times and 1.0 times, respectively whereas the liquidity 
ratio was 0.5 times in 2012.  The main reason was from an increase in cash from short-term loans from 
individuals and proceeds from the IPO of the Company’s shares during 2013 which was used for working capital 
as well as an increase in real estate projects for sales under development in both 2013 and 2014. Thus total 
current assets, used for calculation, caused the ratio to increase.  

 

In 2013, PACE’s revenue from sales of residential condominium units and furniture decreased by 69% from 2012 
because PACE’s number of condominium units and furniture decreased proportionately to the number of 
customers who had entered into contracts.  As a result, operating profit margin, net profit margin, the return on 
average equity, the return on assets and the return on fixed assets were negative. 

 

In 2014, PACE’s revenue from sales of residential condominium units and furniture decreased by 88% from 2013 
mainly because PACE was still under the process of developing two new projects: MahaNakhon project and 
MahaSamutr project and the revenue could not be recognized until the ownership of such condominium projects 
had been transferred to the clients. PACE expects to open the MahaSamutr project for sale in the first half of 
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2015; as a result, operating profit margin, net profit margin, the return on average equity, the return on assets 
and the return on fixed assets were negative.  

 

In 2014, PACE’s debt to equity ratio increased from prior years mainly due to the issuance of debentures, an 
increase in loans from financial institutions, shareholders and short-term loans to use as a deposit for entering 
into an option agreement to purchase the ordinary shares and the transfer of financial obligations (loan and 
accrued interest) in four subsidiaries of the Company from IBC and IDJ and for investing in real estate projects 
for sales under development. 

Shareholder loans and accrued interest of subsidiaries of PACE as at 31 December 2014   
THB million  PACE-1 PACE-2 PACE-3 PRE Total 

 
Principal 

Accrued 
Interest Principal 

Accrued 
Interest Principal 

Accrued 
Interest Principal 

Accrued 
Interest Principal 

Accrued 
Interest 

IBC 445.89  245.57  404.51  277.84  301.60  130.67  76.80  66.96  1,228.800  721.03  
PACE 1,372.49  267.61  1,311.68  254.46  837.13  105.86  196.33  48.86  3,717.633  676.79  
Mr.Sorapoj Techakraisri -  124.07  -  147.99  -  58.25  -  55.98          - 386.30  
Fourteen Point Holdings - 30.75  -  30.75  -  15.37  -  -          - 76.87  
Total 1,818.38  668.00  1,716.19  711.03  1,138.73  310.15  273.13  171.80  4,946.433  1,860.99  
Source: Audited financial statements as at 31 December 2014        
 
PACE entered into long-term loan agreements with the Pace Group. These loans are unsecured loans. The 
significant details are follows: 
 Loans are due upon the lenders’ written demand given at least 30 days in advance. 
 Loans are to be subordinated to the loans from the financial institutions  
 These loans bear interest at the rate of 7.5% per annum for the years ended 31 December 2014 and 2013. 
 The borrowers are responsible for withholding tax and other expenses. 
(Source: Notes to financial statements of PACE and its subsidiaries’ audited financial statements for the year 
ended 31 December 2014) 
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1.2 Pace Food Retail Co., Ltd. 

1.2.1 Corporate Information and Shareholders 

Corporate Information 

Company Name Pace Food Retail Co., Ltd. (“PFR”) 

Type of Business 
Holding company invests in food and beverages retailing 
business, under “Dean & DeLuca” brand, holding 100% of 
share in D&D Inc 

Company Registration 0105557139434 
Establishment Date 19 September 2014 

Registered Capital THB 810,950,000 

Paid-up Capital THB 810,950,000 

Registered Shares (Ordinary Share) 8,109,500 ordinary shares 

Issued Shares (Ordinary Share) 8,109,500 ordinary shares 

Par Value THB 100 per share 
Source: PACE management information 

 
Shareholders 

As at 31 December 2014, PFR’s shareholders were as follows: 
 

No. Name Number of Shares % Total Shares 
1. Pace Development Corporation Public Co., Ltd. 8,109,497 100.00% 
2. Mr. Sorapoj Techakraisri 1 0.00% 
3. Mr. Chotipol Techakraisri 1 0.00% 
4. Mr. Chumpol Techakraisri 1 0.00% 

  รวม 8,109,500 100.00% 
Source: Copy of list of shareholders’ names (Bor Aor Jor 5) of PFR 
 
1.2.2 Board of Directors 

As at 31 December 2014, PFR’s board of directors comprised three directors as follows: 
 

No. Director Name 
1. Mr. Sorapoj Techakraisri 
2. Mr. Chotipol Techakraisri 
3. Mr. Chumpol Techakraisri 

Source: Copy of company affidavit of PFR 
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1.2.3 Financial Highlights 

Summary of 3-Month Financial Position and Operating Results 
 
Statement of financial position of PFR (Separate financial statements) (THB million) 

 
 31 Dec 2014 

Current assets    
Cash and cash equivalents  67.11  
Advance payment to related parties  1.06  
Total current assets  68.17  
Current liabilities  

 
Investment in overseas  809.55  
Loan to related parties  1,157.26  
Total current liabilities  1,966.81  
Total assets  2,034.98  

 
 

 
Current liabilities  

 
Payable to related parties  0.00  
Other current liabilities  0.44  
Total current liabilities  0.44  
Non-current liabilities  

 
Loan from related parties  1,230.49  
Total non-current liabilities  1,230.49  
Total liabilities  1,230.93  
Equity  

 
Authorized share capital  810.95  

Issued and paid-up share capital  810.95  
Net loss for the period  (6.90) 
Total equity  804.05  
Total liabilities and equity  2,034.98  

Source: Audited financial statements for the 3-month period ended 31 December 2014 
Note: PFR established on 19 September 2014 

 

Total assets 

As at 31 December 2014, PFR had total assets of THB 2,035 million, major assets comprised loans to related 
parties, which was D&D Inc, and investments in overseas. The major assets accounting for 97% of total assets 
were from the acquisition of D&D Inc’s shares. 
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Total liabilities 

As at 31 December 2014, PFR had total liabilities of THB 1,231 million, major liabilities consisted of loan from 
PACE, a parent company.  The major liabilities accounted for 99% of total liabilities.  

 

Equity 

As at 31 December 2014, PFR had total equity of THB 804 million with net operating loss of THB 7 million. 
 
Income statement of  PFR (Separate financial statements) (THB million) 

 
 Oct - Dec 2014 

Other income  8.85  
Administrative expenses  15.75  
Net loss  (6.90) 

Source: Audited financial statements for the 3-month period ended 31 December 2014 
Note: PFR established on 19 September 2014 
 

Other income 

For the 3-month ended 31 December 2014, revenue from other income of THB 9 million was mainly due to the 
interest income from loan to related parties. 

 

Administrative expenses  

For the 3-month ended 31 December 2014, administrative expenses of THB 16 million were mainly due to the 
finance costs of loan from related parties and unrealized loss on foreign exchange. 

 

Net loss 

For the 3-month ended 31 December 2014, PFR had net loss of THB 7 million. 
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1.3 Dean & DeLuca, Inc. 

1.3.1 Corporate Information and Shareholders 

Corporate Information 

Company Name Dean & DeLuca, Inc. (“D&D Inc”) 

Type of Business 
Premium supermarket, restaurants and international café under 
"Dean & DeLuca" brand 

Company Registration 28 July 2009 In Delaware, United States 

No. of Branch in USA 
11 Branches (Restaurants and Supermarkets)  
with 2 Central Kitchens 

Direct Sale to Operators Hotel business, airlines and online sale 
Paid-up Capital USD 25,000,000 as at 4 December 2014 

 (Comprises ordinary shares of USD 10 and premium on share 
USD 24,999,990) 

Registered Shares (Ordinary Share) 5,000 ordinary shares as at 4 December 2014 

Issued Shares (Ordinary Share) 1,000 ordinary shares as at 4 December 2014 
Par Value USD 0.01 per share 

Source: PACE management information 
 
Shareholders 

As at 28 December 2014, D&D Inc’s shareholder was as follows: 
 

No. Name Number of Shares % Total Shares 
1. Pace Food Retail Co., Ltd. 1,000 100% 

  Total 1,000 100% 
Source: Copy of share certificate as of 4 December 2014 
 
1.3.2 Board of Directors 

As at 28 December 2014, D&D Inc’s board of directors comprised two directors as follows:  
 

No. Director Name 
1. Mr. Sorapoj Techakraisri 
2. Mr. Bayani Lauraya 

Source: Copy of secretary’s certificate as of 5 December 2014 
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1.3.3 Financial Highlights 

Summary of Financial Position and Operating Results 
 
Statement of financial position of D&D Inc 

 
(USD million) 

Assets and Liabilities 3 Feb 2013 2 Feb 2014 28 Dec 2014 
Current assets       
Cash and cash equivalents 0.25  0.26  5.30  
Trade account receivables – net 1.50  1.11  1.17  
Inventories 5.63  5.99  5.79  
Prepaid and other assets 0.51  0.60  -  
Other current assets -  -  1.05  
Total current assets 7.89  7.96  13.31  
Non-current assets       
Property and equipment – net 6.08  4.92  4.49  
Intangible assets – net -  -  73.75  
Goodwill  0.11  0.11  88.12  
Other non-current assets 0.13  0.11  0.34  
Total non-current assets 6.32  5.15  166.70  
Total assets 14.21  13.10  180.01  

    
Current liabilities 

   
Short-term loans from financial institutions 3.80  -  -  
Trade account payables 4.71  3.42  6.85  
Other payables to related parties -  -  2.48  
Current portion of deferred revenue 3.04  2.51  -  
Shareholder loans and accrued interest -  -  35.24  
Income tax payable -  -  0.60  
Accrued expenses 6.76  6.16  5.19  
Other current liabilities -  -  1.25  
Total current liabilities 18.30  12.09  51.62  
Non-current liabilities 

   
Deferred revenue – net 9.73  7.37  20.25  
Deferred gain on sale of assets 0.42  0.29  -  
Long-term loans from financial institutions – net of current portion -  -  77.71  
Long-term loans and accrued interest expense from related parties 36.41  41.88  -  
Accrued rental 2.96  3.06  -  
Other non-current assets -  -  3.51  
Total non-current liabilities 49.52  52.60  101.47  
Total liabilities 67.82  64.69  153.09  

Source: Audited financial statements for the year ended 3 February 2013, 2 February 2014 and for 11-month period ended 28 December 2014  
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Statement of financial position of D&D Inc 
 

(USD million) 
Equity 3 Feb 2013 2 Feb 2014 28 Dec 2014 
Shareholders' equity 

   
Issued and paid-up share capital, preferred stock 5.00  5.00  - 
Issued and paid-up share capital, common share 0.57  0.57  0.00  
Treasury stock at cost (2.74) (2.74) -  
Additional paid-in-capital 64.06  64.06  -  
Premium on share -  -  25.00  
Retained earnings (deficit) (120.51) (118.48) 1.92  
Total shareholders' equity (53.61) (51.59) 26.92  
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity 14.21  13.10  180.01  

Source: Audited financial statements for the year ended 3 February 2013, 2 February 2014 and for 11-month period ended 28 December 2014 
 

Shareholder loans and accrued interest of D&D Inc 
USD million  28 December 2014  

Principal Accrued Interest Total 
Pace Food Retail Co., Ltd. 35.00  0.24  35.24  
Total 35.00  0.24  35.24  

Source: PACE management information 
 

PACE acquired all shares of D&D Inc, the world’s famous gourmet food and beverages brand, including all 
chains operated under Dean & DeLuca brand (totaling 11 branches) on the 4 December 2014. 
 

According to the acquisition agreement entered between PACE and D&D Inc,  D&D Inc cancelled the preferred 
shares and ordinary shares that had been registered but not issued or paid-up, cancelled the treasury stock, and 
redemption of issued preferred shares held by the shareholders.  Furthermore, D&D Inc settled the debt such as 
principal and accrued interest on the loan, note payables, and debentures or instruments of similar nature, 
warrants for financial instruments or securities, and obligations under letter of credit and bank acceptances. 
Therefore, the above financial statement ended as at 28 December 2014 reflected the actual financial position of 
D&D Inc at the time of merger with PACE. 
 

Total assets 

As at 2 February 2014, D&D Inc had total assets of USD 13 million, which decreased by approximately USD 1 
million from 2013 mainly from the property and equipment.   
 

As at 28 December 2014, D&D Inc had total assets of USD 180 million, which increased by USD 167 million 
from 2014 mainly from recognizing goodwill from acquiring all chains operated under Dean & DeLuca brand and 
intangible assets which ware accounted for 90% of total assets.  The increase of intangible assets was from 
restaurant and gourmet food and beverages business under the Dean & DeLuca brand such as trademark and 
franchise as a result of the share acquisition of D&D Inc.   
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Total liabilities 

As at 2 February 2014, D&D Inc had total liabilities of USD 65 million, which decreased by USD 3 million from 
2013, due to the repayment of short-term loans from financial institutions.  
 

As at 28 December 2014, D&D Inc had total liabilities of USD 153 million, which increased by USD 88 million 
from 2014, due to the increase in long-term loans from financial institutions, namely Siam Commercial Bank 
Public Co., Ltd., and shareholder loans and accrued interest from PFR. Major liabilities comprised long-term 
loans from financial institutions, shareholder loans and accrued interest and deferred revenue which accounted 
for 87% of total liabilities. 
 

Equity 

As at 2 February 2014, equity of D&D Inc was a negative USD 52 million, improving by USD 2 million from 2013 
due to an operating profit during 2014.  
 

As at 28 December 2014, equity of D&D Inc was USD 27 million, which mainly consisted of premium on share of 
25 million and the operating profit on December 2014 of USD 2 million. 
 

Income statement of D&D Inc 
  

(USD million) 

 
2013  2014 Feb – Nov 2014 Dec 2014 

      (Before acquisition) (After acquisition) 
Revenue 

    
Revenues from sales 94.28  93.01  70.64  14.62  
Gain on foreign exchange -  -  2.93  0.06  
Gain on disposal of assets -  -  0.11  -  
Other income 3.09  1.15  0.04  0.02  
Total revenue 97.37  94.15  73.72  14.70  
Expenses 

    
Cost of sales 46.74  43.69  33.24  7.41  
Advertising expense 2.04  1.77  1.86  0.30  
Occupancy expense 11.75  11.94  9.58  0.98  
Sales and other operating expenses 29.66  27.85  9.90  1.58  
General and administrative expenses 4.59  3.89  17.42  2.04  
Total expenses 94.77  89.14  72.01  12.30  
Profit before finance costs 2.59  5.02  1.72  2.40  
Finance costs 2.81  2.25  1.87  0.47  
Profit (Loss) before income tax (0.22) 2.77  (0.15) 1.93  
Income tax expenses 0.07  0.74  0.18  0.00  
Profit (Loss) for the period (0.29) 2.03  (0.33) 1.92  

Source: Audited financial statements for the year ended 3 February 2013, 2 February 2014 and for 11-month period ended 28 December 2014 
Note: Financial position 1-month ended 28 December 2014 was consolidated with PACE. 
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Revenue from sales 

In 2014, revenue from sales was USD 93 million, which decreased by USD 1 million from 2013.  And for the 1-
month ended 28 December 2014, revenue from sales of gourmet food and beverages of USD 15 million was the 
revenue after acquisition since 4 December 2014.  

 

Cost of sales 

In 2014, cost of sales was USD 44 million, which decreased by USD 3 million from 2013. And for the 1-month 
ended 28 December 2014, cost of sales was USD 7 million. 

 

General and administrative expenses  

In 2014, general and administrative expenses were USD 28 million, which decreased by USD 2 million from 
2013.  And for the 1-month ended 28 December 2014, general and administrative expenses were USD 2 million 
being mainly selling and administrative expenses.  
 

 
Net Profit (Loss)  
In 2014, D&D Inc had net profit of USD 2 million.  And for the 1-month ended 28 December 2014, D&D Inc had 
net profit of USD 1.9 million. 
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1.4 Pace Country Club Co., Ltd. 

1.4.1 Corporate Information and Shareholders 

Corporate Information 

Company Name Pace Country Club Co., Ltd. (“PCC”) 
Type of Business Membership of MahaSamutr Country Club: 

Hua Hin Country Club, managed by PACE (for members and 
residents) 

Company Registration 0105557085652 
Establishment Date 18 June 2014  
Registered Capital THB 1,000,000 
Paid-up Capital THB 1,000,000 

Registered Shares (Ordinary Share) 10,000 ordinary shares 

Issued Shares (Ordinary Share) 10,000 ordinary shares 
Par Value THB 100 per share 

Source: PACE management information 
 
Shareholders 

As at 31 December 2014, PCC’s shareholders were as follows: 
 

No. Name Number of Shares % Total Shares 
1. Pace Development Corporation Public Co., Ltd. 9,997 99.97% 
2. Mr. Sorapoj Techakraisri 1 0.01% 
3. Mr. Chotipol Techakraisri 1 0.01% 
4. Mr. Chumpol Techakraisri 1 0.01% 

  Total 10,000 100.00% 
Source: Copy of list of shareholders’ names (Bor Aor Jor 5) of PCC 
 
1.4.2 Board of Directors 

As at 31 December 2014, PCC’s board of directors comprised three directors as follows:  
 

No. Director Name 

1. Mr. Sorapoj Techakraisri 

2. Mr. Chotipol Techakraisri 

3. Mr. Chumpol Techakraisri 
Source: Copy of company affidavit of PCC 
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1.4.3 Financial Highlights 

Summary of 3-Month Financial Position and Operating Results 
 
Statement of financial position of PCC 

 
(THB million) 

 
  31 Dec 2014 

Current assets     
Cash and cash equivalents   19.05  
Other current assets   5.73  
Total current assets   24.78  
Current liabilities   

 
Construction in progress   90.80  
Advance to contractor    3.84  
Total current liabilities   94.64  
Total assets   119.42  

 
  

 
Current liabilities   

 
Trade account payables   25.96  
Payable to related company   0.00  
Loan from related company   90.70  
Accrued interest from related company   1.28  
Accrued expenses   0.63  
Total current liabilities   118.58  
Total liabilities   118.58  
Equity   

 
Authorized share capital, common share   1.00  

Issued and paid-up share capital, common share   1.00  
Net loss for the period   (0.16) 
Total equity   0.84  
Total liabilities and equity   119.42  

Source: Audited financial statement for the 3-month period ended 31 December 2014 
Note: PCC established on 18 June 2014 
 
Total assets 

As at 31 December 2014, PCC had total assets of THB 119 million, major assets comprised construction in 
progress of MahaSamutr Country Club and cash and cash equivalents.  The major assets accounted for 92% of 
total assets.  
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Total liabilities 

As at 31 December 2014, PCC had total liabilities of THB 119 million, major liabilities consisted of loan from 
related company and trade account payables.  The major liabilities accounted for 98% of total liabilities.  

 

Equity 

As at 31 December 2014, equity of PCC was THB 0.84 million with the operating loss of THB 0.2 million. 
 
Income statement of PCC (THB million) 

 
  Oct - Dec 2014 

Revenue   -  
General and administrative expenses   0.16  
Net loss   (0.16) 

Source: Audited financial statement for the 3-month period ended 31 December 2014 
Note: PCC established on 18 June 2014 

 

MahaSamutr Country Club’s development started in the fourth quarter of 2013.  PCC plans to sell membership 
of the MahaSamuts County Club in the first half of 2015 and expects it to be completed in 2016. 

 

General and administrative expenses  

For the 3-month ended 31 December 2014, general and administrative expenses were THB 0.16 million.  
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1.5 YLP Co., Ltd. 

1.5.1 Corporate Information and Shareholders 

Corporate Information 

Company Name YLP Co., Ltd. (“YLP”) 

Type of Business 
Saladaeng Residences, supper-luxury residential building with 
25 floors and 5 underground floors comprising 132 residences 

Company Registration 0105550118130 
Establishment Date 9 November 2007 
Registered Capital THB 50,000,000 
Paid-up Capital THB 50,000,000 

Registered Shares (Ordinary Share) 500,000 ordinary shares 

Issued Shares (Ordinary Share) 500,000 ordinary shares 
Par Value THB 100 per share 

Source: PACE management information 
 

Shareholders 

As at 31 December 2014, YLP’s shareholders were as follows: 
 
No. Name Number of Shares % Total Shares 
1. Pace Development Corporation Public Co., Ltd. 499,997 100.00% 
2. Mr. Sorapoj Techakraisri 1 0.00% 
3. Mr. Chotipol Techakraisri 1 0.00% 
4. Mr. Chumpol Techakraisri 1 0.00% 

  Total 500,000 100.00% 
Source: Copy of list of shareholders’ names (Bor Aor Jor 5) of YLP 

 
1.5.2 Board of Directors 

As at 31 December 2014, YLP’s board of directors comprised three directors as follows:  
 

No. Director Name 
1. Mr. Sorapoj Techakraisri 
2. Mr. Chotipol Techakraisri 
3. Mr. Chumpol Techakraisri 

Source: Copy of company affidavit of YLP 
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1.5.3 Financial Highlights 

Summary of 3-Year Financial Position and Operating Results 
 
Statement of financial position of YLP  

 
(THB million) 

Assets and Liabilities  31 Dec 2012 31 Dec 2013 31 Dec 2014 
Current assets      

 
Cash and cash equivalents  83.50  94.44  56.22  
Trade account receivables  -  13.35  -  
Short-term investment in related companies  -  -  60.49  
Short-term loans to related companies  -  204.34  -  
Inventories  248.10  85.19  85.19 
Other current assets  2.48  1.19  0.81  
Total current assets  334.09  398.50  202.71  
Non-current assets      

 
Equipment – net  6.87  5.03  3.70  
Non-current assets  0.29  0.25  0.21  
Total non-current assets  7.16  5.28  3.90  
Total assets  341.25  403.78  206.61  

 
 

   
Current liabilities  

   
Short-term loans from other  -  184.39  -  
Trade account payables  1.47  0.03  -  
Other payables to related companies  -  -  0.08  
Payables to contractors  15.87  9.51  -  
Advances received from related companies  30.36  18.25  32.70  
Advances received from other  0.80  0.52  0.63  
Current portion of liabilities under finance lease contracts  12.94  2.37  0.14  
Income tax payable  1.24  1.22  0.08  
Retention payables to contractors  1.52  1.03  0.21  
Accrued expenses  47.08  29.40  20.13  
Accrued construction costs  0.23  0.60  0.28  
Other current liabilities  111.50  247.33  54.24  

Source: Audited financial statement as at 31 December 2012, 2013 and 2014 
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Statement of financial position of YLP  
 

(THB million) 
Liabilities and Equity  31 Dec 2012 31 Dec 2013 31 Dec 2014 
Non-current liabilities  

   
Liabilities under finance lease contracts – net of current portion  3.77  3.56  3.00  
Provision for employee retirement benefit   -  -  0.42  
Total non-current liabilities  3.77  3.56  3.42  
Total liabilities  115.27  250.90  57.67  
Equity  

   
Authorized share capital, common share  50.00  50.00  50.00  

Issued and paid-up share capital, common share  50.00  50.00  50.00  
Appropriated for legal reserve  -  5.00  5.00  
Retained earnings (deficit)  175.98  97.88  93.94  
Total equity  225.98  152.88  148.94  
Total liabilities and equity  341.25  403.78  206.61  

Source: Audited financial statement as at 31 December 2012, 2013 and 2014 
 

Total assets 

As at 31 December 2013, YLP had total assets of THB 404 million, which increased by 63 million from 2012 
mainly from the increase in short-term loans to related companies. 
 

As at 31 December 2014, YLP had total assets of THB 207 million, which decreased by 197 million from 2013 
due to the decrease in short-term loans to related companies. Major assets comprised inventories, short-term 
investment in related companies and cash and cash equivalents which accounted for 98% of total assets. 
 

Total liabilities 

As at 31 December 2013, YLP had total liabilities of THB 251 million, which increased by 136 million from 2012 
mainly from the increase of short-term loans from others.  
 

As at 31 December 2014, YLP had total liabilities of THB 58 million, which decreased by THB 193 million from 
2013, due to the repayment of short-term loans from others and payments to contractors for the construction 
costs. 
 

Equity 

As at 31 December 2013, equity of YLP was THB 153 million, a net decrease of THB 73 million from 2012 due 
to a dividend payment to shareholders in 2013.  

As at 31 December 2014, equity of YLP was THB 149 million, a net decrease of THB 4 million from 2013 due to 
the operating loss in 2014. 
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Income statement of YLP   (THB million) 

 
2012 2013 2014 

Revenue     
 

Revenue from sales of residential condominium units and furniture 914.38  245.10  -  
Interest income 0.92  8.10  5.89  
Other income 8.12  0.02  8.33  
Total revenue 923.42  253.22  14.22  
Expenses     

 
Cost of sales 641.51  162.91  -  
Marketing expenses 21.68  1.36  0.00  
Selling expenses 65.56  24.16  13.05  
Total expenses 728.76  188.43  13.05  
Profit before finance costs and tax 194.65  64.79  1.17  
Finance costs 14.47  7.00  4.60  
Profit before Income Tax 180.18  57.79  (3.43) 
Income tax  34.31  10.89  0.50  
Profit (Loss) for the year 145.87  46.90  (3.94) 

Source: Audited financial statement as at 31 December 2012, 2013 and 2014 
 
Cash flow statement of YLP  

 
(THB million) 

 
 2012 2013 2014 

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities  616.64  149.89  1.00  
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities  22.66  (195.86) 150.23  
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities  (600.26) 56.90  (189.44) 
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  39.04  10.94  (38.22) 

Source: Audited financial statement as at 31 December 2012, 2013 and 2014 

 

Revenue from sales of residential condominium units and furniture  

In 2013, revenue from sales of residential condominium units and furniture from Saladaeng Residences was 
THB 245 million or approximately 11% of total project value, which decreased by THB 669 million from 2012, 
mainly due to the limited number of units left to be transferred during 2013. 

 

As at 29 December 2014, there were 5 remaining residences at the Saladaeng Residences, deposits and the 
contracts were made but the income was not recognized. According to management, YLP will recognize the 
income of the 2 units in the first quarter of 2015 and will transfer ownership and recognize the income of the 3 
units in April 2015. Therefore, in 2014, there was no revenue from sales, while there was revenue from interest 
and other income.  
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Cost of sales  

In 2013, cost of sales was THB 163 million, which decreased by THB 479 million from 2012, due to the 
decrease of revenue recognition, mainly because the number of condominium units and furniture decreased 
proportionately to the number of customers who had entered contracts. 

 

In 2014, there was no cost of sales because as the 5 remaining residences of the Saladaeng Residences have 
not yet been transferred to the customers which are PACE’s directors.  

 

Selling expenses  

In 2013, selling expense was THB 24 million, which decreased by THB 41 million from 2012 mainly due to the 
decrease in administrative expenses as a result of the decrease in the number of residences ownership 
transferred to the customers which is approximately 11% of total project value.  

 

In 2014, selling expenses was THB 13 million, which decreased by THB 11 million from 2013 mainly due to the 
decrease in administrative expenses which reduced proportionately to the number of units left to be transferred 
in the first quarter of 2015, accounting for 5% of total project value.  

 

Net Profit (Loss)  

In 2013, YLP had a net profit of THB 47 million.  And in 2014, YLP had a net loss of THB 4 million. 
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1.6 Pace Real Estate Co., Ltd. 

1.6.1 Corporate Information and Shareholders 

Corporate Information 

Company Name Pace Real Estate Co., Ltd. (“PRE”) 

Type of Business 
Holding company invests in MahaNakhon project, holding 50% 
of share in PACE-1, PACE-2 and PACE-3 

Company Registration 0105551091855 
Establishment Date 15 August 2008 
Registered Capital THB 10,183,800 
Paid-up Capital THB 10,183,800 

Registered Shares (Ordinary Share) 101,838 ordinary shares 

Issued Shares (Ordinary Share) 101,838 ordinary shares 

Par Value THB 100  per share 
Source: PACE management information 

 
Shareholders 

As at 31 December 2014, PRE’s shareholders were as follows:  
 

No. Name Number of Shares % Total Shares 
1. Pace Development Corporation Public Co., Ltd. 68,919 67.68% 
2. IBC Thailand Ltd. 32,000 31.42% 
3. IDJ Holdings Co., Ltd. 919 0.90% 

  Total 101,838 100.00% 
Source: Copy of list of shareholders’ names (Bor Aor Jor 5) of PRE 
 
1.6.2 Board of Directors 

As at 31 December 2014, PRE’s board of directors comprised six directors as follows:  
 

No. Director Name 
1. Mr. Chotipol Techakraisri 
2. Mr. Sorapoj Techakraisri 
3. Mr. Chumpol Techakraisri 
4. Mrs. Zuzi Thamsarot 
5. Miss Anat Meniphaet 
6. Mr. Oren Chalusi 

Source: Copy of company affidavit of PRE 
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1.6.3 Financial Highlights 

Summary of 3-Year Financial Position and Operating Results  
 
Statement of financial position of PRE 

  
(THB million) 

 
 31 Dec 2012 31 Dec 2013 31 Dec 2014 

Current assets        
Cash and cash equivalents  -  0.19  0.19  
Total current assets  -  0.19  0.19  
Non-current assets        
Investments in shares of subsidiary companies - at cost  250.00  250.00  250.00  
Total non-current assets  250.00  250.00  250.00  
Total assets  250.00  250.19  250.19  

     
Current liabilities  

   
Advances received from related companies  0.72  0.87  1.01  
Accrued expenses  0.06  0.06  0.06  
Total current liabilities  0.78  0.93  1.07  
Non-current liabilities  

   
Shareholder loans and accrued interest   405.45  424.44  444.93  
Total non-current liabilities  405.45  424.44  444.93  
Total liabilities  406.23  425.37  446.00  
Equity  

   
Authorized share capital  10.00  10.18  10.18  

Issued and paid-up share capital  10.00  10.18  10.18  
Retained earnings (Deficit)  (166.23) (185.37) (206.00) 
Total equity  (156.23) (175.19) (195.81) 
Total liabilities and equity  250.00  250.19  250.19  

Source: Audited financial statement as at 31 December 2012, 2013 and 2014 
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Shareholder loans and accrued interest of PRE 
THB million 31 December 2014  

Principal Accrued Interest Total 
PACE Development Corporation Public Co., Ltd. 196.33  48.86  245.19  
IBC Thailand Ltd. 76.80  66.96  143.76  
Mr. Sorapoj Techakraisri -  55.98  55.98  
Total 273.13  171.80  444.93  

Note:  
1) On 11 August 2011, Mr. Sorapoj Techakraisri entered into the Novation Agreement to transfer the rights to receive a repayment of the 

principal of the shareholder loan amounted to THB 120 million to PACE. In return, PACE made payment of THB 120 million to Mr. Sorapoj 
Techakraisri by increasing its share capital.  

2) With reference to the Memorandum dated 25 January 2012, Mr. Sorapoj Techakraisri will transfer the rights to receive a repayment of the 
accrued interest of the shareholder loan to PACE after 60 days once the Company has already received the Building Construction 
Certificate (A.6 Form) issued by the Department of Public Works and Town & Country Planning for the MahaNakorn project.  

 

Source: PACE Management Information and PACE’s filling (latest revised on 7 June 2013) 

 
Total assets 
As at 31 December 2013 and 2014, PRE had total assets of THB 250 million, unchanged from 2012.  Major 
assets comprised investments in shares of PACE-1 of THB 100 million, PACE-2 of THB 100 million and PACE-3 
of THB 50 million which accounted for 99% of total assets. 

 

Total liabilities 

As at 31 December 2013, PRE had total liabilities of THB 425 million, which increased by THB 19 million from 
2012 mainly due to the increase in shareholder loans and accrued interest, resulting from the transfer of financial 
obligations (loan and accrued interest) in PRE from IBC to PACE. 

 

As at 31 December 2014, PRE had total liabilities of THB 446 million, which increased by THB 21 million from 
2013 mainly due to the increase in accrued interest payable to PACE and IBC.  Major liabilities comprised 
shareholder loans and accrued interest which accounted for 99% of total liabilities. 

 

Equity 

As at 31 December 2013, equity of PRE was a negative of THB 175 million, showing a higher negative balance 
of THB 19 million from 2012 due to the operating loss. 

 

As at 31 December 2014, equity of PRE was a negative of THB 196 million, showing a higher negative balance 
of THB 21 million from 2013 due to the operating loss. 



[ Translation ] 

Page 54 
 

Income statement of PRE 
  

(THB million) 

 
 2012 2013 2014 

Revenue        
Interest income  -  0.00  0.00  
Total revenue  -  0.00  0.00  
Expenses        
General and administrative expenses  0.20  0.15  0.14  
Total expenses  0.20  0.15  0.14  
Loss before finance costs  (0.20) (0.15) (0.14) 
Finance costs  37.18  18.99  20.48  
Profit (Loss) for the year  (37.38) (19.14) (20.63) 

Source: Audited financial statement as at 31 December 2012, 2013 and 2014 
 

Cash flow statement of PRE 
  

(THB million) 

 
 2012 2013 2014 

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities  (0.00) 0.00  0.00  
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities  -  -  -  
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities  -  0.18  -  
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  (0.00) 0.19  0.00  
Source: Audited financial statement as at 31 December 2012, 2013 and 2014 and PACE management information 
 

Finance costs   

In 2013, finance costs were THB 19 million, which decreased by THB 18 million from 2012, mainly due to the 
transfer of financial obligations (loan and accrued interest) in PRE from IBC to PACE. 

 

In 2014, finance costs were THB 21 million, which increased by THB 2 million from 2013, mainly due an 
increase in shareholder loans. 
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1.7 Pace Project One Co., Ltd. 

1.7.1 Corporate Information and Shareholders 

Corporate Information 

Company Name Pace Project One Co., Ltd. (“PACE-1”) 

Type of Business 

Bangkok Edition Hotel is a supper-luxury 5-star boutique hotel 
with 159 rooms operated under a new brand of the Marriott 
Group and managed by The Ritz-Carton Hotel Company 
Location: Main Tower, 1-20 floor 

Company Registration 0105550121114 
Establishment date 19 November 2007 
Registered Capital THB 200,000,000 
Paid-up Capital THB 200,000,000 

Registered Shares (Ordinary Share) 2,000,000 ordinary shares 

Issued Shares (Ordinary Share) 2,000,000 ordinary shares 

Par Value THB 100  per share 
Source: PACE management information 
 
Shareholders 

As at 31 December 2014, PACE-1’s shareholders were as follows: 
 

No. Name Number of Shares % Total Shares 
1. Pace Real Estate Co., Ltd.          1,000,000  50.00% 
2. Pace Development Corporation Public Co., Ltd.            680,000  34.00% 
3. IBC Thailand Ltd.            320,000  16.00% 

  Total 2,000,000 100.00% 
Source: Copy of list of shareholders’ names (Bor Aor Jor 5) of PACE-1 
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1.7.2 Board of Directors 

As at 31 December 2014, PACE-1’s board of directors comprised six directors as follows:  
 

No. Director Name 
1. Mr. Chotipol Techakraisri 
2. Mr. Sorapoj Techakraisri 
3. Mr. Chumpol Techakraisri 
4. Mrs. Zuzi Thamsarot 
5. Miss Anat Meniphaet 
6. Mr. Oren Chalusi 

Source: Copy of company affidavit of PACE-1 
 
1.7.3 Financial Highlights 

Summary of 3-Year Financial Position and Operating Results  
 
Statement of financial position of PACE-1 

  
(THB million) 

Assets  31 Dec 2012 31 Dec 2013 31 Dec 2014 
   (Restated)     
Current assets        
Cash and cash equivalents  53.19  217.24  24.08  
Refundable value added tax  10.81  23.51  49.91  
Other current assets  0.05  0.10  0.10  
Total current assets  64.05  240.84  74.09  
Non-current assets        
Deferred loan arrangement fee  5.55  -  -  
Leasehold rights on land – net  842.09  833.52  -  
Land  -  84.51  985.97  
Advances payment to leasehold rights on land  28.14  -  -  
Advances payment to contractors  57.05  31.05  48.12  
Construction in progress  587.41  847.78  1,296.76  
Total non-current assets  1,520.24  1,796.86  2,330.86  
Total assets  1,584.29  2,037.70  2,404.95  

Source: Audited financial statement as at 31 December 2012, 2013 and 2014 
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Statement of financial position of PACE-1 
  

(THB million) 
Liabilities and Equity  31 Dec 2012 31 Dec 2013 31 Dec 2014 
   (Restated)     
Current liabilities  

   
Trade account payables  53.23  47.52  98.23  
Payable for purchase of land  -  -  28.36  
Other payables to related companies  0.01  15.48  0.06  
Accrued interest to related companies  0.81  -  -  
Retention payables to contractors  1.46  1.46  1.46  
Other current liabilities  1.59  0.99  2.55  
Total current liabilities  57.10  65.45  130.67  
Non-current liabilities  

   
Retention payable to contractor  0.78  4.32  8.93  
Long-term loans from financial institutions - net  140.00  -  30.96  
Long-term payable to related company  -  291.32  349.11  
Shareholder loans and accrued interest   1,785.46  2,177.53  2,486.38  
Total non-current liabilities  1,926.24  2,473.17  2,875.38  
Total liabilities  1,983.34  2,538.63  3,006.04  
Equity  

   
Authorized share capital  200.00  200.00  200.00  

Issued and paid-up share capital  200.00  200.00  200.00  
Retained earnings (Deficit)  (599.05) (700.93) (801.10) 
Total equity  (399.05) (500.93) (601.10) 
Total liabilities and equity  1,584.29  2,037.70  2,404.95  

Source: Audited financial statement as at 31 December 2012, 2013 and 2014 
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Shareholder loans and accrued interest of PACE-1 
THB million  31 December 2014  

Principal Accrued Interest Total 
Pace Development Corporation Public Co., Ltd. 1,372.49  267.61  1,640.10  
IBC Thailand Ltd. 445.89  245.57  691.46  
Mr. Sorapoj Techakraisri -  124.07  124.07  
Fourteen Points Holdings -  30.75  30.75  
Total 1,818.38  668.00  2,486.38  

Note:  
1) On 11 August 2011, Mr. Sorapoj Techakraisri and Fourteen Points Holdings (“FPH”) (a company wholly owned by Mr. Sorapoj Techakraisri 

and FPH is a former shareholder of PACE-1 before PACE became a listed company) entered into the Novation Agreement to transfer the 
rights to receive a repayment of the principal of the shareholder loan amounted to THB 281.29 million and THB 63.17 million, respectively, 
to PACE. In return, PACE made payment of THB 281.29 million and THB 63.17 million, respectively, to Mr. Sorapoj Techakraisri and FPH 
by increasing its share capital.  

2) With reference to the Memorandum dated 25 January 2012, Mr. Sorapoj Techakraisri and FPH will transfer the rights to receive a 
repayment of the accrued interest of the shareholder loan to PACE after 60 days once the Company has already received the Building 
Construction Certificate (A.6 Form) issued by the Department of Public Works and Town & Country Planning for the MahaNakorn project.  

 

Source: PACE Management Information and PACE’s filling (latest revised on 7 June 2013) 
 

Total assets 

As at 31 December 2013, PACE-1 had total assets of THB 2,038 million, which increased by THB 453 million 
from 2012 which was due to 1) an increase in construction in progress of Bangkok Edition Hotel, as part of the 
MahaNakhon project, 2) an increase in cash and cash equivalents, and 3) an increase in land of the 
MahaNakhon project where the Main Tower is situated. 

 

As at 31 December 2014, PACE-1 had total assets of THB 2,405 million, which increased by THB 367 million 
from 2013 which was due to 1) an increase in land of MahaNakhon project, mainly comprised the transfer of 
purchase of land and the transfer fee on land according to PACE-1 received approval from the Board of 
Directors’ Meeting to purchase the land in MahaNakhon project (previously recorded as leasehold rights on land 
as at 31 December 2013), and 2) an increase in construction in progress of MahaNakhon project which was 
capital expenditure, mainly comprised design fee, consulting fee, interest payable and other expenses.  As at 31 
December 2014, major assets consisted of construction in progress and land of MahaNakhon project where the 
Main Tower is situated.  The major assets accounted for 95% of total assets. 

 

Total liabilities 

As at 31 December 2013, PACE-1 had total liabilities of THB 2,539 million, which increased by THB 555 million 
from 2012 which was due to 1) an increase in shareholder loans and accrued interest, resulting from the transfer 
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of financial obligations (loan and accrued interest) in PACE-1 from IBC to PACE, and 2) an increase in long-term 
loans from financial institutions.  

 

As at 31 December 2014, PACE-1 had total liabilities of THB 3,006 million, which increased by THB 467 million 
from 2013, mainly due to the increase in shareholder loans and accrued interest. Major liabilities comprised 
shareholder loans and accrued interest and long-term loans from financial institutions which accounted for 94% 
of total liabilities. 

 

Equity 

As at 31 December 2013, equity of PACE-1 was a negative of THB 501 million, showing a higher negative 
balance of 102 million from 2012 due to the operating loss.  

 

As at 31 December 2014, equity of PACE-1 was a negative of THB 601 million, showing a higher negative 
balance of 100 million from 2013 due to the operating loss.  

 
Income statement of PACE-1 

  
(THB million) 

 
 2012 2013 2014 

   (Restated)     
Revenue        
Gain on foreign exchange – net  0.72  -  1.07  
Other income  0.04  0.00  0.05  
Total revenue  0.76  0.00  1.12  
Expenses        
Management fee  15.48  15.48  15.48  
Marketing expenses  0.25  0.21  0.06  
Administrative expenses  4.75  1.45  1.59  
Amortization of leasehold rights on land  8.58  8.58 0.71 
Loss on foreign exchange – net  -  0.11 - 
Total expenses  29.06  25.83  17.85  
Loss before finance costs  (28.30) (25.83) (16.73) 
Finance costs  96.94  76.05  83.44  
Net loss  (125.24) (101.88) (100.17) 

Source: Audited financial statement as at 31 December 2012, 2013 and 2014 
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Cash flow statement of PACE-1   (THB million) ( 

 
 2012 2013 2014 

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities  (5.78) (12.28) (21.16) 
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities  (183.17) (246.48) (382.90) 
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities  187.49  422.81  210.90  
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  (1.46) 164.05  (193.16) 

Source: Audited financial statement as at 31 December 2012, 2013 and 2014 and PACE management information 
 
The construction progress of MahaNakhon project, the Main Tower (floor 1st- 20th) where the Bangkok Edition 
Hotel shall be located as at 31 December 2014 was approximately 28% complete. According to the 
management, the construction of foundation and main structure, which is a time consuming task, has been 
completed. The remaining work, including system and decoration, can be performed in parallel. Thus, it can be 
completed faster than the prior phase. Management expects to commence to operate the Bangkok Edition Hotel 
in the second quarter of 2016.  

 

Expenses 

In 2013, PACE-1 had total expenses of THB 26 million, which decreased by THB 3 million from 2012 due to the 
decrease in administrative expenses. 

 

In 2014, PACE-1 had total expenses of THB 18 million, which decreased by THB 8 million from 2013 due to 
decline in amortization of leasehold rights on land, resulting from the transfer of leasehold right on land to land in 
PACE-1.  

 

Finance costs 

In 2013, finance costs were THB 76 million, which decreased by THB 21 million from 2012 due to the transfer of 
accrued interest in PACE-1 from IBC to PACE. 

 

In 2014, finance costs were THB 83 million, which increased by THB 7 million from 2013 due to the increase in 
shareholder loans mainly from PACE and long-term loans from financial institutions. 

 

Net Profit (Loss) 

In 2013, PACE-1 had net loss of THB 102 million.  And in 2014, PACE-1 also had net loss of THB 100 million. 
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1.8 Pace Project Two Co., Ltd. 

1.8.1 Corporate Information and Shareholders 

Corporate Information 

Company Name Pace Project Two Co., Ltd. (“PACE-2”) 

Type of Business 
Sells and leases real estate for residence of The Ritz-Carlton 
Residences Bangkok with 207 units in supper-luxury residential 
building, Main tower (Floor 23-73) 

Company Registration 0105551020532 
Establishment Date 19 February 2008 
Registered Capital THB 200,000,000 
Paid-up Capital THB 200,000,000 

Registered Shares (Ordinary Share) 2,000,000 ordinary shares 

Issued Shares (Ordinary Share) 2,000,000 ordinary shares 

Par Value THB 100 per share 
Source: PACE management information 
 
Shareholders 

As at 31 December 2014, PACE-2’s shareholders were as follows:  
 

No. Name Number of Shares % Total Shares 
1. Pace Real Estate Co., Ltd.          1,000,000  50.00% 
2. Pace Development Corporation Public Co., Ltd.            680,000  34.00% 
3. IBC Thailand Ltd.            320,000  16.00% 

  Total 2,000,000 100.00% 
Source: Copy of list of shareholders’ names (Bor Aor Jor 5) of PACE-2 
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1.8.2 Board of Directors 

As at 31 December 2014, PACE-2’s board of directors comprised six directors as follows:  
 

No. Director Name 
1. Mr. Chotipol Techakraisri 
2. Mr. Sorapoj Techakraisri 
3. Mr. Chumpol Techakraisri 
4. Mrs. Zuzi Thamsarot 
5. Miss Anat Meniphaet 
6. Mr. Oren Chalusi 

Source: Copy of company affidavit of PACE-2 
 
1.8.3 Financial Highlights 

Summary of 3-Year Financial Position and Operating Results   
 
Statement of financial position of PACE-2 

  
(THB million) 

Assets  31 Dec 2012 31 Dec 2013 31 Dec 2014 
   (Restated)     
Current assets        
Cash and cash equivalents  26.88  536.25  112.58  
Other receivable from related company  0.71  0.71  0.57  
Real estate project for sales under development  -  -  5,170.69  
Advances payment to contractors  -  -  323.23  
Other current assets  1.19  3.65  2.32  
Total current assets  28.78  540.60  5,609.39  
Non-current assets        
Restricted savings deposit  122.20  -  -  
Deferred loan arrangement fee  26.51  -  -  
Leasehold rights on land – net  842.09  833.52  -  
Land  -  224.03  -  
Advances payment to leasehold rights on land  74.60  -  -  
Advances payment to contractors  162.96  176.92  -  
Construction in progress  970.03  1,599.29  -  
Sale gallery, equipment and furniture - net  165.31  121.74  127.21  
Other non-current assets  0.26  0.26  0.26  
Total non-current assets  2,363.97  2,955.76  127.48  
Total assets  2,392.74  3,496.36  5,736.86  

Source: Audited financial statement as at 31 December 2012, 2013 and 2014 
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Statement of financial position of PACE-2 
  

(THB million) 
Liabilities and Equity  31 Dec 2012 31 Dec 2013 31 Dec 2014 
   (Restated)     
Current liabilities  

   
Trade account payables  90.21  85.31  270.85  
Payable for purchase of land  -  -  66.26  
Other payables to related companies  2.11  37.10  1.34  
Accrued interest to related companies  1.04  -  -  
Current portion of long-term loans from financial institutions  -  -  1,845.52  
Advances and deposits received from customers  8.83  4.69  1,995.13  
Retention payables to contractors  3.88  3.88  3.88  
Accrued commission expense  -  2.15  20.11  
Other current liabilities  10.72  3.91  23.92  
Total current liabilities  116.78  137.04  4,227.00  
Non-current liabilities  

   
Deposits received from customers  736.57  1,466.98  -  
Long-term payable to related company  180.00  -  73.06  
Retention payable to contractor  2.07  11.45  23.83  
Long-term loans from financial institutions - net  -  839.85  137.05  
Shareholder loans and accrued interest  2,036.79  1,992.58  2,427.22  
Total non-current liabilities  2,955.43  4,310.86  2,661.15  
Total liabilities  3,072.21  4,447.90  6,888.16  
Equity  

   
Authorized share capital  200.00  200.00  200.00  

Issued and paid-up share capital  200.00  200.00  200.00  
Retained earnings (Deficit)  (879.47) (1,151.54) (1,351.29) 
Total equity  (679.47) (951.54) (1,151.29) 
Total liabilities and equity  2,392.74  3,496.36  5,736.86  

Source: Audited financial statement as at 31 December 2012, 2013 and 2014 
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Shareholder loans and accrued interest of PACE-2 
THB million 31 December 2014 

Principal Accrued Interest Total 
Pace Development Corporation Public Co., Ltd. 1,311.68  254.46  1,566.14  
IBC Thailand Ltd. 404.51  277.84  682.35  
Mr. Sorapoj Techakraisri -  147.99  147.99  
Fourteen Point Holdings -  30.75  30.75  
Total 1,716.19  711.03  2,427.22  

Note:  
1) On 11 August 2011, Mr. Sorapoj Techakraisri and Fourteen Points Holdings (“FPH”) (a company wholly owned by Mr. Sorapoj Techakraisri 

and FPH is a former shareholder of PACE-2 before PACE became a listed company) entered into the Novation Agreement to transfer the 
rights to receive a repayment of the principal of the shareholder loan amounted to THB 375.38 million and THB 63.17 million, respectively, 
to PACE. In return, PACE made payment of THB 375.38 million and 63.17 million, respectively, to Mr. Sorapoj Techakraisri and FPH by 
increasing its share capital.  

2) With reference to the Memorandum dated 25 January 2012, Mr. Sorapoj Techakraisri and FPH will transfer the rights to receive a 
repayment of the accrued interest of the shareholder loan to PACE after 60 days once the Company has already received the Building 
Construction Certificate (A.6 Form) issued by the Department of Public Works and Town & Country Planning for the MahaNakorn project.  

 

Source: PACE Management Information and PACE’s filling (latest revised on 7 June 2013) 
 

Total assets 

As at 31 December 2013, PACE-2 had total assets of THB 3,496 million, which increased by THB 1,104 million 
from 2012 which was due to 1) an increase in construction in progress of The Ritz-Carlton Residences, a part of 
the MahaNakhon project for sale and lease, 2) an increase in cash and cash equivalents, and 3) an increase in 
land of MahaNakhon project where the Main Tower is situated. 

 

As at 31 December 2014, PACE-2 had total assets of THB 5,737 million, which increased by THB 2,241 million 
from 2013, mainly due to the increase in real estate project for sales under development as a result of the 
transfer of land costs to real estate project for sales under development as PACE-2 had received approval from 
the Board of Directors’ Meeting to purchase the land in the MahaNakhon project (previously recorded as 
leasehold rights on land as at 31 December 2013), the decrease of construction in progress of MahaNakhon 
project, leasehold rights on land and cash and cash equivalents.  As at 31 December 2014, major assets 
consisted of real estate project for sales under development which accounted for 90% of total assets. 

 

Total liabilities  

As at 31 December 2013, PACE-2 had total liabilities of THB 4,448 million, which increased by THB 1,376 
million from 2012 mainly due to the increase in long-term loans from financial institutions and deposits received 
from customers, resulting from reservation fees of residential condominium units and furniture of PACE-2. 



[ Translation ] 

Page 65 
 

As at 31 December 2014, PACE-2 had total liabilities of THB 6,888 million, which increased by THB 2,440 
million from 2013 mainly due to the increase in deposits received from customers and long-term loans from 
financial institutions.  Major liabilities consisted of shareholder loans and accrued interest, deposits received from 
customers and the current portion of long-term loans from financial institutions which were accounted for 91% of 
total liabilities. 

 

Equity 

As at 31 December 2013, equity of PACE-2 was a negative of THB 952 million, showing a higher negative 
balance of THB 272 million from 2012 due to operating losses. 

 

As at 31 December 2014, equity of PACE-2 was a negative of THB 1,151 million, showing a higher negative 
balance of THB 200 million from 2013 due to operating losses.  

 

Income statement of PACE-2 
  

(THB million) 

 
 2012 2013 2014 

   (Restated)     
Revenue        
Rental and service income  1.58  1.67  1.36  
Gain on foreign exchange - net  0.20  -  0.02  
Other income  1.09  2.36  1.13  
Total revenue  2.87  4.04  2.52  
Expenses        
Management fee  39.08  36.53  36.53  
Marketing expenses  21.93  37.54  43.44  
Selling expenses  53.81  144.34  97.63  
Administrative expenses  5.88  5.05  11.44  
Loss on foreign exchange - net  -  0.02  -  
Total expenses  120.71  223.48  189.03  
Loss before finance costs  (117.84) (219.44) (186.51) 
Finance costs  79.34  52.64  13.23  
Profit (Loss) for the year  (197.18) (272.08) (199.75) 

Source: Audited financial statement as at 31 December 2012, 2013 and 2014 
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Cash flow statement of PACE-2   (THB million) 

 
 2012 2013 2014 

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities  32.69  46.86  (456.71) 
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities  (75.31) (30.33) (1,324.66) 
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities  147.47  492.83  1,357.72  
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  104.85  509.37  (423.66) 
Source: Audited financial statement as at 31 December 2012, 2013 and 2014 and PACE management information 
 
The construction progress of the Main Tower under MahaNakhon project as at 31 December 2014 was 
approximately 41% completed. According to the management, the construction of foundation and main structure, 
which is a time consuming task, has been completed. The remaining work, including system and decoration, can 
be performed in parallel. Thus, it can be completed faster than the prior phase. 
  

There were 129 units of the Ritz-Carlton Residences Bangkok, as part of the MahaNakhon project, which had 
sales contracts with customers.  PACE-2 management expects to start some ownership transfers and to 
recognize revenue in the fourth quarter of 2015 and onward.   

 

Expenses 

In 2013, total expenses were THB 223 million, which increased by THB 103 million from 2012 due to the 
increase in selling expenses which mainly comprised sales commission and marketing expenses from public 
relations for the Ritz-Carlton Residences Bangkok. 

 

In 2014, total expenses were THB 189 million, which decreased by THB 34 million from 2013 due to the 
decrease of selling expenses mainly from sales commission. 

 

Finance costs 

In 2013, finance costs were THB 53 million, which decreased by THB 27 million from 2012, mainly due to the 
transfer of accrued interest in PACE-2 from IBC to PACE. 

 

In 2014, finance costs were THB 13 million, which decreased by THB 39 million from 2013, mainly due to the 
repayment of long-term loans from financial institutions. 

 

Net Profit (Loss)  

In 2013, PACE-2 had a net loss of THB 272 million.  And in 2014, PACE-2 also had a net loss of THB 200 
million. 
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1.9 Pace Project Three Co., Ltd. 

1.9.1 Corporate Information and Shareholders 

Corporate Information 

Company Name Pace Project Three Co., Ltd. (“PACE-3”) 

Type of Business 
Luxury lifestyle retail center with famous restaurant and drinks 
including: 

 1) Retail Cube in Cube tower, 1-7 floor 

 
2) Retail Hill in Main tower, 1-5 floor 
3) Sky Observation Deck in Main tower, 74-77 floor 

Company Registration 0105551020559 
Establishment Date 19 February 2008   
Registered Capital THB 100,000,000  
Paid-up Capital THB 100,000,000 

Registered Shares (Ordinary Share) 1,000,000 ordinary shares 

Issued Shares (Ordinary Share) 1,000,000 ordinary shares 

Par Value THB 100 per share 
Source: PACE management information 

 
Shareholders 

As at 31 December 2014, PACE-3’s shareholders were as follows: 
 

No. Name Number of Shares % Total Shares 
1. Pace Real Estate Co., Ltd.            500,000  50.00% 
2. Pace Development Corporation Public Co., Ltd.            340,000  34.00% 
3. IBC Thailand Ltd.            160,000  16.00% 

  Total 1,000,000 100.00% 
Source: Copy of list of shareholders’ names (Bor Aor Jor 5) of PACE-3 
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1.9.2 Board of Directors 

As at 31 December 2014, PACE-3’s board of directors comprised six directors as follows:  
 

No. Director Name 
1. Mr. Chotipol Techakraisri 
2. Mr. Sorapoj Techakraisri 
3. Mr. Chumpol Techakraisri 
4. Mrs. Zuzi Thamsarot 
5. Miss Anat Meniphaet 
6. Mr. Oren Chalusi 

Source: Copy of company affidavit of PACE-3 
 
1.9.3 Financial Highlights 

Summary of 3-Year Financial Position and Operating Results  
 

Statement of financial position of PACE-3 
  

(THB million) 
Assets   31 Dec 2012 31 Dec 2013 31 Dec 2014 
Current assets        
Cash and cash equivalents  21.71  186.73  34.31  
Unbilled trade account receivables from related companies  -  2.61  36.22  
Unbilled trade account receivables from other companies  -  -  1.55  
Interest receivable from related companies  1.85  -  -  
Refundable value added tax  5.75  15.22  32.13  
Other current assets  0.45  0.89  2.08  
Total current assets  29.76  205.46  106.30  
Non-current assets        
Long-term loans to related companies  320.00  -  -  
Deferred loan arrangement fee  6.25  -  -  
Leasehold rights on land – net  421.05  416.77  -  
Land  -  -  215.21  
Advances payment to contractors  36.50  23.96  71.88  
Construction in progress  416.18  709.16  432.97  
Property for lease – net  -  148.52  1,043.22  
Sale gallery, equipment and furniture - net  -  -  2.02  
Other non-current asset  -  0.05  0.05  
Total non-current assets  1,199.98  1,298.45  1,765.35  
Total assets  1,229.74  1,503.91  1,871.65  

Source: Audited financial statement as at 31 December 2012, 2013 and 2014 
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Statement of financial position PACE-3 (THB million) 

Liabilities and Equity  31 Dec 2012 31 Dec 2013 31 Dec 2014 
Current liabilities  

   
Trade account payables  33.04  57.11  79.89  
Payable for purchase of land  -  -  15.78  
Other payables to related companies  0.07  7.99  19.13  
Current portion of long-term loans from financial institutions  36.00  -  -  
Retention payables to contractors  6.24  14.14  16.20  
Other current liabilities  1.12  1.99  4.63  
Total current liabilities  76.46  81.22  135.62  
Non-current liabilities  

   
Deposits received from customers  -  4.35  8.13  
Long-term payable to related company  -  -  15.98  
Retention payable to contractor  0.51  3.45  6.43  
Long-term loans from financial institutions - net  664.00  554.34  643.83  
Shareholder loans and accrued interest  690.99  1,111.15  1,448.88  
Total non-current liabilities  1,355.49  1,673.29  2,123.25  
Total liabilities  1,431.95  1,754.51  2,258.88  
Equity  

   
Authorized share capital  100.00  100.00  100.00  

Issued and paid-up share capital  100.00  100.00  100.00  
Retained earnings (Deficit)  (302.21) (350.60) (487.23) 
Total equity  (202.21) (250.60) (387.23) 
Total liabilities and equity  1,229.74  1,503.91  1,871.65  

Source: Audited financial statement as at 31 December 2012, 2013 and 2014 
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Shareholder loans and accrued interest of PACE-3 
THB million 31 December 2014  

Principal Accrued Interest Total 
Pace Development Corporation Public Co., Ltd. 837.13  105.86  942.99  
IBC Thailand Ltd. 301.60  130.67  432.27  
Mr. Sorapoj Techakraisri -  58.25  58.25  
Fourteen Point Holdings -  15.37  15.37  
Total 1,138.73  310.15  1,448.88  

Note:  
1) On 11 August 2011, Mr. Sorapoj Techakraisri and Fourteen Points Holdings (“FPH”) (a company wholly owned by Mr. Sorapoj Techakraisri 

and FPH is a former shareholder of PACE-3 before PACE became a listed company) entered into the Novation Agreement to transfer the 
rights to receive a repayment of the principal of the shareholder loan amounted to THB 129.67 million and THB 31.59 million, respectively, 
to PACE. In return, PACE made payment of THB 129.67 million and THB 31.59 million, respectively, to Mr. Sorapoj Techakraisri and FPH 
by increasing its share capital.  

2) With reference to the Memorandum dated 25 January 2012, Mr. Sorapoj Techakraisri and FPH will transfer the rights to receive a 
repayment of the accrued interest of the shareholder loan to PACE after 60 days once the Company has already received the Building 
Construction Certificate (A.6 Form) issued by the Department of Public Works and Town & Country Planning for the MahaNakorn project.  

 

Source: PACE Management Information and PACE’s filling (latest revised on 7 June 2013) 
 

Total assets 

As at 31 December 2013, PACE-3 had total assets of THB 1,504 million, which increased by THB 274 million 
from 2012 which was due to 1) an increase in construction in progress of the Main Tower to operate luxury 
lifestyle retail center with famous restaurants and other facilities, as part of the MahaNakhon project, 2) cash and 
cash equivalents, and 3) property for lease. 

 

As at 31 December 2014, PACE-3 had total assets of THB 1,872 million, which increased by THB 368 million 
from 2013 mainly because property for the lease increased whilst leasehold rights on land and construction in 
progress of the retail center of MahaNakhon project decreased.  These were the major assets which accounted 
for 90% of total assets. 

 

Total liabilities 

As at 31 December 2013, PACE-3 had total liabilities of THB 1,755 million, which increased by THB 323 million 
from 2012 mainly from the increase in shareholder loans and accrued interest.  

 

As at 31 December 2014, PACE-3 had total liabilities of THB 2,259 million, which increased by THB 504 million 
from 2013 mainly from the increase in shareholder loans and accrued interest and long-term loans from financial 
institutions which accounted for 93% of total liabilities. 
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Equity 

As at 31 December 2013, equity of PACE-3 was a negative of THB 251 million, showing a higher negative 
balance of THB 48 million from 2012 due to operating losses. 

 

As at 31 December 2014, equity of PACE-3 was a negative of THB 387 million, showing a higher negative 
balance of THB 137 million from 2013 due to operating losses. 

 
Income statement of PACE-3 

  
(THB million) 

 
 2012 2013 2014 

Revenue        
Rental and service income  -  2.61  38.56  
Gain on foreign exchange - net  0.02  -  -  
Other income  1.24  0.31  0.07  
Total revenue  1.25  2.92  38.63  
Expenses        
Cost of rental and services  -  -  65.90  
Management fee  8.27  7.99  7.99  
Marketing expenses  0.19  1.57  1.52  
Selling expenses  -  -  12.54  
Administrative expenses  5.04  2.94  2.30  
Amortization of leasehold rights on land  -  0.57  -  
Loss on foreign exchange - net  -  0.23  0.36  
Total expenses  13.50  13.30  90.62  
Loss before finance costs  (12.25) (10.37) (51.99) 
Finance costs  46.47  38.02  84.64  
Profit (Loss) for the year  (58.72) (48.39) (136.63) 
Source: Audited financial statement as at 31 December 2012, 2013 and 2014 
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Cash flow statement of PACE-3 (THB million) 

 
 2012 2013 2014 

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities  (8.27) 1.16  (33.72) 
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities  (158.08) (35.69) (423.22) 
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities  (21.20) 199.55  304.51  
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  (187.55) 165.02  (152.42) 
Source: Audited financial statement as at 31 December 2012, 2013 and 2014 and PACE management information 
 
The construction progress of the luxury lifestyle retail center with famous restaurants and other facilities under 
MahaNakhon project as at 31 December 2014 were as follows:  
-  Retail Cube, located on 1-7 floor – the construction of the Main Tower is approximately 97% completed. The 

lease contracts have been made for approximately 65% of the leasable area. 
- Retail Hill, located on 1-5 floor – the construction of the Main Tower is approximately 47% completed. 
- Sky Observation Deck, located on 74-77 floor – the construction of the Main Tower is approximately 47% 

completed. 
 

Revenue 

In 2013, revenue from rental and service was THB 3 million. And in 2014, revenue was 39 million, which 
increased by THB 36 million from 2013 mainly from an increase in rental and services.  

 

Expenses 

In 2013, expenses were THB 13 million, which decreased from 2012 due to administrative expenses. 

 

In 2014, expenses were THB 91 million, which increased by THB 77 million from 2013 mainly from the increase 
in cost of rental and service and selling expenses. 

 

Finance costs 

In 2013, finance costs were THB 38 million, which decreased by THB 8 million from 2012 mainly due to the 
transfer of accrued interest in PACE-3 from IBC to PACE.  

 

In 2014, finance costs were THB 85 million, which increased by 47 million from 2013 mainly due to the increase 
in shareholder loans and accrued interest and long-term loans from financial institutions. 

 

Net Profit (Loss) 

In 2013, PACE-3 had a net loss of THB 48 million.  And in 2014, PACE-3 also had net loss which was THB 137 
million. 
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Section 2 Connected Transaction 

2.1 Nature and details of the transaction 

2.1.1 Nature and details of the transaction 

PACE shall acquire the ordinary shares of D&D Thailand and accept the rights to receive a repayment of the 
outstanding loan to D&D Thailand from Mr. Sorapoj Techakraisri totaling of THB 240 million in accordance with 
the following details: 

1) To acquire 999,998 ordinary shares of D&D Thailand (par value THB 100 per share) or 99.9998% of 
total share at the purchase price of THB 79 per share or THB 79 million in total; 

2) To accept the right to receive a repayment of the outstanding shareholder loan of THB 161 million (refer 
to management's financial statements of D&D Thailand as at 31 December 2014, D&D Thailand had 
outstanding loan from Mr. Sorapoj Techakraisri totaling of THB 161 million with no interest charged). 

 
The Company expects to complete the purchase of shares and the transfer of right to receive a repayment of the 
shareholder loan by 30 June 2015, in case the shareholders meeting which will be held on 27 April 2015 
approves the transaction. 
 
2.1.2 Detail of parties involved and the relationship with PACE 

Purchaser  :  Pace Development Corporation Public Company Limited  

Seller  :  Mr. Sorapoj Techakraisri, holds 999,998 shares of D&D Thailand or 99.9998% of total shares  

Relationships 
with PACE  

:  Mr. Sorapoj Techakraisri is the director and the major shareholder of PACE (53.81% of total shares 
as of 4 December 2014) and is considered as connected person of the Company 

 
2.1.3 Type and size of the transaction 

The transaction value for share acquisition and assignment of right to receive a repayment of outstanding 
shareholder loan is THB 240 million, based on the number of shares held by Mr. Sorapoj Techakraisri at the 
purchase price of THB 79 per share and the rights to receive a repayment of THB 161 million shareholder loan 
(refer to management's financial statements of D&D Thailand as at 31 December 2014, D&D Thailand had an 
outstanding loan from Mr. Sorapoj Techakraisri totaling of THB 161 million with no interest charged), which is 
greater than THB 20 million. However, with reference to PACE’s consolidated financial statements as of 31 
December 2014, the Company has negative Net Tangible Assets (“NTA”). Therefore, it is unable to calculate the 
transaction size based on the NTA method.  
 
The transaction is deemed as a connected transaction by the definition of the Notification of the SET Concerning 
the Connected Transactions with the total size of the transaction is greater than THB 20 million. Under the 
Notification of the SET Concerning the Connected Transactions, PACE shall propose to the shareholders 
meeting to consider for the approval of the transaction, which requires an approval of not less than three-fourths 
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of the total number of votes of the shareholders who attend the meeting and are eligible to vote, excluding the 
votes of the connected shareholders as follows: 
 
 

 
 
In addition, PACE must appoint an independent financial advisor to provide opinions on the reasonableness and 
the fairness of the transaction price and terms of the transaction to the shareholders. 
 
2.1.4 Change in shareholding structure from entering into the transaction 

Shareholding structure before entering into the transaction 
 
Shareholding structure as of 4 December 2014 (the book closing date) can be summarized as following: 
 

 
PACE entered into an Option Agreement with IBC Thailand Ltd. (“IBC”) and IDJ Holding Ltd. (“IDJ”) in order to 
acquire 1) shares of 1.17% of total shares in PACE-1, PACE-2, PACE-3 and 2.35% of total shares in PRE and 
the transfer of loan and accrued interest of 7.25% of total loan and accrued interest from IBC and 2) the right to 
purchase the remaining shares and the remaining loan and accrued interest. PACE made a payment totaling of 
USD 10 million or THB 326.35 million on 7 October 2014. However, the Company is currently in the process of 
changing the shareholding structure which it expects to be completed by March 2015. 
 

Connected Shareholders Remarks

No. of shares % Ownership Director Shareholder Director          

Mr. Sorapoj Techakraisri 1,105,312,550 53.81% x x x Seller

Mr. Sumate Techakraisri 102,000,000   4.97% x x Holds 1 share in D&D Thailand

Mr. Chotipol Techakraisri 24,000,000     1.17% x x x Holds 1 share in D&D Thailand

Mr. Chumpol Techakraisri 10,000,000     0.49% x Brother of Mr. Sorapoj 

Miss Saijai Snidvongs Na Ayudhya 200,000         0.01% Wife of Mr. Chotipol

Relationship

PACE D&D Thailand

PACE

PFR PCC YLP PRE

D&D Inc PACE-1

PACE-2

PACE-3

100%

100% 99.97 99.99%

67.68%

50%

50%

50%

34%

34%

34%

D&D Thailand

99.99% 53.81% 6.62% 39.57%

IDJ0.90%

IBC

31.42%

16%

16%

16%

Mr. Sorapoj Techakraisri
Other shareholders in 
Techakraisri family

Other shareholders
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Shareholding structure after entering into the Option Agreement can be presented as following:  
 

 
PACE’s general meeting of shareholders No. 1/2015 held on 8 January 2015 had a resolution to approve the 
acquisition of the ordinary shares of 14.83% of total shares in PACE-1, PACE-2, PACE-3 and 29.98% of total 
shares in PRE and the transfer of loan and accrued interest of 92.76% of the total loans and accrued interest 
from IBC with a total value of USD 59 million or THB 1,944.05 million. PACE will issue 542,722,500 newly 
issued ordinary shares to IBC and IDJ as the consideration of the acquisition of assets. PACE will complete such 
transaction by 31 March 2015 and change its shareholding structure by April 2015.  
 
Shareholding structure after the acquisition of assets is as following: 
 

 
Remarks: Other shareholders include IBC and IDJ 

PACE

PFR PCC YLP PRE

D&D Inc PACE-1

PACE-2

PACE-3

100%

100% 99.97 99.99%

70.02%

50%

50%

50%

35.17%

35.17%

35.17%

D&D Thailand

99.99% 53.81% 6.62% 39.57%

IDJ0.84%

IBC

29.15%

14.83%

14.83%

14.83%

Mr. Sorapoj Techakraisri
Other shareholders in 
Techakraisri family

Other shareholders

PACE

PFR PCC YLP PRE

D&D Inc. PACE-1

PACE-2

PACE-3

100% 99.97% 99.99%

100%

100%
50%

50%

50%

50%

50%

50%

D&D TH

99.99% 42.56%

Mr. Sorapoj Techakraisri
Other shareholders in 

Techakraisri family
Other shareholders

5.24% 52.20%
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By entering into the connected transaction, PACE will issue 64,690,027 additional ordinary shares to Mr. Sorapoj 
Techakraisri as the consideration for the acquisition of shares and assignment of rights to receive repayment of 
loans to D&D Thailand. Shareholding structure after the connected transaction can be presented as follows:  
 
Shareholding structure after the transaction 
 

 
 
For the clear group shareholding structure, PACE will indirectly hold shares in D&D Thailand through 
shareholdings in PFR. PFR is the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary and also the investment vehicle for the 
food and beverage business. Upon completion of the transaction, PACE will transfer 99.9998% of ordinary 
shares in D&D Thailand to PFR at cost and PFR will issue ordinary shares to be allocated to PACE as the 
consideration of the transfer of shares in D&D Thailand to PFR (Payment in kind) at par value of THB 100 per 
share. 
 
After the transaction, major shareholders of PACE is still the Techakraisri family with an increase in shareholding 
from 47.80% to 49.07% while shareholding of other shareholders shall be decreased from 52.50% to 50.93%. 

 
2.1.5 Detail of acquired assets 

PACE shall acquire shares and accept the rights to receive a repayment of outstanding loan from Mr. Sorapoj 
Techakraisri totaling THB 240 million, comprising of: 

1) 999,998 ordinary shares of D&D Thailand (par value THB 100 per share) or 99.9998% of total share with 
total value of THB 79 million; 

2) The right to receive a repayment of outstanding shareholder loans to D&D Thailand of THB 161 million 
(refer to management's financial statements of D&D Thailand as at 31 December 2014, D&D Thailand 
had outstanding loan from Mr. Sorapoj Techakraisri totaling of THB 161 million with no interest charged). 
 

General information of D&D Thailand is presented under Section 2.1.10 of this report. 

PACE

PFR PCC YLP PRE

D&D Inc.
PACE-1

PACE-2

PACE-3

100%

100% 99.97% 99.99%

100%

50%

50%

50%

50%

50%

50%

D&D TH

99.99%

Mr. Sorapoj Techakraisri
Other shareholders in 
Techakraisri family

Other shareholders

43.96% 5.11% 50.93%



[ Translation ] 

Page 77 
 

2.1.6 Total consideration value 

Total consideration value comprises of:  
1) The share value of D&D Thailand is based on the mutual agreement between the Buyer and the Seller 

and under the Share Purchase Agreement which the Board of Directors has considered and is of the 
opinion that the purchase price is reasonable compared to expected future benefits based on the 
Discount Cash Flow Valuation method (“DCF Valuation”). The key assumptions for the DCF Valuation 
are based on the exiting operation of D&D Thailand’s four stores at MahaNakron, Pak Venture, Sathorn 
Square, and Central Embassy together with the new store at EmQuartier in 2015 and growth potential 
from D&D Thailand’s new business Business-to-Business focusing on Hospitality Business in which 
D&D Thailand has exclusive rights in Thailand, Australia, China, Malaysia, Vietnam and Macau until 
2023. The present value of future operating cash flow is calculated by using the Weighted Average Cost 
of Capital (“WACC”) as the discount rate.   

2) The right to receive a repayment of outstanding shareholder loan to D&D Thailand of THB 161 million 
(refer to management's financial statements of D&D Thailand as at 31 December 2014, D&D Thailand 
had outstanding loan from Mr. Sorapoj Techakraisri totaling of THB 161 million with no interest 
charged). 

 
2.1.7 Terms of payment 

Terms of payment shall be as following: 
- As the consideration for the ordinary shares of D&D Thailand, PACE will issue 21,293,801 ordinary 

shares (par value at THB 1 per share) at an offer price of THB 3.71 per share (average closing price of 
the Company shares during the past 7 consecutive business days before 13 March 2015, the date 
which the Board of Directors resolved to propose the resolution to the shareholders) to Mr. Sorapoj 
Techakraisri with a total value of THB 79 million;   

- As the consideration for the assignment of rights to receive a repayment of THB 161 million (refer to 
management's financial statements of D&D Thailand as at 31 December 2014, D&D Thailand had an 
outstanding loan from Mr. Sorapoj Techakraisri totaling of THB 161 million with no interest charged), 
PACE will issue 43,396,226 shares (par value at THB 1 per share) at an offer price of THB 3.71 per 
share to Mr. Sorapoj Techakraisri with a total value of THB 161 million. 

 
The Company will complete the offering of the newly issued ordinary shares within 30 June 2015 and will file an 
application to the SEC for approval of the newly issued ordinary shares issued by the Company as consideration 
for the transaction as additional listed securities. 
 
2.1.8 Source of funds for financing the transaction 

PACE will pay the consideration of the acquisition assets totaling THB 240 million by issuing 64,690,027 newly 
issued ordinary shares at THB 3.71 per share which is based on the average closing price of the Company 
shares during the past 7 consecutive business days before the 13 March 2015 (the date which the Board of 
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Directors resolved to propose the resolution to the shareholders meeting) which is between 3 March 2015 and 
12 March 2015. Such price does not constitute an offer to sell shares at a lower price in accordance with the 
Notification of the Capital Market Supervisory Board No. Tor Chor. 28/2551 Re: Regarding the application and 
Permission for Offering New Shares and the Notification of The Securities and Exchange Commission No. Sor 
Chor. 39/2551 Re: Calculation of Securities Price and the Market Price to Consider the Sale of New Shares at 
Low Price. The additional share capital will be divided into: 

- 21,293,801 shares allocated to Mr. Sorapoj Techakraisri for purchase of ordinary shares in D&D 
Thailand, to be paid in shares or exchange of shares; 

- 43,396,226 shares allocated to Mr. Sorapoj Techakraisri for the assignment of rights to receive a 
repayment of shareholder loan of THB 161 million (refer to management's financial statements of D&D 
Thailand as at 31 December 2014, D&D Thailand had outstanding loan from Mr. Sorapoj Techakraisri 
totaling of THB 161 million with no interest charged), to be paid in cash because, according to the laws, 
shares cannot be exchanged with loans.  

 
The issuance of additional ordinary shares as source of funds for this transaction will lead to the control dilution 
at 2.43%. Details of calculation are presented under Section 2.2.2 (Disadvantages of the transaction) 
 
2.1.9 Key terms and conditions in entering the transaction 

The transaction is deemed as a connected transaction by the definition of the Notification of the SET Concerning 
the Connected Transactions with the total size of the transaction is greater than THB 20 million. To enter into the 
transaction, PACE must obtain the shareholder’s approval of not less than three-fourths of the total number of 
votes of the shareholders who attend the meeting and are eligible to vote (excluding the votes of the connected 
shareholders) with respect to the transaction, the capital increase, allocation of the newly issued ordinary shares 
of the Company, and other related transactions. In addition, PACE must obtain the consent from D&D Inc as a 
licensor granting the rights to D&D Thailand to operate café, beverage, and premium retailer under “Dean & 
Deluca” brand exclusively in Thailand. 
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2.1.10 Dean and Deluca (Thailand) Co., Ltd.  

2.1.10.1 Corporate Information and Shareholders 

Corporate Information 
Company Name Dean and Deluca (Thailand) Co., Ltd. 
Establishment Date 25 August 2008 
Type of Business Restaurants, beverages and retail 
Company Registration 0105551096261 
Registered Capital THB 100,000,000 as at 31 December 2014   
Paid-up Capital THB 100,000,000 as at 31 December 2014   
Registered Shares (Ordinary Shares) 1,000,000 ordinary shares as at 31 December 2014   
Issued Shares (Ordinary Shares) 1,000,000 ordinary shares as at 31 December 2014   
Par Value THB 100 per share 

Head Office 
No. 723 Teo Hong Silom Tower, 5th Floor, Silom Road, Silom, 
Bangrak, Bangkok, 10500 

Tel. 0-2635-1166 
Website www.deandeluca.co.th 
Source: D&D Thailand company’s affidavit and PACE management information 

 
Business overview and history 

Dean and Deluca (Thailand) Co., Ltd. (“D&D Thailand”) was incorporated as a limited company in Thailand on 
25 August 2008 under the name of Pace Project Four Co., Ltd. with the registered capital of THB 1 million 
consisting of ordinary shares of 10,000 shares at THB 100 per share.  On 6 June 2011, the company name was 
changed to Dean and Deluca (Thailand) Co., Ltd. and the registered share capital was subsequently increased 
to THB 20 million with the ordinary shares of 200,000 shares at THB 100 per share.  On 15 September 2014, 
D&D Thailand increased its registered share capital to THB 100 million consisting of the ordinary shares of 
1,000,000 shares at THB 100 per share. 

 

On 1 January 2010, Dean & Deluca Brands, Inc. (“D&D Brands, Inc”), which operates as a specialty food retail 
stores and cafes under the name “Dean & DeLuca” in the United States and is a subsidiary of D&D Inc, which 
entered into a Distribution and License Agreement to grant certain distribution rights and trademark usage rights 
to Pace Development Co., Ltd.  In return, D&D Brands, Inc collects license fee, fees for Dean & DeLuca 
products and a royalty fee. The agreement came into effect from 1 January 2010 and will continue for a period 
of 5 years after the date of first licensed shop that is a Dean & DeLuca market opening in the MahaNakhon 
Development Project.  No later than one year prior to the termination, Pace Development Co., Ltd. may at its 
option provide notice to D&D Brands, Inc of the intention to renew the agreement for an additional 5 year period. 
 

http://www.deandeluca.co.th/
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According to the fourth amendment to Distribution and License Agreement dated 8 July 2014, the opening date 
of the licensed shop that is a Dean & DeLuca market in the Cube was on 7 March 2014; however, the parties 
agreed that, only for the purposes of determining the date on which the initial term shall expire and the date by 
which Pace Development Co., Ltd. must exercise its renewal option, 31 December 2013 shall be used instead of 
the actual market opening date.  Therefore, the date of 31 December 2018 is the date on which the initial term 
shall expire; and the date of 31 December 2017 is the date by which Pace Development Co., Ltd. must provide 
written notice of its desire to exercise the renewal option. And the 4 th year after the date of first licensed shop, 
PACE Development Co., Ltd. shall have generated Net Sales of no less than USD 15 million, together with an 
increase of royalty payment from 4.5% to 5% of Net Sales, effective upon the commencement of the renewal 
term. 

 

Later a Novation Agreement was made to assign all rights and obligations under the Distribution and License 
Agreement and other related agreements subsequently made to D&D Thailand with the effective date from 1 
November 2014. 

 

D&D Thailand has the exclusive right to provide sub-license in Thailand and also the exclusive rights to distribute 
Dean & DeLuca product in hotels in agreed territory such as Thailand, Australia, China, Malaysia and Macau.  

 

Dean & DeLuca opened its first branch in Bangkok in 2010. The branch is located at MahaNakhon Project and is 
considered as the first branch in Southeast Asia. The next 2 branches were opened in Park Ventures Ecoplex 
building on Wireless Road and Sathorn Square Tower on Sathorn Road, respectively in 2011. In 2014, the fourth 
branch in Thailand was opened in Central Embassy and the fifth branch; which will be located at EmQuartier, is 
expected to be opened in 2015.  In addition, D&D Thailand is currently in the process of expanding its branches 
in Thailand and plans to open 2 new branches per year. The majority of its new branches will be the Cafés 
model which has a higher margin whilst the investment cost is relatively low.   
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Shareholders 

Shareholders of D&D Thailand from the list of shareholders issued on 15 September 2014 were as follows: 

No. Name Number of 
Shares 

% Total Shares 

1. Mr. Sorapoj  Techakraisri 999,998 100.00% 
2. Mr. Chotipol  Techakraisri 1 0.00% 
3. Mr. Sumet Techakraisri 1 0.00% 
  Total 1,000,000 100.00% 

Source: Copy of list of shareholders’ names (Bor Aor Jor 5) of D&D Thailand 
 

2.1.10.2 Board of Directors 

Board of directors from D&D Thailand’s company affidavit dated 25 November 2014 was as follows:  

No. Director name  
1 Mr. Sorapoj  Techakraisri 
2 Mr. Chotipol  Techakraisri 
3 Mr. Sumet Techakraisri 

Source: Copy of company affidavit of D&D Thailand 
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2.1.10.3 Financial Highlights 

Summary of 3-Year Financial Position and Operating Results  

Statement of Financial Position of D&D Thailand 
 

(THB million) 
Statement of financial position  31 Dec 2012 31 Dec 2013 31 Dec 2014 
Current assets       
Cash and cash equivalents 3.43  5.42  5.71  
Trade and other receivables 4.71  32.35  5.49  
Inventories 12.44  11.71  17.48  
Other current assets 0.30  3.26  4.66  
Total current assets 20.87  52.74  33.34  
Non-current assets       
Equipment – net  14.91  51.80  112.23  
Intangible assets – net 0.84  2.51  17.69  
Rental deposit 2.34  2.34  9.04  
Total non-current assets 18.09  56.65  138.96  
Total assets  38.96  109.39  172.30  

Current liabilities 
   

Bank overdrafts and short-term loans from financial institutions 4.96  11.98  -  
Trade and other payables 22.71  30.11  71.55  
Current portion of long-term loans 2.50  2.50  18.70  
Other current liabilities 0.75  0.78  0.43  
Total current liabilities 30.92  45.37  90.68  
Non-current liabilities 

   
Long-term loans from related parties 82.68  196.18  161.00  
Long-term loans from financial institutions 6.04  3.54  60.79  
Total non-current liabilities 88.72  199.72  221.79  
Total liabilities 119.64  245.09  312.47  
Shareholders’ equity 

   
Authorized share capital 20.00  20.00  100.00  

Issued and fully paid-up share capital 5.75  5.75  100.00  
Deficits (86.43) (141.44) (240.17) 
Total shareholders’ equity (80.68) (135.69) (140.17) 
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 38.96  109.39  172.30  

Source: Audited financial statements as at 31 December 2012 – 2013 and management’s financial statements as at 31 December 2014 
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Loans from related parties and accrued interest of D&D Thailand 
THB million   31 December 2014   

Principal Accrued Interest Total 
Directors 161.00  -  161.00  
Source: Management’s financial statements as at 31 December 2014 

Total assets 

As at 31 December 2013, D&D Thailand had total assets of THB 109 million, which increased by THB 70 million 
or 81% from 2012 mainly due to an increase in equipment of THB 37 million from an increase in work in 
progress for the fourth branch expansion at Central Embassy.  In addition, trade and other receivables also 
increased by THB 28 million from an increase of goods deposit. 

 

As at 31 December 2014, D&D Thailand had total assets of THB 172 million, which increased by THB 63 million 
or 58% from prior year mainly due to an increase in equipment of THB 60 million from the opening of the fourth 
branch in Thailand at Central Embassy.  In addition, there was an increase in intangible assets of THB 15 million 
mainly because D&D Thailand recorded the transferred licenses for Dean & DeLuca trademark usage rights from 
Pace Development Co., Ltd. as part of its intangible assets in 2014 amounting of THB 12.8 million.  

 

Total liabilities 

As at 31 December 2013, D&D Thailand had total liabilities of THB 245 million, which increased by THB 125 
million or 105% from prior year mainly due to an increase in long-term loans from related parties of THB 114 
million or 137% from 2012.  

 

As at 31 December 2014, D&D Thailand had total liabilities of THB 312 million, which increased by THB 67 
million or 27% from prior year mainly due to an increase in long-term loans from Bangkok Bank Public Co., Ltd. 
of THB 76 million and an increase in trade and other payables of THB 41 million as a result of higher number of 
branches.  Long-term loans from related parties decreased by THB 35 million from the balance in 2013.  

 

Equity 

Total shareholders’ equity as at 31 December 2013 had a higher negative balance from the prior year by THB 
55 million due to D&D had higher accumulated losses in 2013. 

 

Total shareholders’ equity as at 31 December 2014 had a higher negative balance from 2013 by THB 5 million 
resulting from an increase in accumulated losses of THB 99 million off-setting against an increase in issued and 
fully paid-up share capital in 2014 of THB 94 million from 2013.   
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Income statement of D&D Thailand 
 

(THB million) 
Statement of income 2012 2013 2014 
Revenues from sales 101.37  112.69  178.46  
Cost of sales (79.66) (77.62) (122.69) 
Gross profit 21.71  35.07  55.77  
Other income 0.10  0.17  0.09  
Profit before expenses 21.81  35.24  55.86  
Expenses 

  
  

Selling expenses (6.51) (7.35) (13.67) 
Administrative expenses (64.87) (81.95) (138.84) 
Loss on sales assets (0.39) (0.03)  (0.17) 
Loss on exchange rate -  -  (0.04) 
Total expenses (71.77) (89.32) (152.73) 
Profit (loss) before financial cost (49.96) (54.08) (96.87) 
Financial cost (1.01) (0.93) (1.86) 
Net profit (loss) (50.97) (55.02) (98.73) 

Source: Audited financial statements as at 31 December 2012 – 2013 and management’s financial statements as at 31 December 2014 

Revenues 

Total revenues of D&D Thailand in 2013 was THB 113 million, which increased by THB 11 million or 11% from 
2012 mainly due to an increase in revenues from sales of food and beverage and an increase in sales of 
hampers.  
 

Total revenues of D&D Thailand in 2014 was THB 178 million, which increased by THB 66 million or 58% from 
2013 mainly due to the opening of the fourth branch in Thailand at Central Embassy.  
 

Cost of sales and gross profit 

Cost of sales of D&D Thailand in 2013 and 2014 was THB 78 million and THB 123 million, respectively.  The 
higher cost of sales resulted from the increase in sales.  Gross profit margin was at 31% in both 2013 and 2014.  
 

Expenses 

Total expenses in 2013 increased by THB 18 million or 24% from 2012 which mainly due to an increase in 
administrative expenses of THB 17 million. 
 

Total expenses in 2014 increased by THB 63 million or 71% from 2013 which mainly due to an increase in 
administrative expenses of THB 57 million or 69%.  The increase in administrative expenses mainly resulted 
from the increase in salaries and other employee-related expenses especially for foreign management and staff, 
rental, service, depreciation and amortization expenses.    
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Net loss 

D&D Thailand had higher net losses in 2013 and 2014 by THB 4 million and THB 44 million, respectively, 
compared to prior years.  The higher net loss resulted from higher administrative expenses due to an increase in 
the number of staff for branch expansion as well as an increase in expatriates to assist in the management of 
the business.  
 

2.1.10.4 Industry Overview 

According to Kasikorn Research Center, premium coffee shops have been an attractive business in Thailand, 
with continued expansion due to the growing popularity of coffee drinking among Thais. In the past, traditional 
coffee and instant coffee were widely consumed and were an integral part of Thai culture; however, Thai 
consumer’s behavior is turning toward a more modern and a more sophisticated coffee drinking.  In addition, the 
infusion of western culture has played a major role in increasing demand for premium coffee. The success of 
premium coffee shops depends on location. They should be located in places frequently passed by the target 
customers, such as office buildings or service stations. They must be decorated for atmosphere and offer good 
service as well as coffee of consistently high standards. At THB 80 to THB 150 (2.40-4.60 USD) per serving, 
premium coffee is more expensive than other coffees. The quality of the coffee is thus paramount, so that 
consumers will not feel that drinking quality coffee in a pleasant atmosphere is too expensive.  According to the 
information from Euromonitor International 2015, it is expected that the market size of cafés/bars in Thailand will 
reach THB 222,000 million in 2015 and will increase to THB 230,000 million in 2018 as shown below.  

 
 

The categories of premium coffee shop customers have grown from business persons and tourists to include 
working-age people, now the principle target population. Students are increasingly patronizing these shops as 
well. Premium coffee shops may be either international franchises or Thai based. International franchises hold 
about 60% of the market and local-brand shops about 40%. Starbucks still maintains its lead among chained 

Source : Euromonitor International 2015 
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cafés/bars in Thai market share.  The research from Euromonitor International 2015 presented the market 
shares breakdown by company shares in the year 2013 which can be illustrated below. 

 
National brand owners and their brands are listed below. 

Company Name Brand 
Baan Rai Coffee House Co., Ltd. Café Baan Rai 
Blance Canyon Thailand Co., Ltd. Black Canyon  
Central Retail Corporation Ltd. Segafredo 
Charoen Pokphand Group Chester’s Coffee 
Coffee World Corp., Ltd. Coffee World 
Dean and Deluca (Thailand) Co., Ltd. Dean & Deluca 
McThai Co., Ltd. McCafé   
PTT Public Co., Ltd. Café Amazon 
Starbucks Coffee (Thailand) Ltd. Starbucks 
True Lifestyle Retail Co., Ltd. True Coffee 
Ultimate Beverage Products Co., Ltd. 94⁰Coffee 
Source: Passport by Euromonitor International   

 

Dean & DeLuca coffee shop is considered as a new chained cafés/bars in the Thai market. As there has been a 
growing popularity of coffee drinking among Thais especially teenagers and working-age people, premium coffee 
brand like “Dean & DeLuca” have a good opportunity to expand in the future.  
(Source : Kasikorn Research Center and Euromonitor International 2015) 
  

Source : Passport by Euromonitor International 
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2.2 Rational and Reasonableness of the Connected Transaction 

2.2.1 Objectives and Benefits of the Transaction 
With reference to the Distribution and License Agreement and all the Amendments, D&D Thailand has had an 
exclusive license to operate café, beverage, and premium retail under “Dean & Deluca” brand exclusively in 
Thailand since 2008 and up to 2023. As a result of the acquisition of D&D Inc on 4 November 2014 by PACE, 
D&D Inc, D&D Thailand, and the Company have become related entities under common shareholders and 
directors and are subject to related regulations on connected transactions which might cause conflict of interest.   
 
As PACE foresees an opportunity in investing in the food and beverage sector in Thailand as well as has an 
intention to directly control and manage D&D Thailand’s business, it is necessary for PACE to acquire the 
ordinary shares from a connected person which is Mr. Sorapoj Techakraisri; the major shareholder of D&D 
Thailand holding 99.9998% of total registered and paid-up shares, in order to gain the control over D&D 
Thailand. 
 
After the acquisition of shares of D&D Thailand and the assignment of the rights to receive a repayment of the 
outstanding shareholder loan, PACE will hold 99.9998% shares in D&D Thailand through shareholding in PFR, a 
wholly-owned subsidiary of PACE and also the investment vehicle for food and beverage business.  This will 
benefit the Company in having a clear group shareholding structure and to enhance the efficiency of the 
Company from a strategic perspective.  In addition, the restructure will reduce the conflict of interest that might 
incur from Mr. Sorapoj Techakraisri being director and major shareholder in both PACE and D&D Thailand.  
 
PACE will have an absolute control to operate directly the entire food, beverage and retail business under the 
“Dean & Deluca” trademark in Thailand. The Company will also have the exclusive rights to distribute Dean & 
Deluca products in hotels in agreed territories such as Thailand, Australia, China, Malaysia, Vietnam and Macau. 
This will provide more potential long-term growth in revenue to the Company than receiving only royalty fees as 
franchisor to D&D Thailand. 
 
2.2.2 Advantages and Disadvantages from Entering and Disregarding the Transaction 

Advantages of entering the transaction 

• Due to the acquisition of D&D Inc by PACE on 4 December 2014, D&D Inc, D&D Thailand, and the 
Company have become related parties and are subject to the related regulations on connected transactions.  
By entering into this transaction, PACE will have absolute control in Thailand’s operation which will enhance 
the operational flexibility and efficiency. 

• The current shareholding structure is complex; however, after the acquisition, PACE will hold shares in D&D 
Thailand through shareholding in PFR, a wholly-owned subsidiary of PACE and also the investment vehicle 
for food and beverage business. This will benefit the Company to have a clear group shareholding structure 
and to mitigate the conflict of interest that might incur in the future. 
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• As Mr. Sorapoj Techakraisri is a director and a major shareholder in both D&D Thailand and PACE (a 
parent company of D&D Inc) and as D&D Inc is a major material supplier and a product supplier to D&D 
Thailand, a conflict of interest arises which may lead to the concerns in the fairness of commercial terms 
and pricing. The acquisition of D&D Thailand can help reducing such potential conflict of interest and, 
inaddition, the Company may receive some economies of scale by sourcing of raw material and products in 
bulk which will lead to a decrease in unit cost of both D&D Inc and D&D Thailand.    

• PACE will have an opportunity to capture full revenue growth potential as being an operator of Thailand’s 
Dean & Deluca business and hospitality sales business in Thailand, Australia, China, Malaysia, Vietnam and 
Macau which will provide more benefit to the Company than receiving only royalty fee as franchisor to D&D 
Thailand. 

• By entering into this transaction, PACE expects to create a value added and a better return to the 
shareholders in the long run as a result of business synergy, economies of scale, opportunity to expand 
customer base, and product variety. 
 

Disadvantages of entering the transaction 

• PACE will issue 64,690,027 newly issued ordinary shares (par value of THB 1 per share) at the offer price 
of THB 3.71 per share to sell to a specific person under private placement.  This will increase PACE’s 
registered and paid-up capital from 2,596,988,170 shares (including 542,722,500 ordinary shares issued to 
IBC and IDJ as consideration for assets acquisition according to the resolutions of the shareholders’ meeting 
dated 8 January 2015) to 2,661,678,197 shares, resulting in the dilution of existing shareholders, by 2.43%. 

• The share capital increase will initially reduce PACE’s earning per share due to the increase in the number 
of issued and paid-up shares. However, the Company expects that, with the future business expansion and 
direct control in D&D Thailand, PACE will be able to create the higher operating revenue and return in the 
long run.   
 

Advantages of disregarding the transaction 

• If the Company does not enter into this transaction, it will neither require source of capital nor issuance of 
additional ordinary shares to increase capital from private placement.  Therefore, the existing shareholders 
will not be affected.  

 
Disadvantages of disregarding the transaction 
• PACE will lose an opportunity to expand its business that it directly operates D&D Thailand. In addition, it 

may cause the potential conflict of interest in the future.  
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2.2.3 Comparison of Advantages and Disadvantages from Entering and Disregarding the Transaction 
with Connected Person  

Advantages of entering the transaction with connected person 

• Based on the current shareholding structure, both D&D Inc (a subsidiary of PACE) and D&D Thailand have 
common shareholders and directors.  By having PACE as a major shareholder of both D&D Inc and D&D 
Thailand will reduce the connected business transactions as well as potential conflict of interest that may 
arise in the future.     

• Negotiations can be performed quickly within a shorter time frame as the transaction will be carried with the 
major shareholder and the management of the Company. 

• As PACE and D&D Thailand have the common group of shareholders and directors, their operation and 
related policies are already in the same direction. Therefore, the acquisition of D&D Thailand including the 
reorganization structure will not affect policy, business operation and culture of the organization.    

 

Disadvantages of entering the transaction with connected person 

• Entering the transaction with a connected person may lead to a doubt in fairness and appropriateness of the 
transaction; however, PACE has strictly complied with the related regulations on connected transactions 
issued by SEC.  The transaction will be reviewed and considered by the audit committee and has required 
an independent financial advisor to provide opinions to shareholders.  In addition, the entering of the 
transaction with the connected person requires approval with a vote of not less than three-fourths of the total 
number of votes of shareholders attending and eligible to vote at the meeting, excluding the votes of the 
connected shareholders.  This mechanism helps to increase the transparency of the transaction. 

 
Advantages of disregarding the transaction with connected person 

• If the Company does not enter into this transaction, it will not cause any concern on the negotiation power 
as well as the conditions of the transactions.  However, as this transaction is the acquisition of the ordinary 
shares in order to gain an absolute control in D&D Thailand, it is necessary for PACE to enter into the 
transaction with the connected person which is Mr. Sorapoj Techakraisri; the major shareholder of D&D 
Thailand. 

 

Disadvantages of disregarding the transaction with connected person 

• If the Company does not enter into this connected transaction, PACE will lose an opportunity to expand its 
business in Thailand as well as an opportunity to distribute Dean & Deluca products through hotels in 
Thailand, Australia, China, Malaysia, Vietnam and Macau. 

• Disregarding the transaction might create opportunity for future conflict of interest. 
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2.2.4 Other Factors to be Considered 

• Risk from current economic situation in Thailand which may impact the operational plan of D&D Thailand. 
• Risk that D&D Thailand’s performance may not meet with the business plan (for example: store expansion, 

profitability etc.) resulting in goodwill impairment which could negatively affect PACE’s consolidated financial 
statements as well as PACE’s financial ratios (for example: return on assets, return on equity etc.) due to 
net loss from operations of D&D Thailand. 
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2.3 Reasonableness of the price and conditions of the transaction 

PACE shall acquire shares and accept the rights to receive a repayment of outstanding loan from Mr. Sorapoj 
Techakraisri with following details: 

1) 999,998 ordinary shares of D&D Thailand (par value THB 100 per share) or 99.9998% of total shares; 
3) The right to receive a repayment of outstanding shareholder loan to D&D Thailand of THB 161 million 

(refer to management's financial statements of D&D Thailand as at 31 December 2014, D&D Thailand 
had outstanding loan from Mr. Sorapoj Techakraisri totaling of THB 161 million with no interest charged). 

 
To enter into the transaction, PACE must obtain the shareholder’s approval of not less than three-fourths of the 
total number of votes of the shareholders who attend the meeting and are eligible to vote (excluding the votes of 
the connected shareholders). In addition, PACE must obtain the consent from D&D Inc as a licensor granting the 
rights to D&D Thailand to operate café, beverage, and as a premium retailer under the “Dean & Deluca” brand 
exclusively in Thailand. 
  

Reasonableness of the Purchase Price 

In determining the appropriateness of the share price of D&D Thailand to be acquired by PACE. The IFA has 
considered the following approaches for the valuation of D&D Thailand’s ordinary shares.  

1) Book Value Approach 

2) Market Comparable Approach 

 P/BV Approach 

 P/E Approach 
3) Discounted Cash Flow Approach 
 
In determining share value of D&D Thailand, The IFA has taken into account the following information including 
historical performance of D&D Thailand during January 2012 to December 2014, business plan of D&D Thailand 
including store expansion plan, analysis on economic conditions and outlooks on related industries (i.e., retail 
stores and coffee stores) in our consideration of major assumptions applied in the financial projections. 
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2.3.1 Book Value Approach 

In determining the fair value of D&D Thailand’s using book value approach, the IFA referred to management’s 
financial statements for D&D Thailand for the year ended 31 December 2014. Calculation of book value per 
share is summarized in the following table.  
 

Book Value Approach 
Total Equity Value 

(THB million) 

Current assets 33.34 

Fixed assets 138.96 

Total assets 172.30 

Less Total liabilities 312.47 

Net book value  (140.17) 

Number of share (shares)  1,000,000 

Net book value (THB/Share) n/a 
Source: Management financial statement for the year ended 31 December 2014 

 
Since net book value of assets was less than that of liabilities, the net book value as at 31 December 2014 is 
negative. Such position results from investments and losses from operations in the earlier stages. In addition, the 
book value approach does not properly reflect the future economic benefits of D&D Thailand. Hence, D&D 
Thailand’s equity value cannot be determined by this approach.  
 
2.3.2 Market Comparable Approach 

The Market Comparable Approach is a relative valuation technique which applies key financial multiples of the 
companies comparable to D&D Thailand to D&D Thailand’s key value drivers such as earning or net book value. 
 

 
For comparable companies, the IFA selected publicly-listed companies in foreign countries who operated 
specialized retail stores and coffee stores. Our selection criteria were specialized retail stores which sell organic 
products, private-label products, and etc., and coffee stores which are deemed similar to D&D Thailand. 
However, our consideration does not extend to comparable companies whose information is insufficient and 
incomplete. The number of selected companies totaled 10 companies, based on the aforementioned selection 
criteria.    
 
In determining the share value of D&D Thailand using market comparable approach, the IFA multiplied the 
median book value multiple (P/BV approach) and earning multiple (P/E approach) of selected comparable 
companies calculated prior to 13 March 2015, the date on which PACE’s board of directors resolved to propose 
to PACE’s shareholder for their consideration and approval of the acquisition of shares in D&D Thailand, to book 
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value per share and earnings per share of D&D Thailand, respectively. Summary of fair value of equity 
consideration using market comparable approach are summarized as follows: 
 
1) P/BV Approach 
 

In determining the fair value of equity of D&D Thailand using P/BV approach, the IFA referred to management 
financial statements of D&D Thailand for the year ended 31 December 2014. Calculation of book value per share 
for estimating fair value of equity are summarized in the following table.  
 
 

P/BV approach 
Total Equity Value 

(THB million) 

Current assets 33.34 

Fixed assets 138.96 

Total assets 172.30 

Less Total liabilities 312.47 

Net book value  (140.17) 

Number of share (shares)  1,000,000 

Net book value (THB/Share) n/a 
Source: Management financial statement for the year ended 31 December 2014 

 
Since D&D Thailand continued investing in store expansion and marketing in Thailand in the past, D&D Thailand 
operated at a loss in 2014 and reported a negative net book value as at 31 December 2014. Hence, the fair 
value of equity using P/B multiple approach is not quantifiable.  
 
 

2) P/E Approach 
 

In determining the fair value of D&D Thailand’s equity using P/E approach, the IFA referred management’s 
financial statements of D&D Thailand for the year ended 31 December 2014. Calculation of earnings per share 
for estimating fair value of equity are summarized in the following table.   
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P/E Approach 
Total Equity Value 

(THB million) 

Total Revenue 178.55 

COGS (122.69) 

Gross profit 55.86 

Selling and administrative expenses (152.73) 

EBIT  (96.87) 

Financial costs (1.86) 

EBT (98.73) 
 Tax - 
 Net income (98.73) 
 Shares outstanding 1,000,000 

Earnings (Loss) Per Share (THB/Share) (98.73) 
 Source: Management financial statements as at 31 December 2014. 

 

Since D&D Thailand has operated at a loss in 2014, determining the fair value of equity of D&D Thailand using 
P/E multiples is not quantifiable. 
 

2.3.3 Discounted Cash Flow Approach 

The IFA assessed the market value of D&D Thailand, using the discounted cash flows method under going-
concern assumptions where there would be no material changes in current and future economic and industry 
conditions. The projection period is approximately 9 years (starting from 1 January 2015 to 31 December 2023). 
To project D&D Thailand’s future cash flow and determine the reasonableness of key operating assumptions, the 
IFA observed historical operating performance for 3 years (2012, 2013, and 2014), the financial projections 
prepared by D&D Thailand management, and current and future economic analysis and industry information.  
 
Discounted cash flows (“DCF”) is the valuation approach where projected future cash flows from D&D Thailand’s 
operation are discounted at appropriate discount rate to the valuation date. In assessing fair value of D&D 
Thailand, the IFA considered an after-tax weighted average cost of capital (“WACC”) the appropriate discount 
rate which is approximately 10% - 11% as presented in Section 2.3.1.3.2  
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2.3.3.1 Key Assumptions in Financial Projections of D&D Thailand 

The IFA has reviewed the financial projection for the period 2015 – 2023 and key assumptions used in the 
financial projections, which are based on the business plan of D&D Thailand as follows: 
 
In order to improve the efficiency and profitability, D&D Thailand is currently improving the operations of its 4 
existing stores, including Mahanakorn, Sathorn Square, Park Venture, and Central Embassy. D&D Thailand’s 
management informed us that the historical profitability of D&D Thailand was relatively low compared to that of 
Dean & Deluca in other countries due to the following reasons: (1) substantial investments and learning period 
during the earlier stages of operation; (2) higher cost from importing raw materials from overseas; (3) higher unit 
cost due to a limited number of stores; and (4) limited awareness of Dean & Deluca brand in Thailand. Hence, 
the historical performance of D&D Thailand is not indicative of its future performance. D&D Thailand expects that 
the efficiency and profitability should gradually improve to the stabilised level of Dean & Deluca in the other 
countries due to substantial experiences gained over the past few years, changes in raw material sourcing, and 
increasing brand awareness among the public and economies of scale from store expansion.    
 
In addition to improvement of existing stores and EmQuartier, D&D Thailand also plans to expand its stores 
using a combination of free cash flows from operations and shareholder’s loan.  D&D Thailand, according to its 
expansion plan, intends to open 8 stores consisting of 2 large-scale coffee stores, equivalent to EmQuartier, and 
6 small-scale coffee stores, equivalent of Park Venture during 2016 – 2019. 2 large-scale coffee stores are 
expected to commence their operations in 2016 and 2017. 
 
Store expansion is expected to increase not only in revenue but also the profitability. Higher levels of profitability 
should result from (1) greater economies of scale; (2) cost reduction from greater efficiency by employees and 
management; (3) increases in bargaining power with various suppliers; and (4) enhancing brand awareness. It is 
imperative for D&D Thailand to continue expanding its store numbers in order to leverage on the brand of Dean 
& Deluca and sustain long-term profitability. 
  
Key assumptions used for preparing the D&D Thailand’s financial projection are as follows: 
 
Revenue Forecasts 

D&D Thailand’s revenues  are from operating coffee stores, retail stores, and direct sales of Dean & Deluca 
products to hotels in designated territories. By the end of 2015, D&D Thailand will operate a total of 5 stores, 
consisting of 3 coffee stores (Park Venture, Sathorn Square, and EmQuartier) and 2 retail stores (Mahanakorn 
and Central Embassy). The expected commercial operation date of EmQuartier is April 2015. Historical and 
projected same-store sales growth of the 5 stores during 2015 – 2023 are summarized in the following table: 
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D&D Thailand believes that the same-store sales growth (“SSSG”) of Mahanakorn and Central Embassy will be 
15% in Year 1, declines to 5% per annum during Year 2 – Year 3, and stabilizes at 4% in Year 4 onwards 
because Mahanakorn underwent relocation in 2014 and Central Embassy just opened in 2014. Similar to 
Mahanakorn and Central Embassy, EmQuartier is expected to commence operation in April 2015 will exhibit the 
same growth patterns 
 

D&D Thailand believes that the same-store sales growth of Sathorn Square stabilizes at 4% during 2015 to 2023 
since its operation has entered into Year 4, and that of Park Venture increase by 10% in 2015 for the sales in 
2014 was affected by the political protests and stabilize at 4% in 2016 - 2023.   
 

Since investment in coffee store expansion offers higher rates of return and requires a smaller amount of capital 
expenditure and setup time, D&D Thailand intends to expand 2 coffee stores per annum – one in April and 
another in August – in the central business district (“CBD”) such as Central World, Siam Paragon, Icon Siam, 
Benz Thonglor, Blueport Hua-Hin, and etc. between 2016 – 2019. Of the total 8 additional coffee stores, 2 stores 
are set to be large-scale stores whose commercial operation are expected in April of 2016 and 2017, and 6 
stores are set to be small-scale stores whose commercial operation are expected in April and August between 
2016 – 2019. Expansion plan and forecasts of base revenue and same-store sales growth for large-scale and 
small-scale stores for additional 8 stores are summarized in the following table: 
 

 
Source: PACE management information 
 
 

 
 

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

Same-store sales growth

Mahanakorn 8% 4% 50% 15% 10% 5% 4% 4% 4% 4% 4% 4%

Park Venture -            13% (3)% 10% 4% 4% 4% 4% 4% 4% 4% 4%

Sathorn Square -            82% 11% 4% 4% 4% 4% 4% 4% 4% 4% 4%

Central Embassy -            -           -           15% 10% 5% 4% 4% 4% 4% 4% 4%

EmQuartier -            -           -           -            15% 10% 5% 4% 4% 4% 4% 4%

Historical Forecast

Unit: Stores

2016 2017 2018 2019

Additional stores

2 large-scale stores 1               1               -            -            

6 small-scale stores 1               1               2               2               

Total additional stores 2                   2                   2                   2                   

Forecast

Base Year Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5 onwards
Revenue from additional stores

2 large-scale stores 54.6           15% 10% 5% Stable at  4% p.a.
6 small-scale stores 35.0           10% 5% 4% Stable at  4% p.a.

*Base revenue forecast grows at 4% p.a.

Forecast
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D&D Thailand believes that the base revenue forecasts be THB 35m for small-scale coffee stores and THB 55m 
for large-scale coffee stores. Revenue forecasts of small-scale coffee stores in base year are based on the 
revenue of Park Venture in 2014, and the revenue forecasts of large-scale coffee stores in base year are based 
on the average number of patrons and average spending per head during 2014 of Park Venture and Central 
Embassy. Base revenue forecasts are projected to grow by 4.0% per annum from 2014.  
 
In addition to base revenue forecasts, D&D Thailand believes that same-store sales growth for large-scale stores 
during high-growth period (Year 2 – Year 4) is 15%  in Year 2 and gradually declines by 5% per annum during 
Year 3 and Year 4, and maintains the same-store sales growth at 4% per annum in the stable growth period 
(Year 5 onwards).  Same-store sales growth for small-scale stores during the high-growth period are projected to 
grow by 10% and 5% during Year 2 and Year 3, and maintain a 4% per annum in stable-growth period (Year 4 
onwards)  
 
In addition to sales from store operations, D&D Thailand intends to start a direct sales business with leading 
hotels (“B2B”) in designated territories (i.e. Hong Kong, Macau, Australia, Vietnam, and etc.) and projects that 
the proportion of B2B revenue to total revenue will gradually increase from 3% in 2015 to 7% in 2023, which are 
the current proportion of B2B revenues in Singapore and Japan. Projected proportions of B2B revenue during 
2016 – 2023 are summarized in the following table:   
 

 
 
Based on aforementioned assumptions, historical and projected revenue during 2012 – 2023 are summarised as 
follows:  
 

 
 

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

B2B revenue/Total revenue 3% 4% 5% 5% 6% 6% 6% 7% 7%

Forecast

Unit: THB Million

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

Revenue from stores

Mahanakorn 63.85 66.35 99.74 114.70 126.16 132.47 137.77 143.28 149.01 154.97 161.17 167.62

Park Venture 32.01 36.29 35.22 38.75 40.30 41.91 43.59 45.33 47.14 49.03 50.99 53.03

Sathorn Square 5.51 10.05 11.17 11.62 12.09 12.57 13.07 13.60 14.14 14.71 15.29 15.90

Central Embassy -            -           32.33 55.77 61.34 64.41 66.99 69.67 72.45 75.35 78.36 81.50

EmQuartier -            -           -           31.86     62.80    69.08    72.54    75.44    78.46    81.60    84.86    88.25      

Revenue from existing stores 101.37 112.69 178.46 252.69 302.69 320.45 333.95 347.31 361.21 375.65 390.68 406.31

2 large-scale stores -            -           -           -            42.60 109.62 139.78 150.16 156.92 163.19 169.72 176.51

6 small-scale stores -            -           -           -            15.17    55.81    129.62   221.83   271.97   283.75   295.10   306.90    

Revenue from additional stores -                -               -               -                57.76      165.43   269.39   371.99   428.88   446.94   464.82   483.41     

Total revenue from stores 101.37     112.69   178.46   252.69    360.46   485.88   603.35   719.31   790.09   822.59   855.50   889.72     

B2B revenue -            -           -           7.82       15.02    25.57    31.76    45.91    50.43    52.51    64.39    66.97      

Total revenue 101.37     112.69   178.46   260.50    375.48   511.45   635.10   765.22   840.52   875.10   919.89   956.69     

Remark: Historical information is management information, and might differ from audited financial information

ForecastHistorical
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Gross Profit Margin (“GPM”) 
 

Historically, D&D Thailand’s GPM was approximately 30%, this level was considered relatively low, compared to 
that of peer companies at a range of 45% - 60% and its comparable Dean & Deluca stores in other countries 
whose an average stabilized GPM was 60% for coffee stores and 51% for retail stores.  
 
D&D Thailand informed us that such comparatively lower GPM resulted from high loss ratio (spoilage, wastes, 
and loss) in th past. In 2012, the loss ratio were as high as 15% – 17% of total revenue; however, as D&D 
Thailand becomes more experienced and continued improving its store operations, such losses have gradually 
declined to approximately 8% - 9% in 2014. Hence, D&D Thailand expects that its loss ratio will gradually 
decline by 3% per annum during 2015 – 2017 until the loss ratio reaches 2% of revenue where the loss ratio is 
expected to stabilize. In addition, IFA has also considered the GPM during January – February 2015 in our 
projection of GPM, and found that the GPM during such period has increased from the level of 2014, 41% - 45% 
for retail stores and 47% - 50% for coffee stores.  
  
In addition to a reduction in loss ratio, D&D Thailand expects that its profitability is likely to improve as a 
consequence of an increase in bargaining power and economies of scales from the store expansion. Historical 
and projected GPM for stores during 2012 – 2023 are summarized in the following table:  
 

 
 
With the reduction in the loss ratio and improvement in profitability, D&D Thailand projects that the GPM of the 4 
existing stores will expand at 5% - 7% per annum from GPM level (after non-recurring loss adjustment) in 2014 
which is consistent with an actual performance during January – February 2015. However, D&D Thailand 
believes that the highest GPM will not exceed 56% for coffee stores and 48% for retail stores. Such sustainable 
GPM estimates are referred to the stabilized GPM of D&D Inc.     
 
For coffee stores which are expected to commence their operations during 2016 – 2019, D&D Thailand referred 
to GPM forecasts based on GPM patterns of Park Venture during 2014 - 2017 
 

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

GPM - existing stores

Mahanakorn 22% 25% 27% 40% 43% 45% 47% 48% 48% 48% 48% 48%

Park Venture 35% 38% 42% 50% 55% 56% 56% 56% 56% 56% 56% 56%

Sathorn Square 22% 39% 45% 51% 56% 56% 56% 56% 56% 56% 56% 56%

Central Embassy -            -           35% 43% 48% 48% 48% 48% 48% 48% 48% 48%

EmQuartier -            -           -           45% 50% 55% 56% 56% 56% 56% 56% 56%

GPM - additional stores Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5

2 large-scale stores -            -           -           45% 50% 55% 56% Maintain at 56%

6 small-scale stores -            -           -           45% 50% 55% 56% Maintain at 56%

GPM - B2B revenue 46% 46% 46% 46% 46% 46% 46% 46% 46%

Remark: Historical information is management information, and might differ from audited financial information

Historical Forecast
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For Dean & Deluca products, D&D Thailand believes that the weighted GPM is 46% - the level which is lower 
than the GPM of D&D Inc. can achieve.   
 
Selling and administrative expenses 
1) Selling expenses 
Major selling expense is contractual royalty fees paid to D&D Inc. According to the distribution and license 
agreement (including amendments), the contractual royalty rate is 4.5% of net revenue between 2015 – 2018 
and will increase to 5% of net revenue during 2019 – 2023 upon the agreement renewal.   
 
Other selling expenses comprised expenses for promotion, advertising, marketing, and printing brochures for 
distribution. Such expenses were relatively insignificant, compared to total sales of D&D Thailand. D&D Thailand 
revises the total other selling expenses in 2015 to THB 2.0m, based on historical information during 2012 – 
2013, and estimates the growth rate for other selling expenses at 3.0% per annum.  
 
Historical and projected selling expenses during 2012 – 2013 are summarized in the following table:  
 

 

 
2) Administrative expenses 

Administrative expenses comprised rental expenses, employee compensation, depreciation and amortization, 
and other administrative expenses. Historical and forecasted administrative expenses during 2012 – 2023 are 
summarized in the following table: 

 

 

  

Unit: THB Million

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

License fee 5.34       6.03      8.83      11.72     16.90    23.02    28.58    38.26    42.03    43.76    45.99    47.83      

Other selling expenses 1.17       1.32      4.85      2.00       2.06      2.12      2.19      2.25      2.32      2.39      2.46      2.53       

Total selling expenses 6.51          7.35        13.67      13.72       18.96      25.14      30.77      40.51      44.34      46.14      48.45      50.37       

Remark: Historical information is management information, and might differ from audited financial information TRUE TRUE TRUE TRUE TRUE TRUE

Historical Forecast

Unit: THB Million

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

Rent 7.15       7.27      24.11    35.50     50.81    65.28    76.93    85.23    91.73    95.05    97.15    101.65    

Employee compensation 40.86      57.25    76.82    40.75     47.77    55.42    61.62    67.79    71.31    73.45    75.66    77.92      

Depreciation 5.15       4.13      10.23    29.31     38.55    43.57    47.78    46.11    35.88    30.67    24.35    17.14      

Other administrative expenses 12.65      13.64    27.69    31.26     41.30    56.26    63.51    76.52    84.05    87.51    91.99    95.67      

Total administrative expenses 65.80       82.29      138.84   136.82    178.44   220.53   249.84   275.66   282.98   286.68   289.14   292.39     

Remark: Historical information is management information, and might differ from audited financial information

Historical Forecast
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a) Rental expenses 

Rental expenses of D&D Thailand consisted of fixed rental expenses (“Fixed Basis”) and variable rental 
expenses where rental expenses are charged as a certain percentage of sales (“GP Basis”)  

 
Fixed rental expenses are applicable to the 4 stores (Mahanakorn, Sathorn Square, Park Venture, and Central 
Embassy) and the other 6 small-scale coffee stores which are expected to commence their operations between 
2016 – 2019. For existing 4 stores, the projected rental expenses are based on the contractual rentable areas 
and rent rates. For the other 6 small-scale coffee stores, the base rental rate is estimated to be THB 2.5m (in 
line with that of Park Venture) per annum for the 1st operating years, and the growth rate of base rental rate to 
be 3.0% per annum from 2016. In addition, D&D Thailand determines that rental agreement for the 4 existing 
stores and the other 6 small-format coffee stores will be renewed every 3 years after their commercial operation 
date and that the rent rate will increase by 10% upon renewal. 

 
Variable rental expenses (“GP Basis”) are applicable to the store at EmQuartier and other 2 large-scale coffee 
stores which are expected to commence their operations in 2016 and 2017. Projected rental expenses are 
calculated based on the actual contractual GP rate of the store at EmQuartier.   

 

Historical and projected rental expenses during 2012 – 2023 are summarized in the following table:  

 
 
 

b) Employee Compensation 

Employee compensation at D&D Thailand is expected to decrease from THB 76.8m in 2014 to THB 37.6m in 
2015 due to the relocation of 32 employees, expatriates, and management whom D&D Thailand hired to set up 
stores and operate in the earlier stages. D&D Thailand considers that the growth rate for employee 
compensation without an increase in number of staff should be 3% per annum, according to the long-term 
inflation rate. According to management, 149 employees are sufficient for operating 4 stores efficiently. 

Unit: THB Million

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

Rent - existing stores

Mahanakorn 1.67       1.67      12.65    18.61     24.08    26.49    26.49    26.49    29.14    29.14    29.14    32.05      

Park Venture 4.19       3.81      3.90      4.47       4.47      4.47      4.92      4.92      4.92      5.41      5.41      5.41       

Sathorn Square 1.28       1.79      1.79      1.21       1.21      1.21      1.33      1.33      1.33      1.46      1.46      1.46       

Central Embassy -            -           5.77      7.83       8.22      8.63      9.50      9.50      9.50      10.45    10.45    10.45      

EmQuartier -            -           -           3.38       7.23      8.81      9.25      9.62      10.00    10.40    10.82    11.25      

Total rent - existing stores 7.15          7.27        24.11      35.50       45.21      49.61      51.48      51.85      54.88      56.86      57.27      60.62       

 Rent - additional stores

2 large-scale branch -            -           -           -            4.53      11.99    17.03    19.15    20.01    20.81    21.64    22.50      

6 small-scale branch -            -           -           -            1.07      3.68      8.41      14.23    16.84    17.39    18.23    18.53      

Total rent - additional stores -                -               -               -                5.60        15.67      25.45      33.38      36.85      38.19      39.87      41.03       

Total rent 7.15          7.27        24.11      35.50       50.81      65.28      76.93      85.23      91.73      95.05      97.15      101.65     

Remark: Historical information is management information, and might differ from audited financial information TRUE TRUE TRUE TRUE TRUE TRUE

Historical Forecast
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For future stores and EmQuartier, D&D Thailand believes that the average employee compensation should be 
THB 20,000/person/month in 2015 with a growth of 3% per annum, and the number of employee required for 
small-scale stores and large-scale stores are 8 and 16 per store, respectively. In addition to compensation, D&D 
Thailand has set aside training expenses equal to 1 month of employee compensation in the 1st year of 
operation. Assumptions regarding employee compensation and training expenses during forecast period are 
summarized in the following table: 
 

 

 

Historical and forecasted employee compensation of existing and future branches during 2015 – 2023 are 
summarized in the following table:  
 

 
 

c) Depreciation and Amortization 

Depreciation and amortization is calculated based on the remaining net book value of tangible and intangible 
fixed assets of THB 22.0m of D&D Thailand as at 31 December 2013.  Depreciation from capital expenditure are 
calculated on a straight-line basis with the estimated useful life of 3 – 5 years.  
 
Historical and forecasted depreciation and amortization during 2012 – 2023 are summarized in the following 
table: 
 

 

Base Year Year 1 Year 2 Year 3

Salary 20,000      3% 3% 3% Maintain at 3% p.a.

Training 1 month of salary in base year
*Base salary forecast grows at 3% p.a.

Forecast

Year 4 on wards

Unit: THB Million

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

Salary - existing stores 40.86      57.25    76.82    37.62     38.75    39.91    41.11    42.34    43.61    44.92    46.26    47.65      

1st operating yearYear 1 -         -        -        3.13       3.20      3.39      -        -        -        -        -        -         

2nd operating year and onwardsYear 2 and onwards -         -        -        -        4.84      9.06      13.53    13.93    14.35    14.78    15.22    15.68      

Total salary - 2 large-scale stores -            -          -          3.13         8.04        12.45      13.53      13.93      14.35      14.78      15.22      15.68       

1st operating yearYear 1 - - - - 0.99      1.02      2.80      2.88      -        -        -        -         

2nd operating year and onwardsYear 2 and onwards - - - - - 2.04      4.20      8.64      13.35    13.76    14.17    14.59      

Total salary - 6  small-scale stores -            -          -          -           0.99        3.06        6.99        11.53      13.35      13.76      14.17      14.59       

Total salary 40.86       57.25      76.82      40.75       47.77      55.42      61.62      67.79      71.31      73.45      75.66      77.92       

Remark: Historical information is management information, and might differ from audited financial information TRUE TRUE TRUE TRUE TRUE TRUE

Historical Forecast

Unit: THB Million

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

Amortisation of intangible assets -            -           -           2.56       2.56      2.56      2.56      2.56      -           -           -           -            

Depreciation of existing assets 5.15       4.13      10.23    6.15       6.13      2.92      0.07      -           -           -           -           -            

Depreciation from capital expenditures -            -           -           20.59     29.86    38.09    45.14    43.55    35.88    30.67    24.35    17.14      
Total amortisation and depreciation 5.15          4.13        10.23      29.31       38.55      43.57      47.78      46.11      35.88      30.67      24.35      17.14       

Remark: Historical information is management information, and might differ from audited financial information

Historical Forecast



[ Translation ] 

Page 102 
 

d) Other administrative expenses 

Other administrative expenses comprise expenses for utilities, consumables, and other expenses. D&D Thailand 
forecasts that other administrative expenses to be 10% - 11% of total revenue during 2015 – 2023, based on 
historical percentage of other administrative to sales of 11% - 12% between 2012 – 2013.  

 
Historical and forecast other administrative expenses during 2012 – 2023 are summarized in the following table 

 

 
 

e) Corporate income tax 

Corporate income tax of D&D Thailand is charged at 20% of pretax earnings. Due to losses carried forward 
between 2012 – 2014, D&D Thailand expects that profits made during 2017 – 2019 will not be taxable. Historical 
and forecasted corporate income tax during 2015 – 2023 are summarized in the following table: 

 

 
 

f) Net working capital 

Net working capital is the difference between current assets and current liabilities. D&D Thailand estimates the 
days receivable outstanding (“DSO”) for revenue from stores at zero and 45 days for B2B revenue, days 
inventory outstanding (“DIO”) of 50 days, and days payable outstanding (“DPO”) of 75 days (including billing 
period). Other current assets and liabilities are estimated at 2.5% and 4% of total revenue, respectively. 
Estimates of DSO and DPO are based on normal credit terms granted / received. Estimates of DIO and 
percentages of current assets and liabilities are based on historical data during 2013 – 2014. Projection of 
working capital required are summarized in the following table:  
 

 

 

  

Unit: THB Million

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

Other administrative expenses 12.65      13.64    27.69    31.26     41.30    56.26    63.51    76.52    84.05    87.51    91.99    95.67      

Remark: Historical information is management information, and might differ from audited financial information TRUE TRUE TRUE TRUE TRUE TRUE

Historical Forecast

Unit: THB Million

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

Corporate income tax -         -        -        -        -        -        -        -        18.29    21.22    24.31    26.62      

Remark: Historical information is management information, and might differ from audited financial information

Historical Forecast

Unit: THB Million

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

Net change in net working capital 9.55       4.34      5.01      4.67      4.10      2.56      1.00      0.62      1.41       

Forecast
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g) Capital expenditures 

Capital expenditures are expenditures for store expansion, store and office maintenance, and renovation of 
EmQuartier.  

 

D&D Thailand plans to expand its number of stores using a combination of free cash flows from operation and 
shareholder’s loan and estimated expansionary capital expenditure of THB 25m and THB 10m for large-scale 
coffee stores and small-scale coffee stores (such estimates are based on actual capital expenditures of 
EmQuartier and Park Venture), and adjusted with the growth rate of 3% per annum (long-term inflation rate) from 
2016 onwards.  

 

D&D Thailand estimated capital expenditure of 1% of total sales per annum for store maintenance, and THB 
0.67m for office maintenance with a growth rate of 3% per annum. 

 

D&D Thailand needs to renovate the store at EmQuartier in 2020. D&D Thailand estimates that capital 
expenditure required for the renovation is THB 5m. 

  

Projected capital expenditure during 2016 – 2023 are summarized as follows: 

 

  

Unit: THB Million

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

Capital expenditures

 - Store expansion 25.00     36.05    37.13    21.85    22.51    -           -           -           -            

 - Maintenance for branches 2.61       3.75      5.11      6.35      7.65      8.41      8.75      9.20      9.57       

 - Maintenance for office 0.67       0.69      0.71      0.73      0.75      0.78      0.80      0.82      0.85       

 - Renovation -            -           -           -           -           -           -           5.00      -            

Total capital expenditure 28.27       40.49      42.96      28.94      30.92      9.18        9.55        15.02      10.41       

Forecast
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2.3.3.2 Discount Rate 

The discount rate used in determining the present value of expected cash flows from D&D Thailand is weighted 
average cost of capital (“WACC”), based on the required return on equity (“Ke”), expected cost of debt (“Kd”), and 
target debt-to-equity ratios. The WACC calculation formula is as follows: 
 

WACC  = (We) Ke  + (Wd) Kd (1-t) 
 

where   Ke =       Return on equity calculated by using Capital Asset Pricing Model 
(CAPM) as in the details mentioned below 

Kd =       Cost of debt for D&D Thailand is MLR - 1%. As at 31 December 
2014, MLR – 1% is equal to 5.75%, representing a market interest 
rate that the comparable companies can borrow 

t =       Corporate income tax of 20.0% 

We =       Target market value of equity to total market value of invested capital 
of 67% 

Wd =       Target market value of interest-bearing debt to total market value of 
invested capital of 33% 

 

Ke is derived from the CAPM with the following formula: 
 

Ke   =    Rf + ß (Rm - Rf) 
 

where: 
• Risk free rate (Rf), referred from 10-year government bond yield, which is 2.95% per annum (from TBMA as 

of 29 December 2014) 
• Beta (ß) calculated from the median value of Unlevered Beta from the comparable companies (companies 

from section 2.3.1.3 Market comparable approach), which equals to 0.95 (from Bloomberg as at 31 
December 2014 which was calculated from 2 years historical market return and stock index return on a 
weekly basis), and adjusted with the target market value of interest-bearing debt to total market 
capitalization of 33 : 67, yielding a Relevered Beta of 1.32. 

• Market return (Rm) is derived from the average rate of return from the investment in the SET. The market 
return from Bloomberg is an implied market return by using Dividend Discounted Model, infinite forecasts 
and share prices of securities listed on the SET in that period. The SET market return as of 31 December 
2014 was 11.27% per annum.  Hence, IFA applied a range of Rm of 10.7% to 11.7%. 

• Hence, the cost of equity (“Ke”) equal to 13.0% to 15.0%. 

• WACC (after-tax), based on cost of equity of 13.0% - 15.0%, equals to 10.0% - 11.0% and used as discount 
rates for D&D Thailand.  
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2.3.3.3 Summary of Projected Free Cash Flows to Firm 

Projected free cash flows to firm during 2016 – 2023 are the summarized the following table: 

  
 

The business value of D&D Thailand at after-tax WACC of 10% - 11% ranged from THB 309 million – THB 329 
million (rounded). The equity, the business value less total borrowing of THB 240 million, ranged from THB 68m 
– THB 89m (rounded). The fair value of equity of D&D Thailand is summarized in the following table: 
  

 
 
 

In addition, IFA has performed sensitivity analysis on the equity value of D&D Thailand by varying the discount 
rate by 1.0%. Equity value at discount rate of 9% - 12% is summarized in the following table:  
 

 
 

Unit: THB million

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

Total revenue 260.50    375.48    511.45    635.10    765.22    840.52     875.10    919.89    956.69    

Total COGS (147.36)   (198.45)   (260.84)   (313.06)   (369.88)   (398.90)    (409.67)   (430.35)   (447.57)   

Gross profit 113.14     177.03     250.61     322.04     395.34     441.62       465.43     489.54     509.12     

GPM 43% 47% 49% 51% 52% 53% 53% 53% 53%

Selling expenses (13.72)     (18.96)     (25.14)     (30.77)     (40.51)     (44.34)      (46.14)     (48.45)     (50.37)     

Administrative expenses (136.82)   (178.44)   (220.53)   (249.84)   (275.66)   (282.98)    (286.68)   (289.14)   (292.386) 

Other income (expenses) -         -         -         -         -         -          -         -         -         

Operating profit (37.39)      (20.36)      4.95          41.43       79.17       114.29       132.61     151.94     166.36     

OPM (14)% (5)% 1% 7% 10% 14% 15% 17% 17%

NOPAT (37.39)      (20.36)      4.95          41.43       79.17       91.43         106.09     121.55     133.09     

( + ) Depreciation & amortisation 29.31      38.55      43.57      47.78      46.11      35.88       30.67      24.35      17.14      

( + ) Net change in net working capital 9.55       4.34        5.01       4.67       4.10       2.56         1.00       0.62       1.41       

( - ) Capital expenditure (28.27)     (40.49)     (42.96)     (28.94)     (30.92)     (9.18)        (9.55)      (15.02)     (10.41)     

FCFF (26.81)      (17.97)      10.57       64.94       98.47       120.70       128.20     131.50     141.23     

PV of FCFF 308.76    329.37    

Discount Rate 11% 10%

Remark: Historical information is management information, and might differ from audited financial information

Forecasts

Unit: THB Million Low High

Discount Rate 11.0% 10.0%

PV of FCFF 308.76                  329.37                  

Deduct: Interest-bearing debts at 31 Dec 2014

- Long-term borrowing from financial institutions - net (79.49)              (79.49)              

- Long-term borrowing from related parties - net (161.00)             (161.00)             

Equity value at 31 Dec 2014 68.27                    88.88                    

Number of shares outstanding 1,000,000         1,000,000         

Equity value per share at 31 Dec 2014 (THB/share) 68.27                    88.88                    

Sensitivity Analysis

WACC 9% 10% 11% 12%

Equity value (THB million) 111.08 88.88 68.27 49.10
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2.3.4 Reasonableness of price 

The IFA has estimated the fair value of D&D Thailand’s equity based on various valuation approaches including 
book value approach, market comparable approaches such as P/E and P/BV, and discounted cash flows 
approach (“DCF approach”)  
 
Since D&D Thailand has operated at a loss and had a negative equity at 31 December 2014 owing to store 
expansion and spending on marketing in the past years, estimating the fair value based on book value approach 
and market comparable approach using earning per share (P/E approach) and book value per share (P/BV 
approach) are not appropriate for determining fair value of D&D Thailand’s equity.  
 
The IFA is of an opinion that determining fair value of D&D Thailand’s equity based on DCF approach is 
appropriate for such approach properly reflects the expected future economic benefits of D&D Thailand. Based 
on DCF approach, the fair value of D&D Thailand’s equity ranges from THB 68 million – THB 89 million 
(rounded). In addition to shares in D&D Thailand, PACE will also receive the rights to receive repayment from a 
loan in which D&D Thailand owes to Mr. Sorapoj Techakraisri in an amount of THB 161 million, based on 
outstanding loan balances in management’s financial statement for the year ended 31 December 2014. Hence, 
the total value of consideration (related loan and equity) summed to THB 229 million – 250 million (rounded). 
The total value of consideration as at 31 December 2014 are summarized in the following table: 
  

 
Note: *Refer to D&D Thailand’s management financial statement as at 31 December 2014 

 
Hence, the IFA is of an opinion that the total value of consideration of THB 240 million is reasonable since 
such value is within the range of estimated fair value of THB 229 million – 250 million (rounded).   
 
  

Unit: THB Million Low High

Equity value at 31 Dec 2014 68.27               88.88               

Rights to loan repayment on transfer date* 161.00              161.00              

Total value of consideration  at 31 Dec 2014 229.27                  249.88                  
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2.4 Appropriateness of Price of Shares to be Issued as Compensation 

In determining the appropriateness of the share price to be issued as compensation for D&D Thailand shares 
acquisition, the IFA has considered the following approaches for the valuation of PACE’s ordinary shares. 
1) Book Value Approach 
2) Weighted Average Trading Price Approach 
3) Market Comparable Approach 

 P/BV Approach 
 P/E Approach 

4) Sum-of-the-Parts Approach 
 
The analysis of each approach is summarized as follows. 
 
2.4.1 Book Value Approach 

The Book Value approach presents PACE’s financial performance and position at a specific point of time without 
considering its ability to generate profits in the future. The valuation is based on PACE’s audited financial 
statements as at 31 December 2014, which is summarized in the following table: 
 

 
 
From the Book Value Approach as shown in table, PACE’s share value as of 31 December 2014 was THB 1.16 
per share, which is THB 2.55 or 69% lower than the selling price of THB 3.71 per share. 
  

Total share value

(THB million)

Current assets 7,583.19

Goodwill, intangible assets, construction in progress, and other non-current assets 11,653.51

Total assets 19,236.70

Less Liabilities (17,580.84)

Book value - PACE 1,655.87

Add Non-controlling interests 725.04

Book value - PACE (Post-adjustment of non-controlling interests) 2,380.91

Number of share (Million shares) 2,054.27

Net book value (THB/share) 1.16

Source: PACE's audited financial statements as of 31 December 2014

Valuation by Book Value Approach
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2.4.2 Weighted Average Trading Price Approach  

This approach is the valuation of PACE’s share by considering the weighted average share price of PACE, 
which was traded in the Stock Exchange of Thailand (“SET”), for 30, 60, 90 and 180 business days prior to the 
date that PACE’s BOD resolved to propose to the meeting of shareholders to consider and approve the 
acquisition of ordinary shares and the rights to receive a repayment of outstanding shareholder loan of D&D 
Thailand, which was on 13 March 2015. Details are presented as follows. 
 

 
 
From this approach, PACE’s share price ranges THB 3.37 – 3.82 per share, of which, the selling price of THB 
3.71 per share is in the valuation range.  
 

2.4.3 Market Comparable Approach  

The Market Comparable Approach is a valuation technique applying key financial multiples of selected 
comparable companies who are operating in a similar business to PACE and listed on the SET. 
 
The IFA has selected comparable companies who are operating in the property development business and listed 
in the property development sector on the SET as comparable companies of PACE but excluding those 
companies which have incomplete information and outliers.  
 
Price to Book Value Approach (“P/BV Approach”) and Price to Earnings Approach (“P/E Approach”) have been 
selected as a valuation method for Market Comparable Approach. The details are as follows.  
 
2.4.3.1 P/BV Approach 

Price to Book Value Approach derives PACE’s share value by multiplying the book value per share of PACE as 
at 31 December 2014, by the average P/BV ratio of the selected comparable companies in property 
development sector on the SET. P/BV of the comparable companies is calculated from the average share price 
for 30, 60, 90 and 180 business days prior to the date (13 March 2015) that PACE’s BOD resolved to propose to 
the meeting of shareholders to consider and approve the acquisition of ordinary shares and the rights to receive 
a repayment of outstanding shareholder loan of D&D Thailand, divided by book value per share of each 
comparable company as at 31 December 2014. The IFA has excluded outliers P/BV which highly deviated from 
the average P/BV to evaluate PACE’s ordinary share. Details are as follows:  

Average Daily Trading Value

 (THB million)

Average Daily Trading Volume

 (THB million)

Average Price per Share

 (THB)

30 Trading days 29 Jan 15 - 12 Mar 15 131.07 33.67 3.82                          

60 Trading days 15 Dec 14 - 12 Mar 15 97.04 25.58 3.59                          

90 Trading days 30 Oct 14 - 12 Mar 15 84.09 22.44 3.55                          

180 Trading days 19 Jun 14 - 12 Mar 15 87.46 25.40 3.37                          

Source: Bloomberg

Period
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From the calculation in the above table, average P/BV multiple is in the range of 1.64 – 1.67 times. By 
multiplying P/BV multiple with the book value per share of PACE as at 31 December 2014, PACE’s share value 
is in range of THB 3,960 – 3,987 million or THB 1.90 – 1.94 per share, which is 48% - 49% lower than the 
Selling price at THB 3.71 per share. 
 
2.4.3.2 P/E Approach 

Price to Earnings Value Approach derives PACE’s share value by multiplying the earnings per share of PACE as 
at 31 December 2014, by the average P/E ratio of the selected comparable companies in property development 
sector on the SET. P/BV of the comparable companies is calculated from the average share price for 30, 60, 90 
and 180 business days prior to the date (13 March 2015) that PACE’s BOD resolved to propose to the meeting 
of shareholders to consider and approve the acquisition of ordinary shares and the rights to receive a repayment 
of outstanding shareholder loan of D&D Thailand, divided by earnings per share of each comparable company 
as at 31 December 2014. 
 
However, PACE’s share value could not be determined by this approach as the Company had a net loss in 
2014.  
 

30 days 60 days 90 days 180 days

1 Sansiri Public Company Limited 1.08 1.01 1.03 1.05

2 Pruksa Real Estate Public Company Limited 2.42 2.32 2.33 2.41

3 AP (Thailand) Public Company Limited 1.35 1.29 1.30 1.28

4 Quality Houses Public Company Limited 1.95 1.86 1.90 1.93

5 Supalai Public Company Limited 2.26 2.29 2.36 2.36

6 SC Asset Corporation Public Company Limited 1.23 1.17 1.17 1.19

7 Raimon Land Public Company Limited 2.03 2.01 2.05 2.07

8 Lalin Property Public Company Limited 0.80 0.78 0.79 0.80

9 Sena Development Public Company Limited 1.05 0.95 0.92 0.86

10 Land and Houses Public Company Limited 2.44 2.34 2.38 2.47

11 L.P.N. Development Public Company Limited 2.87 3.03 3.17 3.12

12 Property Perfect Public Company Limited 0.81 0.80 0.82 0.83

13 Grand Canal Land Public Company Limited 2.11 2.09 2.11 2.17

14 Major Development Public Company Limited 1.02 0.96 0.95 0.90

Average P/BV 1.67 1.64 1.66 1.67

Source: Bloomberg

No. Comparable Companies Number of Business Days
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2.4.4 Sum-of-the-Parts Approach 

This approach is the valuation of PACE’s share by estimating the value of each project separately by its proper 
valuation methodology and combing them together by PACE’s stake in each project. By using this approach, the 
shareholding structure after the purchase of PRE, PACE-1, PACE-2, and PACE-3 from IBC and IDJ and the 
transfer of loan and accrued interest of PRE, PACE-1, PACE-2, and PACE-3 from IBC, which were approved by 
PACE’s shareholders as at 8 January 2015, is considered in determining PACE’s share value. The shareholding 
structure is shown as follows.  
 

 
The aforementioned transaction is expected to be completed by April 2015.  
 
The details of valuation by using sum-of-the-parts approach are as follows 
 
2.4.4.1 Valuation of PACE (excluding subsidiaries) by Adjusted Book Value Approach  

The valuation of PACE’s shares by using the Adjusted Book Value Approach is based on PACE’s audited 
financial statements as at 31 December 2014 after the adjustment of investments and loans to subsidiaries. The 
value of subsidiaries will be assessed by each company, and loans to subsidiaries will be added back to the 
value of each subsidiary. In addition, the IFA also consider the adjustments of projects which have not yet 
recognized revenue in order to reflect the actual value of ongoing projects development of PACE. As at 31 
December 2014, the 3 ongoing projects of PACE were Ficus Lane Project, MahaSamutr (Villa) Project, and Lang 
Suan Project. 
  

PACE

PFR PCC YLP PRE

D&D Inc. PACE-1

PACE-2

PACE-3

100% 99.97% 99.99%

100%

100%
50%

50%

50%

50%

50%

50%

D&D TH

99.99% 42.56%

Mr. Sorapoj Techakraisri
Other shareholders in 

Techakraisri family
Other shareholders

5.24% 52.20%
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1) Ficus Lane Project 
As at 31 December 2014, there were 2 units which had not yet recognized revenue, of which, 1 unit 
had not yet signed the contract and another one was in process of ownership transfer. The adjustment 
details are presented in the following table. 
 

 
 

2) MahaSamutr (Villa) Project  
As at 31 December 2014, the project was under construction and expected to open for sale in the third 
quarter of 2015. Therefore, there is no adjustment item for MahaSamutr (Villa) Project as the project 
value cannot be reliably forecast. 
 

3) Lang Suan Project 
As at 31 December 2014, the land had already been acquired for the project. The construction is 
expected to start in the first quarter of 2015. Therefore, there is no adjustment item for Lang Suan 
Project as the project value cannot be reliably forecast. 

 
In addition, the IFA also consider adjustment items related to the acquisition of assets from IBC and IDJ which 
affect PACE’s shareholders’ equity. The information is based on the information memorandum regarding asset 
acquisition dated 22 December 2014. The details are as follows. 

1) Additional share capital of PACE’s share totaling 542.72 million shares (at the par of THB 1 per share) 
at THB 3.39. 

2) PACE’s working capital of THB 103.45 million. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

THB million Selling Value Book Value

31-Dec-14

Adjusting Value

Ficus Lane Project 33.57 21.37 12.20

Source: PACE management information
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The valuation of PACE’s share (excluding subsidiaries) by Adjusted Book Value Approach with the details 
presented in the following table: 
 

 
 
2.4.4.2 Valuation of YLP by Adjusted Book Value Approach 

The valuation of YLP’s shares by using the Adjusted Book Value Approach is based on YLP’s audited financial 
statements as at 31 December 2014. In addition, the IFA also considered the adjustments of projects which have 
not yet recognized revenue in order to reflect the actual value of ongoing projects development of YLP. As at 31 
December 2014, there was one ongoing project which was Saladaeng Residences Project. 
 
As at 31 December 2014, there were 5 units which had not yet recognized revenue. The sale and purchase 
agreement for all 5 units had already been signed, and the ownership was expected to be transferred within the 
first quarter of 2015 (2 units) and April 2015 (3 units).The adjustment details are presented in the following table. 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Valuation by Adjusted Book Value Approach Total Share Value

(THB million)

Book value - PACE 3,730.30

Less Investment in subsidiaries (1,077.82)

Less Loan to subsidiaries (5,624.90)

Book value - PACE (Post-adjustment of investment in subsidiaries) (2,972.42)

Other adjustments

Add Ficus Lane Project adjusting item 12.20
Adjusting items related to the purchase of shares and transfer of loan
and accrued interest from IBC and purchase of shares from IDJ (*)

Add Additional share capital and share premium 1,839.83

Less Working capital (103.45)

Adjusted book value - PACE (1,223.85)

Remark: (*) Adjustments related to shareholding structure after the completion of transaction. The information 

is based on the information memorandum regarding asset acquisition dated 22 December 2014

Source: Audited financial statement as at 31 December 2014

THB million Selling Value Book Value

31-Dec-14

Adjusting Value

Saladaeng Residences Project 109.00 85.19 23.81

Source: PACE management information
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The valuation of YLP’s share by Adjusted Book Value Approach with the details presented in the following table: 
 

 
 

2.4.4.3 Valuation of PCC by Book Value Approach 

The valuation of PCC’s shares by using Book Value Approach is based on PCC’s audited financial statements 
as at 31 December 2014. As at 31 December 2014, there was 1 ongoing project, MahaSamutr (Country Club) 
Project, which was under construction and expected for sale in the second quarter of 2015. Therefore, there is 
no adjustment item for MahaSamutr (Country Club) Project as the project value cannot be reliably forecast. The 
valuation by using the book value approach is summarized in the following table: 
 

 
 
2.4.4.4 Valuation of PFR by Adjusted Book Value Approach 

The valuation of PFR’s shares by using the Adjusted Book Value Approach is based on PFR’s audited financial 
statements as at 31 December 2014. Furthermore, the IFA also consider the adjustment of the fair value of D&D 
Inc, which is PFR’s subsidiary, in order to reflect the fair value of PFR’s investment. 
 
In determining the value of D&D Inc, DCF Approach has been selected as a valuation technique, by calculating 
the present value of forecast cash flows from future business operation by using an appropriate discount rate by 
assuming that the business will be operating on a going concern without any material change in management 
and operational policies. 
 
The original projected financial statements and assumptions were prepared by management of D&D Inc. The IFA 
has reviewed the historical performance, business plan, assumptions and projection, together with the 

Valuation by Adjusted Book Value Approach Total Share Value

(THB million)

Book value - YLP 148.94

Add Saladaeng Residences Project adjusting item 23.81

Adjusted book value - YLP 172.76

Source: Audited financial statement as at 31 December 2014

Valuation by Book Value Approach Total Share Value

(THB million)

Current assets 24.78

Work in process and other non-current assets 94.64

Total assets 119.42

Less Liabilities (118.58)

Book value - PCC 0.84

Source: Audited financial statement as at 31 December 2014
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management interviews and adjusted some assumptions in order to obtain the fair value of D&D Inc. 
Nevertheless, the financial projection is prepared on the going concern and under the current economic condition 
basis. With any material changes in economic condition, external factors, and key assumptions, this may affect 
D&D Inc’s business operation and the actual result may be significantly different from the financial projection. 
Thus, the valuation derived by using the DCF Approach may vary significantly and may not be used as 
reference. 
 
The key assumptions of projected cash flow for the period of 2015 to 2021 are summarized as follows. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Assumptions Remark

1) Sales

1.1 Store expansion in the US · 1 Café and 1 Market per year from 2015 - 2021 (1 Café and 1 

Market will be closed in 2016 due to the expiry of rental agreement)

· Based on D&D Inc business plan

1.2 Sales growth (Café and Market) · 2% - 6% per year · Based on historical growth, management forecast, and peers in 

the same industry 

1.3 Sales growth (Direct) · 3% - 6% per year · Based on D&D Inc business plan. D&D Inc plans to expand the 

direct sales business to hotel chain and airlines.

1.4 Store expansion in other countries · Japan: 2 stores per year

· Middle East: 1 store every 2 years

· Thailand: 2 stores from 2558 - 2562

· South Korea and Singapore: 2 stores per year

· Licensee:  1 licensee per year and 1 store per licensee per year 

· Based on D&D Inc business plan and also consider the 

invesment possibility in each country

· License fee: approximately 3.5% - 5.0%

2) Gross margin · US: 54% of total US sales

· Other countries: 80% - 81% of total international sales

· Based on D&D Inc business plan which is in line with historical 

data

3) Selling and administrative expenses · 41% - 48% of total sales · Rental expense: based on historical rental rate and increased by 

inflation rate

· Employee expense: based on historical expense and increased 

by inflation rate

· Operating expense, marketing expense, and other expenses: 

based on historical expense as percentage of sales

4) Working capital · Average collection period: 6 days

· Inventory outstanding period: 47 - 53 days

· Average payment period: 35 days

· Based on D&D Inc business plan which is in line with historical 

data

5) Capital expenditure · THB 2,725 million - THB 3,801 million per year · Based on D&D Inc investment and expansion plan 

6) Terminal growth · 1% · Based on inflation rate together with competition in café and retail 

business

7) Discount rate · 9% - 10% · Using WACC as discount rate, whereas;

· Rf: US 10 years Treasury Bond as of 31 December 2014

· Rm: expected market return from the investment in the US stock 

exchange
Source: Management financial projection, Bloomberg, and Deloitte analysis
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Summary of projected cash flows of D&D Inc is as follows. 
 

 
 
Valuation result of D&D Inc by using the DCF Approach is presented in the following table. 
 

 
 
The adjustment details for PFR investment in D&D Inc are presented in the following table. 
 

 
 
After considering the adjusting item, the valuation of PFR’s share by Adjusted Book Value Approach with the 
details presented in the following table. 
 

 
 

USD million 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

Operating profit after tax 5.89 9.00 12.37 14.73 18.03 21.17 24.69

Add Depreciation expense 2.06 1.38 1.54 1.86 1.80 2.15 2.45

Less Working capital (2.66) (3.18) 0.62 0.82 0.66 0.69 0.74

Less Capital expenditure (2.72) (2.78) (3.06) (3.10) (3.32) (3.56) (3.80)

Free cash flow to firm (FCFF) 2.56 4.42 11.47 14.30 17.17 20.46 24.08

Net present value 212.74

USD million D&D Inc

Business value 212.74

Less Interest bearing debt as at 31 December 2014 (112.95)

Equity value as at 31 December 2014 99.79

BOT exchange rate as at 30 December 2014 (THB/USD) 32.963

Equity value as at 31 December 2014 (THB million) 3,289.27

THB million D&D Inc

Equity value 3,289.27

Less Investment (809.55)

Adjusting value 2,479.72

Valuation by Adjusted Book Value Approach Total Share Value

(THB million)

Book value - PFR 804.05

Add D&D Inc adjusting item 2,479.72

Adjusted book value - PFR 3,283.77

Add Loan and accrued interest from PACE 1,230.49

Equity value held by PACE 4,514.26

Source: Audited financial statement as at 31 December 2014
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2.4.4.5 Valuation of MahaNakhon Project (PACE-1, PACE-2, PACE-3, and PRE) by Sum-of-the-Parts 
Approach 

The value of MahaNakhon Project has been determined by Sum-of-the-Parts Approach which assessed the 
value of PACE-1, PACE-2, and PACE-3 by DCF method and combing them together by PRE and PACE stake in 
each project. By using this approach, the shareholding structure after the purchase of PRE, PACE-1, PACE-2, 
and PACE-3 from IBC and IDJ and the transfer of loan and accrued interest of PRE, PACE-1, PACE-2, and 
PACE-3 from IBC, which were approved by PACE’s shareholders as at 8 January 2015, is considered in 
determining PACE’s share value. 
 
The valuation is made on going concern basis, assuming that there is no material change taking place, and also 
based on current economic and industry conditions and their future trend. In preparation of the financial 
projection for MahaNakhon Project, the IFA referred the information and assumptions from the Valuation Report 
prepared by CB Richard Ellis (Thailand) Co., Ltd. (“CBRE”), an independent appraisal, dated 13 November 2014 
and adjusted some assumptions in order to obtain the fair value of MahaNakhon Project as at 31 December 
2014. 
 
The IFA has reviewed the assumptions, business plan, financial projection, and also interviewed management 
and CBRE. Furthermore, the IFA also considered current economic and industry conditions and their future 
trend. 
 
2.4.4.5.1 Key assumptions used for preparing the financial projection of MahaNakhon Project 

1) PACE-1  
Pace-1 operates a 5-star hotel under the name of Bangkok Edition with 159 rooms (Main Tower, level 1 
– 22). The target customer groups are both business people and tourists, both Thai and foreigner. The 
hotel is expected to open in second quarter of 2016. Key assumptions used in preparation of the 
projection are summarized as follows. 
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Major Assumptions - PACE-1 Remarks

1) Revenue

1.1 Number of rooms · 159 rooms · Based on the Hotel Management Agreement 


1.2 Room Rate & Occupancy · 2016 rate is estimated from ADR in 2014 (7,200 THB/room) and 

adjusted by compound annual growth rate of Thailand's inflation between 

2002-2014 

· Room rates and occupancy rates are based on the comparison of 5-

stars hotels in Bangkok from CBRE's in-house database together with 

published information and considertion of hotel industry competition

1.3 Revenue Structure · Rooms = 40% of total revenue

· F&B = 55% of total revenue

· Other income = 5% of total revenue

· Based on the comparison of 5-stars business hotels in Bangkok from 

CBRE's in-house database and hotel specific characteristics i.e. floor & 

number of rooms, hotel signature restaurants etc

2) Department expenses · Rooms = 12% of rooms revenue

· F&B = 55% of F&B revenue

· Other expenses = 35% of other income

· Based on the comparison of 5-stars hotels in Bangkok from CBRE's in-

house database together with published information

3) Operating expenses · Management fees is based on the Hotel Management Agreement

· Other operating expenses are based on the comparison of 5-stars 

hotels in Bangkok from CBRE's in-house database together with 

published information

4) Other deductions · Reserve for FF&E replacement is based on the Hotel Management 

Agreement

· Other deductions are based on the comparison of 5-stars hotels in 

Bangkok from CBRE's in-house database together with published 

information

5) Discount rate · 9.5% - 10.5% · WACC of property development companies which have similar business 

as MahaNakhon Project, by considering the average WACC from 3 

businesses as follows: 

· Hotel business: 9% - 10%

· Condominium business: 10% - 11%

· Mall business: 9% - 11%

6) Assets · Average collection period: 15 days

· Remaining construction cost as at 31 December 2014: THB 1,750.32 million

· Management information

7) Liabilities · Average payment period: 15 days

· Loan as at 31 December 2014: THB 2,835.49 million

· Management information and audited financial statement as at 31 

December 2014

Source: Valuation report of the Mahanakorn Project by CBRE dated 13 November 2014, management information, and Deloitte analysis

Daily room rate Occupancy

(THB/room) (%)

2016 7,560                  45%

2017 7,938                  50%

2018 8,573                  55%

2019 9,259                  65%

2020 10,000                70%

2021 10,800                70%

2022 11,664                70%

2023 12,597                70%

2024 13,604                70%

Operating Expenses
2016 2017 - 2018

Administrative & general 7.1% 5.2% - 5.6%
Marketing 9.0% 5.9% - 9.0%
Energy cost 5.0% 2.7% - 4.5%
Property operation & maintenance 4.0% 4.0%
Advertising & business promotion 5.0% 5.0%
Management fee 0.4% 0.4%
Royalty fee 2.6% 2.6%

 As % of total revenue

Other Deductions Assumptions
Reserve for FF&E replacement 1.0%-5.0% of total revenue
Incentive royalty fee 10% of gross operating profit
Insurance premium THB 3 million in 2016, then growth 3.0% p.a.
Property tax 12.5% of rooms revenue
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2) PACE-2 
PACE-2 operates a freehold lease residence under the name of “The Ritz Carlton Residences 
Bangkok”. The residence has 207 rooms (Main Tower, level 23 – 73) with the total area of 48,225 sq.m. 
As of 31 December 2014, 129 units (26,187.86 sq.m.) or approximately 54% of total area had signed 
the sale and purchase agreements. The construction is expected to be completed in late 2015. Key 
assumptions used in preparation of the projection are summarized as follows. 

 

 
 

3) PACE-3 
PACE-3 operates a retail shopping center comprising of Retail Hill (Main Tower, level 1 – 5) and Retail 
Cube (Cube Tower), and a Sky Observation Deck (Main Tower, level 74 -77) with a total net lettable 
area of 7,437 sq.m. and observation area of 2,139 sq.m. As of 31 December 2014, the rental contracts 
had been made for approximately 65% of total lettable area for Retail Cube. Retail Hill is expected to 
open for reservation in mid-2015 and the construction of Sky Observation Deck is expected to be 
completed and opened in the second quarter of 2016. Key assumptions used in preparation of the 
projection are summarized as follows. 

 

Major Assumptions - PACE-2 Remarks

1) Selling price · Historical average selling price of sold units  =   THB 272,417 per sq.m.

· Estimated aveage selling price of available units  =  THB 312,000 per sq.m.

· Historical selling price during October 2009 - 31 December 2014

· Estimated average selling price is based on CBRE's in-house reserch, marketing 

database, and experience of CBRE's experts with the consideration of unit type, 

zone, and location

· The average selling prices of the remaining units are higher due to the changes of 

leasehold to be freehold

2) Operating expenses · Based on the comparison of similar projects from CBRE's in-house database 

together with published information

3)  Discount rate · 9.5% - 10.5% · WACC of property development companies which have similar business as 

MahaNakhon Project, by considering the average WACC from 3 businesses as 

follows: 

· Hotel business: 9% - 10%

· Condominium business: 10% - 11%

· Mall business: 9% - 11%

4) Assets · Remaining construction cost as at 31 December 2014: THB 2,906.64 million · Management information

5) Liabilities · Loan as at 31 December 2014: THB 4,409.79 million · Audited financial statement as at 31 December 2014
Source: Valuation report of the Mahanakorn Project by CBRE dated 13 November 2014, management information, and Deloitte analysis

Operating expenses
Sales commission
Marketing
Ritz Carlton Brand Royalty fee

("Residential Marketing License Agreement")
Transfer management
Legal fee
Transferred fee 2.00% of 50% of gross development value
Business tax

Assumption

3.30% of gross development value

2.14% of residential revenue from unit available
3.00% of residential revenue from unit available
5.35% of gross development value 

THB 120 per sq.m. of an area of unsold unit
0.10% of gross development value
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Major Assumptions - PACE-3 Remarks

1) Revenue

1.1 Expected revenue recognition date · Project Cube: January 2015

· Project Hill: January 2016

· Project Sky: July 2016

· Information as provided by the management

1.2 Net lettable area

(Project Cube & Project Hill)

· Project Cube = 5,003 sq.m. 

· Project Hill = 2,434 sq.m.

· Information as provided by the management

1.3 Rental rates 

(Project Cube & Project Hill)

· Based on the comparison of similar projects from CBRE's in-house database 

together with published information

1.3 Occupancy rates

 (Project Cube & Project Hill)

· Industry average refer to CBRE valuation report

· Management interview

1.4 Observation deck 

 (Project Sky)

· 500,000 visitors in 2016 - 1017 (half-year operation in 2016) based on 

information as provided by the management by comparing to other observation 

desk operators, ie. Petronas Tower (500,000 visitors per year with the 

observation area of 1,100 sq.m.) and Marina Bay Sands (1,200,000 visitors per 

year with the observation area of 1,600 sq.m.). As Sky Observation Deck has 

larger observation area of 2,139 sq.m., it is possible to have 500,000 visitors per 

year.

·% increase in no of visitors is based on the compound annual growth rate of 

international passengers at Suvarnabhumi Internationl Airport from 2008 - 2013

· Ticket price is based on information as provided by the management

1.5 Other revenue · Project Cube & Hill = 24% of Project Cube & Hill total revenue (2015 - 2016) and increase 

by 5% per year from 2017 onwards

· Project Sky = 15% of ticket revenue (Obeservation deck)

· Based on information as provided by the management

2) Operating expenses

· Commission fee (Project Cube & Hill):

  - New lease = 1 month

  - Renewal = 0.5 month

· Based on the comparison of similar projects from CBRE's in-house database 

together with published information

3) Non-operating expenses · Based on the comparison of similar projects from CBRE's in-house database 

together with published information

4) Discount rate · 9.5% - 10.5% · WACC of property development companies which have similar business as 

MahaNakhon Project, by considering the average WACC from 3 businesses as 

follows: 

· Hotel business: 9% - 10%

· Condominium business: 10% - 11%

· Mall business: 9% - 11%

5) Assets · Average collection period: 15 days

· Remaining construction cost as at 31 December 2014: THB 164.47 million

· Management information

6) Liabilities · Average payment period: 15 days

· Loan as at 31 December 2014: THB 2,092.71 million

· Management information and audited financial statement as at 31 December 2014

Source: Valuation report of the Mahanakorn Project by CBRE dated 13 November 2014, management information, and Deloitte analysis

Project Cube Project Hill
(THB/sq.m./mth) (THB/sq.m./mth)

2015 1,700                  -
2016 1,785                  1,700                   
2017 1,874                  1,785                   

2018 onwards Increase by 5% p.a. Increase by 5% p.a.

Project Cube Project Hill
2015 99% -
2016 99% 90%
2017 99% 95%

2018 onwards 99% 98%

No of visitors Ticket price
(per year) (THB/ticket)

2016 250,000                 375                      
2017 500,000                 399                      
2018 527,500                 424                      
2019 556,513                 451                      

2020 onwards Increase by 5.5% p.a. Increase by 3.0% p.a.

Operating Expenses
(Project Cube & Hill) 2015 - 2016 2017 onwards

Administration 4.5% Increase 5.0% per year
Marketing & sales promotion 7.0% Increase 5.0% per year
Utility 6.5% Increase 5.0% per year
Repair & maintenance 3.0% Increase 3.0% per year
Security & cleaning 2.0% 2.0% in 2017 and increase 5.0% from 2018 onwards
Other expenses 1.0% 1.0%

 As % of total revenue

Operating Expenses
(Project Sky) 2016 2017 onwards

Administration 3.5% 2.5% - 3.5%
Marketing & sales promotion 10.0% 3.5% - 8.0%
Utility 2.5% 1.7% - 2.4%
Repair & maintenance 1.5% 0.9% - 1.5%
Security & cleaning 0.8% 0.5% - 0.7%
Other expenses 1.0% 1.0%

 As % of total revenue

Project Hill & Cube Project Sky
Reserve for replacement 3.0% 1.5%
Insurance premium - 0.25% in 2016

3.0% from 2017 onwards

 As % of total revenue
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2.4.4.5.2 Summary of projected cash flows of PACE-1, PACE-2, and PACE-3 
 

 
 
2.4.4.5.3 Valuation result of MahaNakhon Project by using the DCF Approach 
 

 
 
From the valuation result of PACE-1, PACE-2, and PACE-3 using DCF Approach, the equity value of PRE can 
be determined based on percentage of ownership in MahaNakhon Project as PRE is a holding company which 
only invested in the Project. The detail of the calculation is as follows. 
 

THB million 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

PACE-1

Operating profit after tax -            (109.66) (59.47) (29.35) 26.20 59.69 69.86 89.71 111.27 134.63

Add Depreciation expense -         199.63 200.78 202.83 205.45 208.50 212.89 217.63 222.74 228.27

Less Working capital -         (3.79) (2.10) (1.11) (1.93) (1.46) (0.83) (0.90) (0.97) (1.05)

Less Capital expenditure (1,078.03) (672.29) -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         

Free cash flow to firm (FCFF) (1,078.03) (586.11) 139.20 172.37 229.72 266.74 281.91 306.44 333.04 361.86

Net present value 1,023.44

PACE-2

Operating profit after tax 8,087.63 1,767.27 -            -            -            -            -            -            -            -            

Add Depreciation expense 63.61 63.61 -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         

Less Working capital (270.85) -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         

Less Capital expenditure (2,203.65) (702.99) -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         

Free cash flow to firm (FCFF) 5,676.73 1,127.89 -            -            -            -            -            -            -            -            

Net present value 6,092.97

PACE-3

Operating profit after tax (13.62) 99.56 188.87 215.31 250.28 274.63 294.61 329.68 360.32 386.10

Add Depreciation expense 102.25 103.01 103.98 105.02 106.15 107.35 108.62 109.99 111.44 112.97

Less Working capital (2.15) (4.61) (4.01) (1.32) (1.83) (1.24) (0.70) (1.85) (1.57) (0.96)

Less Capital expenditure (128.20) (36.27) -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         

Free cash flow to firm (FCFF) (41.71) 161.69 288.83 319.01 354.60 380.74 402.53 437.83 470.18 498.11

Net present value 3,700.69

THB million PACE-1 PACE-2 PACE-3

Business value 1,023.44 6,092.97 3,700.69

Less Interest bearing debt as at 31 December 2014 (2,835.48) (4,409.79) (2,092.71)

Equity value as at 31 December 2014 (1,812.04) 1,683.18 1,607.97
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2.4.4.5.4 Equity value of MahaNakhon Project held by PACE 
From the valuation result of MahaNakhon Project, the calculation of equity value of the Project held by PACE 
using Sum-of-the-Parts is as follows. 
 

 
  

THB million PACE-1 PACE-2 PACE-3 PRE

Equity value (1,812.04) 1,683.18 1,607.97

Investment portion held by PRE 50% 50% 50%

Equity value held by PRE (906.02) 841.59 803.99

Total investment value 739.56

Add Cash and cash equivalent 0.19

Less Loan and accrued interest (444.93)

Equity value - PRE 294.82

THB milion PACE-1 PACE-2 PACE-3 PRE

Equity value (1,812.04) 1,683.18 1,607.97 294.82

Investment portion held by PACE(*) 50% 50% 50% 100%

Investment value (906.02) 841.59 803.99 294.82

Add Loan and accrued interest from PACE 1,640.10 1,566.14 942.99 245.19

Equity value held by PACE 734.08 2,407.73 1,746.98 540.00

Total equity value held by PACE 5,428.78

Remark: (*) Shareholding structure after the completion of  the purchase of shares and transfer of loan and accrued interest 

from IBC and purchase of shares from IDJ which was approved by the shareholder meeting at 8 January 2015
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2.4.4.5.5 Valuation result of PACE’s share by using Sum-of-the-Parts Approach 
 

 
 
PACE’s share price determined by using the Sum-of-the-Parts Approach equals to THB 8,893 million or THB 
3.42 per share which is lower than selling price of THB 3.71 per share (average closing price 7 business day 
prior to the date (13 March 2015) that PACE’s BOD resolved to propose to the meeting of shareholders) by 8%. 
 
2.4.5 Reasonableness of the compensation paid 

The IFA performed a valuation of PACE’s ordinary share by using several valuation techniques which include (1) 
Book Value Approach, (2) Weighted Average Trading Price Approach, (3) Market Comparable Approach by 
using Price-to-Book Value Approach (P/BV Approach) and Price-to-Earnings Approach (P/E Approach), and (4) 
Discounted Cash flow Approach (DCF Approach). Summary of the valuation results of PACE’s ordinary share as 
at 31 December 2014 derived from different valuation approaches can be summarized in the following table.  

 
  

THB million Valuation Approach Equity Value

PACE Adjusted Book Value Approach (1,223.85)

YLP Adjusted Book Value Approach 172.76

PCC Book Value Approach 0.84

PFR Adjusted Book Value Approach 4,514.26

PACE-1 DCF Approach 734.08

PACE-2 DCF Approach 2,407.73

PACE-3 DCF Approach 1,746.98

PRE Sum-of-the-Parts Approach 540.00

PACE's equity value as at 31 December 2014 8,892.80

No, of shares (million shares) (*) 2,596.99

PACE's share price as at 31 December 2014 (THB per share) 3.42               

Remark: (*) No. of shares after completion of purchase of shares and transfer of loan and accrued interest from IBC and purchase of 

shares from IDJ (No. of shares at 31 December 2014 of 2,054.27 million shares and additional shares of 542.72 million shares)
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Summary of valuation of PACE’s ordinary share 
 

 
 

1. The valuation by using the Book Value Approach reflects the financial position of PACE as at the 
reporting date. As at 31 December 2014, the net book value of PACE was THB 1.16 per share. The net 
book value, however, does not reflect the market value of assets and the capability of the company to 
generate future income.  

2. The Weighted Average Trading Price Approach applies the weighted average trading price of PACE’s 
stock in the SET between 30 to 180 days prior to 13 March 2015, the date at which PACE’s BOD 
resolved to propose to the meeting of shareholders to consider and approve the acquisition of ordinary 
shares and the rights to receive a repayment of outstanding shareholder loan of D&D Thailand. Value of 
PACE’s share according to this method is in range of THB 3.37 – 3.82 per share. It is noted that 
PACE’s stock has relatively low trading volume (average trading volume approximately 1.2% of total 
shares outstanding), therefore, the trading price may not well reflected the market value of PACE’s 
share.  

3. The valuation by using the Market Comparable Approach is the comparison of market value as at a 
specific point of time of the comparable companies operating in property development sector. The P/BV 
Approach reflects the market price perceived by investors over the net asset value (on book value 
basis). The P/BV approach may consider as an appropriate method if there is limitation in using other 
valuation techniques. Whereas, the P/E Approach reflects the market price perceived by investors over 
profitability. However, since the property development business recognizes its revenue and profit upon 
the transfer of ownership, its revenue and net profit may be higher or lower depending on the stage of 
project development and the sale and transfer to customers. Therefore, the valuation by using P/E 
Approach at a specific point of time may deviate and does not reflect its fair value.  

  

Selling Price(*) Higher/Lower

(THB million) (THB per share) (THB per share) Selling Price

1. Book Value Approach 2,380.91 1.16 3.71 Lower by 69%

2. Weighted Average Trading Price Approach 6,922.88 - 7,847.29 3.37 - 3.82 3.71 In the valuation range

3. Market Comparable Approach

3.1 Price to Book Value Approach (P/BV) 3,894.35 - 3,987.41 1.90 - 1.94 3.71 Lower by 48% - 49%

3.2 Price to Earnings Approach (P/E) n/a n/a 3.71 n/a

4. Sum-of-the-Parts Approach 8,892.80 3.42 3.71 Lower by 8%

No. of shares used in determining price per share
Approach 1 - 3: 2,054.27 million shares (No. of shares as at 31 December 2014)
Approach 4: 2,596.99 million shares (No. of shares after completion of purchase of shares and transfer of loan and accrued interest from IBC and purchase of shares 

from IDJ which was approved by the shareholder meeting at 8 January 2015)

Valuation Approach
PACE's Valuation by IFA

Remark: (*) Average closing price 7 business days prior to 13 March 2015
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4. Sum-of-the-Parts Approach assesses the value of each project by using its appropriate valuation 
method, and combining the value of each project at PACE’s holding portion. The IFA believes that this 
methodology is the most appropriate approach to value PACE’s share as it can reflect the intrinsic value 
of share. 

 
In valuing PACE’s share which will be the compensation paid in this transaction, the IFA is of an opinion that the 
valuation by using the Sum-of-the-Parts Approach is the most appropriate approach. The fair value derived by 
using the Sum-of-the-Parts Approach is THB 3.42 per share. Therefore, the selling price at THB 3.71 per share 
(average closing price 7 days prior to the date that PACE’s BOD resolved to propose to the meeting of 
shareholders) is appropriate because it is higher than PACE’s fair value.  
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Section 3 Summary of the Independent Financial Advisor Opinion 

Based on our analysis and considerations of several factors as stated in the report, the IFA opinion on the 
connected transaction proposed to this shareholders’ meeting for consideration and approval has been 
summarized below.   
 
1) Rational and reasonableness of the transaction  
 

As PACE foresees an opportunity in investing in the food and beverage business in Thailand as well as has an 
intention to acquire 99.9998% of total shares in D&D Thailand in order to gain absolute control and directly 
manage the business in Thailand, it is necessary for PACE to enter into the transaction with a connected person 
which is Mr. Sorapoj Techakraisri; the major shareholder of D&D Thailand in order to gain the control over D&D 
Thailand. 
 

By entering into this transaction, PACE will have a clear group structure as well as be able to reduce the 
connected business transactions and mitigate potential conflict of interest that may arise in the future from 
having Mr. Sorapoj Techakraisri as a director and a major shareholder in both D&D Thailand and PACE. In 
addition, PACE will have an opportunity to capture full revenue growth potential as being an operator of 
Thailand’s Dean & Deluca business which will provide more benefit to the Company than receiving only royalty 
fee as franchisor to D&D Thailand. 

 

However, issuance of additional ordinary shares by PACE as consideration for the transaction will cause the 
control dilution of existing shareholders by 2.43% as well as initially reduce PACE’s earning per share. However, 
the Company expects that, with the future business expansion and direct control in D&D Thailand, PACE will be 
able to create the higher operating revenue and return to the shareholders in the long run.   

 
2) Reasonableness of the price and conditions of the transaction  

 

The purchase price is reasonable. Based on the valuation by using the DCF Approach, total fair value of the 
acquired assets which include the 999,998 ordinary shares of D&D Thailand and the rights to receive a 
repayment of outstanding shareholder loan to D&D Thailand of THB 161 million (refer to management's financial 
statements of D&D Thailand as at 31 December 2014, D&D Thailand had outstanding loan from Mr. Sorapoj 
Techakraisri totaling of THB 161 million with no interest charged) is in range of THB 229 – 250 million. 
Therefore, the IFA is of an opinion that the purchase price of THB 240 million, which is in rage of the fair value 
stated above, is reasonable.  
 
To enter into the transaction, PACE must obtain the shareholder’s approval of not less than three-fourths of the 
total number of votes of the shareholders who attend the meeting and are eligible to vote (excluding the votes of 
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the connected shareholders). In addition, PACE must obtain the consent from D&D Inc as a licensor granting the 
rights to D&D Thailand to operate café, beverage, and premium retailer under “Dean & Deluca” brand exclusively 
in Thailand.  
 

3) Reasonableness of the price of shares to be issued as compensation 
 

The selling price of PACE’s share which will be the compensation paid in this transaction at THB 3.71 per share 
(average closing price 7 consecutive business days prior to the date that PACE’s BOD resolved to propose the 
resolution to the meeting of shareholders) is appropriate because it is higher than the fair value as of 31 
December 2014 at THB 3.42 per share derived by using the Sum-of-the-Parts Approach. 
 

4) Summary of IFA opinion on the transaction 
 

From the above considerations, the IFA is of an opinion that the connected transaction concerning the 
acquisition of ordinary shares and the assignment of the rights to receive a repayment of the outstanding 
shareholder loan of D&D Thailand from Mr. Sorapoj Techakraisri is reasonable and the purchase price is 
appropriate.  The transaction is expected to provide benefits to the shareholders of PACE and outweigh 
disadvantages.  Therefore, the shareholders should approve this connected transaction.   
 

The IFA verifies that we have considered and cautiously provided our opinions in accordance with our 
professional standards by taking into consideration of the shareholders’ benefits.   
 

However, in considering the approval or disapproval of the transaction, the shareholders should also study the 
information and opinions as provided in this report together with other information and documents attached to the 
invitation letter for the shareholders meeting before making a decision.  The decision to approve or disapprove 
the transactions is the discretion of the shareholder.    
 
 

Independent Financial Advisor 
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Jaiyos Advisory Co., Ltd. 

 
 

Signature  ______________________________  Signature  ______________________________ 
 (Anthony Visate Loh)   (Thavee Thaveesangsakulthai) 
 Authorized Director   Authorized Director 
      

    

Signature  ______________________________  
 (Usanee Lekvanichkul)  
 Supervisor  

 

    

 



[ Translation ] 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 
Appendix 

 



 
 
 

  

Appendix 1 
Information and documents 
 
In preparing this report, IFA have analyzed the financial data obtained from PACE, D&D Thailand and the subsidiaries of PACE, as 
well as, management information from these companies. The material information and documents are as follows:   
 

 Audited financial statements for 2012 – 2014 of PACE, YLP, PRE, PACE-1, PACE-2 and PACE-3  
 Audited financial statements for the year ended 3 February 2013, 2 February 2014 and for 11-month period ended 28 

December 2014 of D&D Inc 
 Audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2012 – 2013 and management financial statements for the 

year ended 31 December 2014 of D&D Thailand 
 Audited financial statements for the 3-month period ended 31 December 2014 of PFR and PCC 
 PACE company information form 56-1 as of 31 December 2013 
 Copy of list of shareholders’ names (Bor Aor Jor 5) of PRE, PACE-1, PACE-2 and PACE-3 as at 30 April 2014 
 Copy of company affidavit of PRE, PACE-1, PACE-2 and PACE-3 as at 17 September 2014 
 Copy of list of shareholders’ names (Bor Aor Jor 5) of YLP as at 27 April 2012 
 Copy of company affidavit of YLP as at 29 August 2014 
 Copy of list of shareholders’ names (Bor Aor Jor 5) and copy of company affidavit of PFR as at 31 August 2014 
 Copy of list of shareholders’ names (Bor Aor Jor 5) of PCC as at 18 June 2014 
 Copy of company affidavit of PCC as at 30 September 2014 
 Secretary's Certificate D&D Inc as at 5 December 2014  
 Shares’ Certificate D&D Inc as at 4 December 2014  
 Copy of list of shareholders’ names (Bor Aor Jor 5) of D&D Thailand as at 15 September 2014  
 Copy of company affidavit of D&D Thailand as at 25 November 2014 
 D&D Thailand’s financial projection for the year 2015 – 2023 and key assumptions prepared by management 
 D&D Inc’s financial projection for the year 2015 – 2021 and key assumptions prepared by management 
 Resolutions of board of directors’ meeting No. 3/2558 and the schedule of extraordinary general meeting of shareholders  
 Information memorandum regarding the connected transaction of Pace Development Corporation Public Co., Ltd. for the 

share acquisition and the assignment of the rights to receive repayment of outstanding shareholder loan of D&D Thailand 
from Mr. Sorapoj Techakraisri dated 13 March 2015. 

 Distribution and License Agreement including the Amendments to the Distribution and License Agreement 
 Draft sales and purchase of shares including the assignment of the rights to receive repayment of outstanding 

shareholder loan agreement  
 MahaNakhon Project’s appraisal report prepared by CB Richard Ellis (Thailand) Co.., Ltd. dated 13 November 2014 and 

the interview with the officers who prepared the appraisal report.  
 Statistic information, economic and industrial researches  
 Interview with management and related employee of PACE 
 Interview with management of D&D Thailand 

 
 


